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Chairman's Statement =F#H %

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Yardway Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”), it gives me pleasure to present to the shareholders
the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2008.

The Group’s turnover amounted to HK$298,865,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2008, representing an increase
of 39.4% as compared to the previous year. The profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to HK$7,104,000 (2007: loss of HK$2,735,000).
The Board does not recommend any payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007: nil).

It is encouraging to note that the Group successfully
returned to profitability during the year, mainly due to strong
sales and some sizeable projects completed during the year
under review. Riding on the Group’s strong sales network
in China and experience in supplying transport related
equipment, the Group recorded a surge in turnover. Further
details of the Group’s past performance are explained under
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section.

The economy in 2008 has created a very challenging
business environment for the Group. We continued to
face keen competition from some of our competitors. The
Group’s turnover was mainly generated from successful
bids of competitive bidding. In response to this non-
recurring turnover, the Group will remain cautions in seeking
out different investment opportunities and will diversify into
business segments which will bring higher returns to our
shareholders.

Lastly, I would like to thank all of our suppliers, customers,
business partners and shareholders who have supported us
this year. | also would like to thank all our staff members for
their dedicated services to the Group.

On behalf of the Board.

Li Song Xiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 July 2008
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 &l & 2

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group posted
a record high turnover of about HK$298,865,000,
representing an increase of about 39.4% compared
to that of 2007. The Group turned loss to profit with
its profit attributable to equity shareholders was about
HK$7,104,000 (2007: loss of HK$2,735,000). Gross profit
margin was approximately 16.8% as compared to 18.1%
in last year, while excluding the commission effect in the
turnover, the gross profit margin increased from 12.9% in
2007 to 14.6% in 2008.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, our business has been growing
continuously in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
although we faced intense competition. Majority of our
revenue was generated from PRC and it was believed to be
continued in the future. For the year under review, the Group
had completed a few sizeable projects in supplying the
railway maintenance equipment to the end users, such as
Beijing Metro and China Railway Construction Corporation.
The growth driver of the turnover was mainly attributable to
the strong demand for railway maintenance equipment.

For the year ended 31 March 2008, distribution costs
of the Group recorded an amount of approximately
HK$20,598,000 (2007: HK$20,804,000). The distribution
costs was fairly stable as compared with last year.
Administrative expenses of the Group for the year amounted
to approximately HK$36,763,000 (2007: HK$24,753,000),
representing an increase of approximately 48.5% as
compared with last year. These expenses included
additional expenditure related to the legal and professional
fees and printing expenses for the general offer in October
2007. The increased staff costs and rent during the year also
led to the increase of the administration expenses.

RE

BE-TT/\FZAS+BLFE  FEESEELER
#T=49298,865,0008 T - MZZFZTHF EF439.4% o
AEERNBE AR - RIS ABERFI%57,104,000
BT BIE273500087) - EFIEH A
16.8% ziﬁlliéﬂs 1% MBEELHEEE PER -
EFEE - TTEEZ129% LA E T E/\F214.6% -

KB

FR - BEERHBRRGES  ASERBPEARKME ([
B 2 EBNATEIE R - REBAE Y WmKEFE -
BEE-—BBEAREERHE DBEFAN  AEEETKS
THAZYIA B e R & BB R AR R F R IR A
FHEHEEERE SXERIERPNTERE B EHRK

MmERBzRYTK -

i_ggﬂﬁzﬂ:+f5¢¢ﬁ'$%l2“%&$
#9420,598,000 % T (ZZTZT L4 : 20,804,000/47T) °
SHAKARER F SFARLL AR EIARTE © inK%@Zﬁﬁ%ﬁm
436,763,000 70 (ZFZ 4 : 24,753,000/87T) * K&
FINMA48.5% - ZEEARFEEHE_STLFTA2E
WhsER 2 22 E BRI RORIKAEEINGS o 1t
N BEWBAREAL—EBEINEREE - FR BIK
ARME DRIGEITIHE RGN o

7
=
=
o
o
3
I
ol
L
S
o
®
B
Hh




o
&
a
=
o
3
()
<
I}
c
©
[
=4
@©
a
L]
>
]
E}
c
o
Y
©
©
I}
=
3
N
(=1
=1
o

Management Discussion and Analysis 2 &I & 75

Following the change of controlling shareholder in October
2007, the Group has undertaken a review of the business
operation. In October 2007, the Group had separated with
our joint venture partner due to our different development
directions. The disposal of the jointly controlled entities
resulted a gain of HK$4,658,000. In November 2007 and
January 2008, the Group disposed of its loss subsidiaries
so that the Group can concentrate its resources on the
development of the core business. The disposal resulted
in gain of HK$295,000. During the year under review, the
Group also disposed one of the investment properties in
Hong Kong. Although the gain on disposal is insignificant,
this transaction had enhanced the Group’s cash position.
The Group also benefited from the appreciation of Renminbi.
The change in fair value of properties of approximately
HK$1,160,000 was reflected in the profit and loss account.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the management believes that the
major challenge to the Group is inflation in the PRC which
increases the operating cost and other expenditure of PRC
operations.

The continuous growth of the PRC economy boosted
the demand for the infrastructure equipment. The Group
will continue to seek the new business opportunities with
prudence. The management believes that with the sustained
growth of the PRC market, there would be increasing
demand of infrastructure equipment; however such increase
may come slower than anticipated as the slow down of the
infrastructure development in Beijing during the Olympic
Games period.

APPRECIATION

The Directors and Management would like to take this
opportunity to express their sincere gratitude to all the staff
members for their commitment and contribution to the
Group for the past year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 &l & 2

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had 132 employees
(2007: 130 employees). The remuneration policy and
packages are reviewed annually by the management and
the Remuneration Committee. The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, work experience
and the prevailing market price. The remuneration packages
include basic salary, double pay, commission, insurance
and mandatory provident fund. The Group operates a share
options scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible directors and employees of the group to
recognise their contribution to the success of the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Liquidity

The Group continued to maintain a solid financial position.
As at 31 March 2008, cash and bank balances including
pledged fixed deposits of the Group were HK$71,079,000
(2007: HK$55,467,000). The cash and bank balances
consisted of about 71% in Hong Kong dollars, 14% in US
dollars, 11% in Renminbi, 2% in Euro, and 2% in other
currencies.

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had total assets of
HK$284,187,000 (2007: HK$224,961,000) and total
liabilities of HK$162,499,000 (2007:HK$118,370,000).
As at 31 March 2008, the current ratio was 1.47
(2007:1.47), calculated on the basis of current assets of
HK$228,452,000 (2007:HK$162,333,000) over current
liabilities of HK$155,860,000 (2007:HK$110,663,000).

The Group’s bank borrowings amounted to HK$18,293,000
(2007: HK$23,977,000). The Group's borrowings,
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars
and Euro, mainly comprise trust receipt loans, invoice
financing loans and mortgage loans bearing floating interest
rates. The Group’s gearing ratio, being the ratio of the total
borrowings to total assets, was 7% (2007: 11%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis B2 Ertw Kk 2

Foreign exchange exposure and hedging

The Group’s majority sales transactions are denominated
in United States dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars
while the purchases transactions are mainly denominated in
Euro. As such, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk. The Group made use of forward contracts to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure in order to reduce net exposure
to currency fluctuations.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 March 2008, certain of the Group’s land and
buildings and investment properties with an aggregate
carrying value amounting to HK$17,000,000 (2007:
HK$30,600,000) and bank deposits of HK$8,348,000
(2007: HK$10,309,000) were pledged with the banks to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Included in
pledged bank deposits are denominated in Renminbi Yuan
1,626,000 (2007: RMB3,944,000) which are pledged by the
Group’s wholly owned subsidiary in Zhuhai, the PRC.
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Biographical Details of Directors E=fHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Song Xiao, aged 42, is the Chairman of the Board
and an Executive Director of the Company. He has extensive
experience in property management and development in
the PRC. He is currently the vice-chairman of the Housing
Industry Association of All China Federation of Industry
Commerce and the assistant head of the Consolidate
Development Committee of the Research Committee of
Real Estate and Accommodation in the PRC. He is also the
chairman and controlling shareholder of Neo-China Land
Group (Holdings) Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yuan Kun, aged 34, is an Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Yuan has over 10 years of experience in
the fields of finance and investment. He has worked for the
investment banking division of Hai Tong Securities Limited
in the PRC. He holds an accounting degree from Macquarie
University. He is currently an executive director of Neo-China
Land Group (Holdings) Limited, the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lu Zhao Qun, aged 48, is an Executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Lu is currently the general manager of
Yardway Logistics Equipment (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. He has over 10 years
of experience in the management of PRC enterprises and a
listed company. Mr. Lu holds a bachelor degree of arts from
Qinghai Normal University and a master degree in senior
executive business administration from Peking University.
Mr. Lu is an executive director of Neo-China Land Group
(Holdings) Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors E= &

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Ms. Song Xuan, aged 44, is an Executive Director of the
Company. She has extensive experience in accounting and
finance. She holds a bachelor degree in economics from
Beijing Union University. She was an executive director of
Neo-China Land Group (Holdings) Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from 31 March
2005 to 15 June 2006.

Mr. Xu Xiao Yang, aged 41, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He has over 10 years of experience in foreign
trading, logistics, energy, education and real property
businesses. Before joining the Company, he has worked as
an executive director of Australian International Investment
Group and Australia Queensland Education Investment
Group. Mr. Xu graduated from Beijing Foreign Language
Institute and was major in English.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yin Jie, aged 40, is a Non-Executive Director of the
Company. He has over 14 years of experience in the field
of finance and accounting. He holds a bachelor degree
in Management Engineering from Beijing Institute of
Technology, the PRC and a master degree in Economic
from the Central University of Finance and Economics, the
PRC. He is a certified public accountant registered in the
PRC, Chinese certified public valuer and Chinese certified
public tax consultant. He is currently the general manager of
Finance Department of China National Aviation Corporation
(Group) Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors E=fHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Qing Lin, aged 65, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. He has extensive experience in
property construction. He has been the deputy director,
director-general and secretary of both the National
Planning Committee and the Administrative Bureau for
Construction of the National Ministry of Construction, and
the deputy general manager of China State Construction
Engineering Group. He is currently a committee member
of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, he is also a part-time professor
of the International Project Management Research Institute
of Tsinghua University, the president of the Engineering
Project Management Committee of Construction Industry
Association of China and a fellow member of the Royal
Institute of British Architects. He is an independent non-
executive director of Neo-China Land Group (Holdings)
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Zhang is also an independent non-executive
director of China Railway Group Limited, the A shares and H
shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
and the Stock Exchange respectively.

Mr. Gao Ling, aged 58, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. He is also the chairman of
the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee. He does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of
the Group. He has extensive experience in accounting. He
received a master degree in politics and laws from Capital
Normal University, the PRC. Mr. Gao is a certified public
accountant, certified economist and certified asset valuer in
the PRC. Mr. Gao is an independent non-executive director
of Neo-China Land Group (Holdings) Limited,
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Biographical Details of Directors E=f&E

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Cui Yong, aged 33, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee. He does not hold any other
position with the Company or other members of the Group
Mr. Cui holds a master degree in economics and a doctoral
degree in economics from the Renmin University of China.
He was an executive president of an investment advisory
company in the PRC. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Zhongshan Vantage Gas Appliance
Stock Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

BYFHITES ()

EBEXLE 3B ARRBUIFNTES - RIA/ERE
SELFMEZESTRURERZREEXE - REREET
ARBEAREEEMKE R BEMEMETY - EXERA
THEARKEGHEBLTBMN  LEELEMRLBEE LS
- HERTEREBERATZHTAE - KRE AT
EFMARODERAR (—RRFIBARRZA LT Z R
7)) ZFIFFITES -
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The directors submit herewith their annual report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2008.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Yardway Group Limited (“the company”) is a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has its principal
place of business at Unit 1605A, Office Tower, Convention
Plaza, No. 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the company is investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of
the subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the financial
statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the company and its
subsidiaries (“the group”) during the financial year are set out
in note 15 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the group’s sales and

purchases attributable to the major customers and suppliers
respectively during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BARF

Five largest customers in aggregate A REP A
The largest supplier A ERE

Five largest suppliers in aggregate R P A2 AN

At no time during the year have the directors, their
associates or any shareholder of the company (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
company’s share capital) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.

EEeo ANREHE_TT)/\F=-_A=Z+—HLFEZF
BMEEZITERE

FTREXMBH
RNEBERAR ([ ARF ) Bn—HERSHFSEMAL
ZAE - HXBEEMHLBTEEFEZE1RERES
A RIE1605AE ©

ARBZEBEBR/RELER - SMBRRZEBEBR
HAF BTN S RARMTE19 o

ARBREMBAR ([AKE]) RAMBRFRE 2T EED)
R &R A MTE TN SRR 15 ©

IREFRHER

AEBRAVBREREZ T BEEP RMER D BN EEH
EREBEIERDT

Percentage of
the group’s total

HEAEEEEEDL
Sales Purchases
HE 23
1%
47%
13%
43%

ARBZESE  REZBMBEALTIEMERBEFRARF
BARRBIEAE% A LE) ERAERITARREELE
T ERP MR 2T -
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Report of the Directors EEg#H %

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the group for the year ended 31 March 2008
and the state of the company’s and the group’s affairs as at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 51
to 1568.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

Profit attributable to shareholders, before dividends, of
HK$6,790,000 (2007: loss of HK$2,603,000) have been
transferred to reserves. Other movements in reserves are set
out in note 32 to the financial statements.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in Property, Plant and Equipment
of the group during the year are set out in note 17 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the company
during the year are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements. Shares were issued during the year on exercise
of share options.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
company’s listed securities by the company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year.

B R R
FEEEZE-_ZTN\FZA=ZT-HLEFEZHMNREAR

AIEARERERN %A Z M BORA BN E 51 AEFH 163 A 2R
BHwERA -

RF0BR BB B 2 BUR FE 165 706,790,000 8 T (— T T+
% ¢ E182,603,00087T) EEEERE - RtEEHEESE
SRR BA TS R ML 32

EETRSMEE _ET N \E=ZA=+—BILEERERX
BB (T F T -

W BMERRE

REBRFARAZYE BEEIELESABINTHERE
BEE17 ©

MR

FERITEBREMEITRND

ARTHREAMBATRERLEEE - L& R
AARTZ FiEH -
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DIRECTORS

The directors during the financial year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Li Song Xiao (Chairman) (appointed on 21 Sept 2007)
Yuan Kun (appointed on 21 Sept 2007)
Song Xuan (appointed on 21 Sept 2007)
Lu Zhao Qun (appointed on 21 Sept 2007)
Fong Kit Wah, Alan (resigned on 11 Oct 2007)
Rourke James Grierson (resigned on 11 Oct 2007)
Cheung Miu Sin (resigned on 11 Oct 2007)

Non-executive director
Yin Jie
Independent non-executive directors

Gao Ling (appointed on 21 Sept 2007)
Cui Yong (appointed on 21 Sept 2007)
Zhang Qing Lin (appointed on 11 Oct 2007)
Wong Man Chung, Francis (resigned on 11 Oct 2007)
Chan Ting Kwong (resigned on 11 Oct 2007)

(

Fung Siu Wan, Stella resigned on 11 Oct 2007)

The following executive director was appointed after
the end of the financial year

Xu Xiao Yang (appointed on 21 July 2008)

Mr. Li Song Xiao, Mr. Yuan Kun, Mr. Lu Zhao Qun, Ms. Song
Xuan and Mr. Xu Xiao Yang will retire from the offices as
Executive Directors and Mr. Zhang Qing Lin, Mr. Gao Ling
and Mr. Cui Yong will retire from the offices as Independent
Non-Executive Directors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting in accordance with article 112 of the company’s
articles of association. Mr. Yin Jie will retire from the office
as Non-Executive Director at the forthcoming annual general
meeting in accordance with article 108(A) of the Company’s
articles of association. All retiring Directors, being eligible, wil
offer themselves for re-election.

BE

RAMBRFEAREARETEBR[ILLNESNT

HITES

BOAR (£7%) (RZZEE+FNA-+—BEEE)
TE (R—EZFHF-+—BEZE)
RE (R—ZT+FNA-+—BHEZMT)
ERRE (RZZT+FNA-+—BEZMT)
g (RZZEZ+F+A+—HFT)
Rourke James Grierson (R=ZZ+F+A+—HET)
SR (R—Z=+F+A+—HFT)
FYITES

BN

BYEHITES

i (R—ZZ+FNA-+—BHEZRMT)
BB (RZZET+FNA-+—BEZMT)
REM (RZZEZ+F+A+—RHEZT)
BEXR (R—ZZ+F+A+—HFT)
PREE (R—ZZ=+F+A+—HFT)
HLE (R=ZZT+F+A+—HHET)

UTHTESREAVBFEEER 2 REERE

(U (RZZBZNFLAZT—HEZE)

RBARRAZERMAE 11205 - BIAREE - TEL
£ EREEE REXE RGNS REEREREBREF
REBREATESTRY  MEBSMELE  BREERE
BRAMREBLIFMTESRRTY - REARFARETR
ABRIZE108(A) i - BUNST AN EERFEF KNS KREE
WITESR - MARTESETRENR  REREE -
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Report of the Directors EEg#H %

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

The directors of the company who held office at 31
March 2008 had the following interests in the shares
of the company, its holding company, subsidiaries and
other associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) at that date as
recorded in the register of directors’ and chief executives’
interests required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO:

Interests in issued shares of the company

EECREBEEHN

AEEWEAEERRBFAG LRBETZERITLAN
AR —FRRMNRECEERERIN FAKIEZRBEEH

EERKROREER G 2 S

RIZZENF=ZA=+—BHEREZS LRAE %G 352
GHRE - AREERSRITRABZ RS FESLMZA
HAEEZARBDESENARR - EERAR - HEA R
REMBEEE(EE B RBEEN([E5RBE K
f511)) Z B tneh B A T

RAEQTCBITRG 2 ER

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each % of total

SREEIBTZEBR issued

Total shares

Personal Family Corporate Other  number of BT

Name of director interests interests interests interests  shares held v
EEnR B R Rk R AR R HitigEsw FiEROEH Aot
Li Song Xiao - - 144,156,000 - 144,156,000 50.01

B



Report of the Directors E=EE€#H 5

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Note:

These shares are registered in the name of and beneficially owned by
Happy City Holdings Limited (“Happy City”), a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), and whose entire issued share capital is
wholly-owned by Li Song Xiao.

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 March 2008, none of the
directors of the company or any of their spouses or children
under eighteen years of age has interests in the shares and
underlying shares of the company, or any of its holding
company, subsidiaries or other associated corporations, as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the company
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The company has a share option scheme which was
adopted on 28 March 2002, whereby the directors of
the company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite
employees of the group, including directors of any company
in the group, to take up options at a nominal consideration
to subscribe for shares of the company. The purpose of the
scheme is to provide an opportunity for employees of the
group to acquire an equity participation in the company and
to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of
the company and its shares for the benefit of the company
and its shareholders as a whole. The share option scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years ending
on 27 March 2012, after which no further options will be
granted.

RAERXTERITRO RAABRG 2 s (&

Hrat -

ZER 17 Happy City Holdings Limited ([Happy City ) 2 % 5 201
BHEEREE  ZARERBELHS ([REEZHE ) dMK T
R2HEETRE ALK EERE -

BrrtESN RZTZNF=A=+—H  RRREES
KB IGRDIE 52 RREFMTFE < BRMAR - AR
AREBEETARESETESFR S ZBETRIPIANZE - &
REEEHEFTMEBLIAR T N\F2 FLRBERAL
A~ BEAER AR - HE AR sk REEE 2 R R
FERARAD R S s

BRESE

RRFRR-ZBZE-F=R -+ /\BRHA—IBBREE
B - ARREFEEERNBESAREZRE (BFEAE
EEAARCER) EEBAREERZBEENRBEALQT]
Befn - TR B MR RHEBELEAREREB AL QR
o AREBRERRNRALERRER 2 E » UAR
AINERDZIBESBIRME N TIE - BRAER S 2L
REMERE T —F=A_+tAIl RBE+F H
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The exercise price of options is the highest of the nominal
value of the shares, the closing price of the shares on
the SEHK on the date of grant and the average closing
price of the shares on the SEHK for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant, 13 November
2006. The options vest in four equal instalments with the
first installment vesting from the date of grant. The second,
third and fourth instalments vest from one, two and three
years after the date of grant respectively. The options are
exercisable after the vesting date but within a period of five
years from the date of grant. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the company.

The total number of securities available for issue under the
share option scheme as at 31 March 2008 was 6,400,000
shares which represents 2.22% of the issued share capital
of the company at 31 March 2008. The number of securities
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each participant in any 12-month period is limited
to 1% of the company’s ordinary shares in issue.

Offer of an option shall have been accepted when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option duly
signed by the grantee together with a remittance of HK$1 is
received within such time as may be specified in the offer,
which shall not be later than 7 days from the date of offer.
The share option scheme will expire on 27 March 2012.

On 20 September 2007, share offer was made to all the
holders of the shares, 10,424,000 shares under the share
offer were accepted by the offeror parties. Taking into
account the 10,424,000 shares accepted under the share
offer and the 133,732,000 shares already held by the offeror
parties, the offer parties in aggregate held 144,156,000
shares, represent 51.1% of the issued share capital of the
company. Accordingly, the condition of the offers has been
fulfilled and the offers have become unconditional. The share
offer was closed on 25 October 2007.

BRESTE (|

BREZTEBEAUTZREE  ROEE  RREAH
BOEBR Az W ELREERLGAM( 2T F+—A
T=H) AR EE %A BROER I FHRME - BikiE
SUMFHREE ME-HERLAPEREE - F- =
EREMA R ELERE—F  —FR=ZFERE - B
RN B B BRTR - EEREL B ERFHEAT
% - SHBREE TRHAARNRBARR] KL AR -

REBEEFEN —_ZTN\FZA=+—RATEITNZE
7 #20736,400,000B 810 - HERARFANR-FTENF=
A=+—REB#HITREZ 2.22% - KRER+{E A HAMERE
BY&2EEZBREETEMCETRETHEITZES
A LRARRADETEERZ1% °

EARRNRNRLIERAZZERAN (PERR L B #5778
M) EERAZALEARBRZNZBEE KRR &R
SN FARRAZ BT - B2 BERERRSE &R
o B ESR _E——F=A-+tREm -

RZBE+FNA=-1+H  mfiERGEEARIERE
oo BIEE 210,424,000 BN EB L FTER - L5t K
BIEEREREM 10,424,000 D RELHFTEHEAE
2 133,732,000 8%l 10+ 2475 A& 55 144,156,000 f&
B AEARF B BEITRAS11% - Bt BHZIEEER
BER  BYHERAEGRMYT EREZN_ZEZLF 1A
“tFRHEZEK -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) BT E (&)

According to the share option scheme adopted on 28 March BRERZEE-_F=A=-+/\BEMNZERETE - AR
2002, as the share offer made on 20 September 2007 to all RZEZELFNAtTHBEMBERGFEE ARENER
the holders of the shares became unconditional, the option EEKAERNG  NETHEER ZBERE N EMIER
holders were, notwithstanding any other terms on which his BREEEANAIREZEZEY K (ZEZ+F A
options were granted, be entitled to exercise the option (to ZTRHE)BEREETEEBIE (ARRITEEAER) °
the extent not already exercised) to its full extent at any time

thereafter and up to the close of the offer, on 25 October

2007.

At 31 March 2008, the directors and employees of the RZZEZNF=ZA=1+—H0 ARAEZFKEENRER
company had the following interests in options to subscribe NRIERIERT ST RIE AR RIRG (BRERON_ZZNE
for shares of the company (market value per share at 31 =A=+—HzmEEAEOC. 58%71:)2%&*%4#‘?&%%?2%
March 2008 was HK$0.58) granted at nominal consideration % o BEARBETIE LT o BB TR RE —IRAR
under the share option scheme of the company. The options HREECA BT ERBE o

are unlisted. Each option gives the right to subscribe for one

ordinary share of HK$0.1 each of the company.

N
-

Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2008 BE-ZZEN\F=A=1+—HILFEZBREE
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No. of
options No. of No. of No. of Market
outstanding options options options Period value
Name or at the granted exercised Forfeited outstanding during which Exercise per share
category of beginning during during during atthe Date options are price at date
participant of the year the year the year the year year end granted exercisable per share of grant
£ REX RiAE
% AL 0t b ERfTEL RMTERZ ERE =1 281
H2ER ERERA ERERA v FREH BREHE RiEAH R ke Rt
Directors
g2
Fong Kit Wah, Alan 650,000 - - (650,000) - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-06 to HK$0.21 HKS0.21
i == EERE 12-Nov-2011 021%71 02151
(resigned on 11/10/2007) +-A1zA 355k
(RZBRLETAT-EEE) t-A+=R%
2k
A=A
650,000 - - (650,000) - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-07 to HKS0.21 HKS0.21
K 12-Nov-2011 021%1 021 &1
T-A+=A ERtE
t-AT=R%
Ek
t-A+zH
650,000 - - (650,000) - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-08 o HK$0.21 HKS0.21
EERE 12-Nov-2011 021%71 02151
T-At=A “ZENE
+-A+=R%
2%
t-AtZA
650,000 - - (650,000) - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-09to HKS0.21 HKS0.21
K 12-Nov-2011 021%1 021 &1
T-A+=H ZEERNE
t-AT+=R%
Ek
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2008

(Continued)
No. of
options
outstanding
Name or atthe
category of beginning
participant of the year
£
sa% Rz
HEGER EREHE
Directors (Continued)
E2(H)
Rourke James 150,000
Grierson
(resigned on 11/10/2007)
(RZZELETAT-RED)
250,000
250,000
250,000

No. of No. of
options options
granted exercised

during during
the year the year

Fhfz ERfTEz
BREEE BREEE
- (150,000)
- 260,000)
- (260,000)
- (260,000

Forfeited
during
the year

FREX

B RERT 8 (&)

BE-_EE/\FZA=-t-HLFEZBRETE (&)

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe Date
year end granted
REXR
Rz
EREHE RLAH

- 13-Nov-06
“EERE

I

- 13-Nov-06
ZE5E

e

- 13-Nov-06
“EERE

I

- 13-Nov-06
ZITRE

t-At=8

Period
during which
options are
exercisable

BhE
i8R

13-Nov-06 to
12-Nov-2011
“EERE
t-AtzRE
3

t-A+zA

13-Nov-07 to
12-Nov-2011
“E5tE
t-A12AZ
3—-E

t-AtzR

13-Nov-08 to
12-Nov-2011
“IE)\E
t-At=A%
5%

+-AtZA

13-Nov-09to
12-Nov-2011
ZEENE
t-A1=RZE
5-F
t-AtZA

Exercise
price
per share

g5
iR

HKS0.21
0217

HKS0.21
0217

HK$0.21
021 %

HKS0.21
021 ET

Market
value
per share
at date
of grant
RiAE
28R
RAHE

HK$0.21
02137

HK80.21
02137

HKS0.21
021%71

HK$0.21
020 BT
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) IR B ()

Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2008 BE-EZENF=A=1+—HLFEZEREFTS (&)
(Continued)

No. of
options No. of No. of No. of Market
outstanding options options options Period value
Name or atthe granted exercised Forfeited outstanding during which Exercise per share
category of beginning during during during atthe Date options are price at date
participant of the year the year the year the year year end granted exercisable per share of grant
£ RER RiAE
sa% Rz Fhfz ERfTEz Rz BhE Bl 28R
HEGER EREHE BREEE BREEE FREH EREHE RLAH s k8 RAHE
Directors (Continued)
E2(H)
23
Cheung Miu Sin 150,000 - (150,000) - - 18-Nov-06 13-Nov-06 HK$0.21 HKS0.21 am
Kl IERE 0 12-Nov-2011 02137 02137 S
(resigned on 11/10/2007) T-B1=H ZEE5E /ﬁg
(RZZELETAT-RED) t-A+=R% at
& =
t-At+zA 1
-
250,000 - 260,000) - - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-07 HKS0.21 HK$0.21 )
—ETAE o 12-Nov-2011 02187 0217 3
+-A1=8 23ck 2y
+-A+=R%
5%
t-A+zH
250,000 - (260,000 - - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-08 HK$0.21 HK$0.21
2355 t0 12-Nov-2011 021%71 02187
T-A+=H “3RN\E
t-At+=8%
I
+-AtZA
250,000 - (260,000 - - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-09 HK$0.21 HKS0.21
Z35°E t0 12-Nov-2011 0218 02187
t-f+=8 ZIENE
t-A+=R%
5—F

t-AtZA
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2008

(Continued)
No. of
options
outstanding
Name or atthe
category of beginning
participant of the year
£
sa% Rz
HEGER EREYA
Directors (Continued)
E2(H)
Fung Siu Wan, Stella 150,000
BYE
(resigned on 11/10/2007)
(RZZELETAT-RED)
250,000
250,000
250,000

No. of No. of
options options
granted exercised

during during
the year the year

Fhfz ERfTEz
BREEE BREEE
- (150,000)
- 260,000)
- (260,000)
- (260,000

Forfeited
during
the year

FREX

B RERT 8 (&)

BE-_EE/\FZA=-t-HLFEZBRETE (&)

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe Date
year end granted
REXR
Rz
EREHE RLAH

- 13-Nov-06
“EERE

I

- 13-Nov-06
ZE5E

e

- 13-Nov-06
“EERE

I

- 13-Nov-06
ZITRE

t-At=8

Period
during which
options are
exercisable

BhE
i8R

13-Nov-06
10 12-Nov-2011
“EERE
t-AtzRE
3

t-A+zA

13-Nov-07
t0 12-Nov-2011
Z35tE
t-At=AE
3—-E

t-AtzR

13-Nov-08
t0 12-Nov-2011
“IE)\E
t-At=A%
5%

+-AtZA

13-Nov-09

t0 12-Nov-2011
ZEENE
t-At=pz
5-F
t-AtZA

Exercise
price
per share

g5
iR

HKS0.21
0217

HKS0.21
0217

HK$0.21
021 %

HKS0.21
021 ET

Market
value
per share
at date
of grant
RiAE
28R
RAHE

HK$0.21
02137

HK80.21
02137

HKS0.21
021%71

HK$0.21
020 BT
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) IR B ()

Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2008 BE-EZENF=A=1+—HLFEZEREFTS (&)
(Continued)

No. of
options No. of No. of No. of Market
outstanding options options options Period value
Name or atthe granted exercised Forfeited outstanding during which Exercise per share
category of beginning during during during atthe Date options are price at date
participant of the year the year the year the year year end granted exercisable per share of grant
£ RER RiAE
sa% Rz Fhfz ERfTEz Rz BhE Bl 28R
HEGER EREHE BREEE BREEE FREH EREHE RLAH s k8 RAHE
Directors (Continued)
E2(H)
25
Wong Man Chung, Francis 160,000 - (150,000 - - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-06 HKS0.21 HKS0.21 o
EIR IERE 0 12-Nov-2011 02137 02177 S
(esigned 11/10/2007) +-f+z8 “IENE .
(RZZELETAT-RED) t-A+=R% at
2-F b
t-At+zA 1
-
250,000 - 260,000) - - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-07 HKS0.21 HK$0.21 )
—ETAE o 12-Nov-2011 02187 0217 3
+-A1=8 23ck 2y
+-A+=R%
5%
t-A+zH
250,000 - (260,000 - - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-08 HK$0.21 HK$0.21
2355 t0 12-Nov-2011 021%71 02187
T-A+=H “3RN\E
t-At+=8%
I
t-A+zH
250,000 - (260,000 - - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-09 HK$0.21 HKS0.21
Z35°E t0 12-Nov-2011 0218 02187
t-f+=8 ZIENE
t-A+=R%
“F—-F

t-AtZA
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2008

(Continued)
No. of
options
outstanding
Name or atthe
category of beginning
participant of the year
£
sa% Rz
HEGER EREYA
Directors (Continued)
E2(H)
Chan Ting Kwong 150,000
REx
(resigned on 11/10/2007)
(RZZELETAT-RED)
250,000
250,000
250,000

No. of No. of
options options
granted exercised

during during
the year the year

Fhfz ERfTEz
BREEE BREEE
- (150,000)
- 260,000)
- (260,000)
- (260,000

Forfeited
during
the year

FREX

B RERT 8 (&)

BE-_EE/\FZA=-t-HLFEZBRETE (&)

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe Date
year end granted
REXR
Rz
EREHE RLAH

- 13-Nov-06
“EERE

I

- 13-Nov-06
ZE5E

e

- 13-Nov-06
“EERE

I

- 13-Nov-06
ZITRE

t-At=8

Period
during which
options are
exercisable

BhE
i8R

13-Nov-06
10 12-Nov-2011
“EERE
t-AtzRE
3

t-A+zA

13-Nov-07
t0 12-Nov-2011
Z35tE
t-At=AE
3—-E

t-AtzR

13-Nov-08
t0 12-Nov-2011
“IE)\E
t-At=A%
5%

+-AtZA

13-Nov-09

t0 12-Nov-2011
ZEENE
t-At=pz
5-F
t-AtZA

Exercise
price
per share

g5
iR

HKS0.21
0217

HKS0.21
0217

HK$0.21
021 %

HKS0.21
021 ET

Market
value
per share
at date
of grant
RiAE
28R
RAHE

HK$0.21
02137

HK80.21
02137

HKS0.21
021%71

HK$0.21
020 BT
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) IR B ()

Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2008 BE-EZENF=A=1+—HLFEZEREFTS (&)
(Continued)

No. of
options No. of No. of No. of Market
outstanding options options options Period value
Name or atthe granted exercised Forfeited outstanding during which Exercise per share
category of beginning during during during atthe Date options are price at date
participant of the year the year the year the year year end granted exercisable per share of grant
£ REXR RiAE
sa% Rz Fhfz ERfTEz Rz BhE Bl 28R
HEGER EREHE BREEE BREEE EREN EREHE RLAH s k8 RAHE
Directors (Continued)
E2(H)
27
LuZhao Qun 250,000 - (248,000) 2,000 - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-06 HK$0.21 HKS0.21 &
ERE IERE 0 12-Nov-2011 0217 02137 S
lapoointed on 21/9/2007) +-f+z8 “IENE =
(RZBRLENAZT-BEZE) t-A+=R% f
& =
t-At+zA £
-
250,000 - - 250,000) - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-07 HKS0.21 HK$0.21 )
—ETAE o 12-Nov-2011 02187 0217 3
+-A1=8 23ck 2y
+-A+=R%
5%
t-A+zH
250,000 - - 250,000) - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-08 HK$0.21 HK$0.21
2355 t0 12-Nov-2011 021%71 02187
T-A+=H “3RN\E
t-At+=8%
I
t-A+zH
250,000 - - 250,000) - 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-09 HK$0.21 HKS0.21
Z35°E t0 12-Nov-2011 0218 02187
t-f+=8 ZIENE
t-A+=R%
5—F

t-AtZA
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Report of the Directors EEg#H %

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2008

(Continued)
No. of
options
outstanding
Name or atthe
category of beginning
participant of the year
£
sa% Rz
HEGER EREYA
Directors (Continued)
E2(H)
Yin Jie 250,000
b
250,000
250,000
250,000

No. of No. of
options options
granted exercised

during during
the year the year

Fhfz ERfTEz
BREEE BREEE
- 250,000)
- (260,000)
- (260,000)
- (260,000

Forfeited
during
the year

FREX

B RERT 8 (&)

BE-_EE/\FZA=-t-HLFEZBRETE (&)

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe Date
year end granted
REXR
Rz
EREHE RLAH

- 13-Nov-06
“EERE

e

- 13-Nov-06
ZEEE

I

- 13-Nov-06
“EERE

-At=E

- 13-Nov-06
ZITRE

t-At=8

Period
during which
options are
exercisable

BhE
i8R

13-Nov-06
10 12-Nov-2011
“EERE
t-AtzRE
3

t-A1zA

13-Nov-07
t0 12-Nov-2011
Z35tE
t-At=RE
3—-E

t-AtzR

13-Nov-08
t0 12-Nov-2011
“IE)\E
t-A+=A%
“F—F

+-AtzA

13-Nov-09

t0 12-Nov-2011
ZEENE
t-At=pz
5-F
t-AtZA

Exercise
price
per share

g5
iR

HKS0.21
0217

HKS0.21
0217

HKS0.21
021 %

HKS0.21
021 ET

Market
value
per share
at date
of grant
RILAS
28R
RAHE

HK$0.21
02137

HK80.21
02137

HKS0.21
021%71

HK$0.21
021%7
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2008
(Continued)

No. of
options No. of No. of
outstanding options options
Name or atthe granted exercised Forfeited
category of beginning during during during
participant of the year the year the year the year
£
saE Rz Fhfz ERfTEz
HEGER EREHE BREEE EhREHA FREH
Employees 412,500 - (412,500) -
[E&
412,500 - (412,500) -
412,500 - (412,500) -
412,500 - (412,500) -
* The options granted to the directors are registered under the

names of the directors who are also the beneficial owners.

Being the weighted average closing price of the company’s
ordinary shares immediately before the dates on which the
options were exercised, where applicable, was HK$1.37.

Information on the accounting policy for share options
granted and the weighted average value per option
is provided in note 2(r)(ii) and note 28 to the financial
statements respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was
the company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the company or any
other body corporate.

B RERT 8 (&)

BE-_EE/\FZA=-t-HLFEZBRETE (&)

No. of Market
options Period value
outstanding during which Exercise per share
atthe Date options are price at date
year end granted exercisable per share of grant
RER RiAE
Rz BhE Bl 28R
EREHE RiLAH s 18 RAHE
- 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-06 HK$0.21 -
ZEE5E 0 12-Nov-2011
t-f1=8 ZEEE
+-B+=A%
F—-f
t-AtZA
- 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-07 HKS0.21 -
2555 t0 12-Nov-2011
+-A1=H TR
t-A1=A2
—F-f
t-f+28
- 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-08 HK$0.21 -
ZIERE 10 12-Nov-2011
t-A1=A “2E0E
t-Aiz8E
F—f
t-AtZA
- 13-Nov-06 13-Nov-09 HKS0.21 -
2555 t0 12-Nov-2011
+-A1=H “ZENE
t-A1=A2
“F-F
t-f+28

* BTFEFZBRENEF (W BEmlFBA) BN

BIAR R 7] BB IR R BB AR IR 77 (8 A 1.2 - F I i (B (4078

) 1.37 37T ©

BRCROBRE . @5 B L0 BE 2 g FEE
BB - 2 RIEDIR B 15K MY 20 (i) KRt 28 e
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN FERRARGD 2R
SHARES

The company has been notified of the following interests in KA EERAATRZEZ NF=A=T—HAFRFE

the company’s issued shares at 31 March 2008 amounting BT PR BB T E BAY 5% A E 2 iR
10 5% or more of the ordinary shares in issue:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

SRAEBEIAEBTZEER
Total Percentage
number of total
of ordinary issued
Capacity shares held shares
30 HERITRG
514 g BEREAH BYEIL
—
né Happy City Holdings Limited Beneficial 144,156,000 50.01%
~°<Qj) (note (a)) (H1it (@) owner
3 Ea A A
g— Liu Hui (hote (b)) Interest of 144,156,000 50.01%
g 238 (H5E b)) spouse
. [ p e
z
g Goodwell Group Invest Limited Beneficial 56,000,000 19.43%
= (note (c)) (H1i% () owner
E HaAA
% China National Aviation Corporation (Group) Limited Beneficial 6,376,000
(note (c)) owner
FEIfMZESEEER AR BEmEEA
(i ()
Interest held by 56,000,000
a controlled
corporation
SR
62,376,000 21.64%
China National Aviation Holding Company (note (c)) Interest held by 62,376,000 21.64%
eIz (R E) BRAF (K77 () a controlled
corporation
R EE PR
Notes: izt

(@) The above interest held by Happy City Holdings Limited was also (@)  _FAtAIHappy City Holdings Limited#5 & #)##as /TR FX [EF
disclosed as the interest of Li Song Xiao in the section headed R B | —EP B BB AT e ©
“Directors’ Interests in shares” above.

(b)  Liu Hui was deemed to be interested in 144,156,000 ordinary (b)  BEN B RIEEIINR B et B 89K 2 7]144,156,00008 &
shares of the company, being the interest held beneficially by her BRI o
spouse, Li Song Xiao.

(c)  Goodwell Group Invest Limited was wholly owned by China (c)  Goodwell Group Invest Limited f5 7 ETf 5= (5 /8) R A ]2 &
National Aviation Corporation (Group) Limited, which in turn was HH - PR (FEE) BIR LA A+ B EE R a2 &

wholly owned by China National Aviation Holding Company. #E -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Apart from the foregoing, no other interests required to be
recorded in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO
have been notified to the company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
company as at the date of this annual report, the company
has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the financial statements, no
contract of significance to which the company, or any of its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party, and in which a director of the company had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to its existing shareholders.

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the
company and the group as at 31 March 2008 are set out in
note 26 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the group for the last five financial years is set out on page
156 of the annual report.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties and property interest of
the group are shown on pages 154 and 155 of the annual
report.

EFRRRRRGD 2 (R’

BR_EtFESN - AR AN E M BRERERIEE SR
HIB R P 336 1R FTFE 2 B Rt Az #a o
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RAFHRAH  REARBARFARGZER KA RE
BERefA  ARBRFLEMRAPMEEZ ARIHRE -

EENEHNZFE

BRI RAR M S8 AT EE I - AR EEIER A
A IMBARKFERMB AL E L EFARNRREEHE
BEANG  ARFEXAFAEMEFNALERZEEZS
e

BEBERE

ARl AR ERARSRERE A0S BT BRE
BEBER G REARBERLHIRERBRIRE
EHA -

RITERREX

ARRRAEER —_FTENF=ZA=+—HAZRITERRK
HABERFHITH N IR 26 ©
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Report of the Directors EEE€H S

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

As from 1 December 2000, the group operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), managed
by an independent approved MPF trustee, under the
requirements of the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
Scheme at 5% of the employee’s relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$20,000.

The employees in the group’s PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement schemes. The
PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified
percentage of their payroll to these schemes. The only
obligation of the group with respect to these retirement
schemes is to make the specified contributions.

NON-ADJUSTING POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Details of the non-adjusting post balance sheet events are
set out in note 39 on the financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The company received from each of the INED an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and consider all the INED to be independent.

AUDITORS

KPMG resigned as auditors of the Company on 1 November
2007 while CCIF CPA Limited was appointed by the Board
to fill the casual vacancy.

Apart from the foregoing, there were no other changes in
auditors of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

CCIF CPA Limited shall retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of CCIF CPA Limited as auditors of the company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Li Song Xiao

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 July 2008

RIKETE
BE-_ZTTFE+_A B ARERBEEFEARFELE
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RERRAIZBIRFIEABERAAERZRHIEATR
TETE ([REEAE)) -

BIESFE AT EEIRAKTE - RiFBESE - EE
MEBBE AREEMBRAZ 5% AEES TR - A
# FIR A20,00078 7T °
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of the Company is
pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2008.

The manner in which the principles and code provisions in
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) are applied and implemented are explained
as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance to enhance shareholder value and
safeguard shareholder interests.

The Company recognises the importance of high standards
of corporate governance to sustain healthy growtha n d
has taken a proactive approach in strengthening corporate
governance practices in accordance with the needs of its
business.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles, code provisions and certain recommended
best practices as set out in the CG Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company
has complied with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code, save for the deviations from code provisions A.2.1
and A.4.1 which are explained in the relevant paragraphs in
this Report.

The Company has also put in place certain recommended
best practices as set out in the CG Code.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and
growth of its business and to review its corporate
governance practices from time to time to ensure they
comply with the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.
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Corporate Governance Report ¥ EEHRSE

THE BOARD

RESPONSIBILITIES

The overall management of the Company’s business is
vested in the Board, which assumes the responsibility for
leadership and control of the Company and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. All directors take
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The senior management was delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operations of the Group. In addition, the Board has also
established Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities set out in their
respective terms of reference.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company has adopted the recommended best practice
under the CG Code for the Board to have at least one-
third of its members comprising independent non-executive
directors.

The Board of the Company comprises the following
directors:

Executive Directors:

Li Song Xiao (Chairman)

Yuan Kun

Lu Zhao Qun

Song Xuan

Xu Xiao Yang (appointed on 21 July 2008)

Exg
B

EXERRERBEEARAER  AEEERIZEHAR
ZEE WEBFRENEE "T%ﬂ%‘é‘%ﬁf?ﬁﬂ$
AlZKY) - EREFHREARRNEEEIELIRE
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Non-Executive Director:
Yin Jie

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Gao Ling
(Chairman of Audit Committee and Member of
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee)
Cui Yong
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee and Member of Audit Committee)
Zhang Qing Lin
(Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The
independent non-executive directors are expressly identified
in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive director of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-
executive directors to be independent in accordance with
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

All directors, including non-executive director and
independent non-executive directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive directors are
invited to serve on the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees of the Company.

FHTES !
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

At present, the Company does not have any officer with
the titled of “chief executive officer” and the Chairman of
the Board provides overall leadership for the Board and the
Group’s business. The daily management is shared among
the executive directors and the senior management.

The Board shall review its structure from time to time to
ensure appropriate move is being taken should suitable
circumstances arise.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association
which were amended by a special resolution at the annual
general meeting held on 22 August 2005 for the purpose of
compliance with the CG Code, all directors of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. Any new director appointed to fill a causal vacancy
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment and any new
director appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the next
following annual general meeting after appointment.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election.

There is no service contract between the Company and
Mr. Yin Jie, the non-executive director, Mr. Gao Ling, Mr.
Cui Yong and Mr. Zhang Qing Lin, the independent non-
executive directors. They were not appointed for any specific
length of service with the Company.
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Although the non-executive director and independent
non-executive directors do not have a specific term of
appointment, all directors of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation once every three years.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election
and removal of directors are laid down in the Company’s
Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing
and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination
and appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment
and succession planning of directors and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive directors.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Cui Yong (Chairman), Mr. Gao Ling and Mr.
Zhang Qing Lin, all of them are independent non-executive
directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

(@  To review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations regarding any
proposed changes;

(b) To develop and formulate relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of directors;

(c) To identify suitable candidates for appointment as
directors;

(d) To make recommendations to the Board on
appointment or re-appointment of and succession
planning for directors; and

(e) To assess the independence of the independent non-
executive directors.
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of
selecting and recommending candidates for directorships
by making reference to the skills, experience, professional
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of
such individuals, the Company’s needs and other relevant
statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the
recruitment and selection process when necessary.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year
ended 31 March 2008 and reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a
balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company and the
attendance records are set out under “Directors’ Attendance
Records” on page 41.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Li Song Xiao, Mr. Yuan Kun, Mr. Lu Zhao Qun and Ms.
Song Xuan, having been appointed as executive directors
and Mr. Gao Ling, Mr. Cui Yong and Mr. Zhang Qing Lin,
having been appointed as independent non-executive
directors of the Company during the year, shall retire and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the next
forthcoming annual general meeting. In addition, Mr. Xu Xiao
Yang, having been appointed as executive director of the
Company on 21 July 2008, shall retire and being eligible,
offer himself for re-election at the next forthcoming annual
general meeting. Furthermore, Mr. Yin Jie shall retire by
rotation and being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the
next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-
appointment of the directors standing for re-election at the
next forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

A circular containing detailed information of the directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting would be sent to the shareholders.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT FOR
DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director shall receive comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
proper understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

The Company shall consider to engage external legal and
other professional advisers for providing professional briefing
and training programmes to the directors. Continuing
briefings and professional development to directors will be
arranged whenever necessary.

BOARD MEETINGS
Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting
are normally made available to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors
at least 14 days before the meetings and reasonable notice
is generally given for other Board meetings. For committee
meetings, notice is served in accordance with the required
notice period stated in the relevant terms of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all directors/committee
members at least 3 days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to keep the directors apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board
and each director also have separate and independent
access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management, Financial Controller or Company
Secretary attended some regular Board meetings and
when necessary, other Board and committee meetings to
advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and
other major aspects of the Company.
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The Company Secretary/secretary of the Committees is
responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board meetings
and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is open for directors’
inspection.

The Company’s Articles of Association contains provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their
associates have a material interest. According to current
Board practice, any material transaction, which involves
a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a
director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting.

Directors’ Attendance Records

During the year ended 31 March 2008, 11 Board meetings
(of which 4 are regular Board meetings) were held at
approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing and approving
the financial and operating performance, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the
Company.

The attendance records of each director at the meetings of
the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 March
2008 are set out below:
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Name of Directors

EEfg

Executive Directors:

HTEs:

Li Song Xiao

B

Yuan Kun

TE

Lu Zhao Qun

BRE

Song Xuan

RE

Fong Kit Wah, Alan (Resigned on 11 October 2007)
HEERZZTLETAT—HEE)

Rourke James Grierson (Resigned on 11 October 2007)
Rourke James Grierson (R =ZZ+F+F+—BEHT)
Cheung Miu Sin (Resigned on 11 October 2007)
FON(R-ZZLETA+—REHE)
Non-Executive Director:

*HTES:

Yin Jie

BA

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
BUkaTES:

Gao Ling

Bk

Cui Yong

EB

Zhang Qing Lin

REM

Wong Man Chung, Francis (Resigned on 11 October 2007)
EXR(RZZZLETAT-HED)

Chan Ting Kwong (Resigned on 11 October 2007)
REX (R_Z2+ETAT-BEHE)

Fung Siu Wan, Stella (Resigned on 11 October 2007)
BYE(R-TTLETAT—HED)

Board
-

6/7
1
37
37
4/5
3/5

45

511

27
27
2/6
2/5
2/5

2/5

Attendance/Number of Meetings

SELRE/ MY
Audit Remuneration

Committee Committee
ENZES ¥MzEE

i 11

i 11

i i

i -

i -

i -

Nomination
Committee

REZEE

il
il

1

Y
-

=
=
i
Ji]
at
D
Il
-
)
(=)
()]
®
_R.T
S
Ey




=Y
N

o
pn}
a
=
o
3
()
pn}
I}
c
©
[
=4
@©
a
L]
>
]
E}
c
o
Y
©
©
I}
=
3
N
(=1
=1
o

Corporate Governance Report X ERHEH

Notes:

(1) Mr. Li Song Xiao, Mr. Yuan Kun, Mr. Lu Zhao Qun, Ms. Song
Xuan, Mr. Gao Ling and Mr. Cui Yong were appointed as
executive directors and independent non-executive directors
respectively on 21 September 2007.

2 Mr. Zhang Qing Lin was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 11 October 2007.

3 As Mr. Xu Xiao Yang was appointed as executive director on 21
July 2008, his name was not included in the above attendance
records.

4) Mr. Lu Zhao Qun has also attended one Audit Committee
meeting, and the Remuneration Committee meeting and
Nomination Committee meeting.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors and the
directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2008.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-
sensitive information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the
Company, including: the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.
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All directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the
Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the senior management.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board
prior to any significant transactions entered into by the
abovementioned officers.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference which
are posted on the Company’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.

The Board also has the full support of the senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent
procedure for formulating policies on remuneration
and senior management of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2008 are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members,
namely Mr. Cui Yong (Chairman), Mr. Gao Ling and Mr.
Zhang Qing Lin, all of them are independent non-executive
directors.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee
include:

(@ To make recommendations on the establishment of
procedures for developing remuneration policy and
structure of the executive directors and the senior
management, such policy shall ensure that no director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration;

(b) To make recommendations on the remuneration
packages of the executive directors and the senior
management;

(c)  To review and approve the remuneration packages of
the executive directors and the senior management by
reference to the performance of the individual and the
Company as well as market practice and conditions;
and

(d) To review and approve the compensation
arrangements for the executive directors and the
senior management.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for
collection and administration of the human resources
data and making recommendations to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration. The Remuneration Committee
shall consult the Chairman of the Company about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, and the
remuneration packages of the executive directors and the
senior management for the year under review.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 31 March 2008 and the attendance records are
set out under “Directors’ Attendance Records” on page 41.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2008.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of annual and
interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.

The Board received from the senior management
the management accounts, explanation and relevant
information which enable the Board to make an informed
assessment for approving the financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2008 relating
to corporate control environment and revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2008. Such review covered the financial,
operational, compliance and risk management aspects of
the Group.

The Board has overall responsibility for the internal control
system of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Board is also responsible for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the assets of the Company.
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The internal control system of the Group is designed to
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability
of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and
to safeguard assets of the Group. The senior management
shall review and evaluate the control process and monitor
any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the Audit
Committee on any findings and measures to address the
variances and identified risks.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Gao Ling (Chairman), Mr. Cui Yong and Mr. Zhang Qing
Lin, all of them are independent non-executive directors
(including one independent non-executive director who
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise).
None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

(@ To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the qualified accountant, compliance officer (if any),
internal auditor or external auditors before submission
to the Board.

(b)  To review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference to the work performed by the auditors,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.
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During the year under review, the Audit Committee has
reviewed the Group’s interim and annual results and reports
for the year ended 31 March 2008, the financial reporting
and compliance procedures and risk management review
and processes and the re-appointment of the external
auditors.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

There is no different view taken by the Audit Committee from
the Board regarding the selection, appointment, resignation
or dismissal of external auditors.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2008 and the attendance records are set
out under “Directors’ Attendance Records” on page 41.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the “Report of the Auditors” on
pages 49 to 50.

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company, CCIF CPA Limited, in respect of audit services
and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2008
amounted to HK$900,000 and HK$133,000 respectively.
The said non-audit services relate to due diligence and
review of results announcement of the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Group also recognises
the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decision.
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The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee or, in their absence, other members of
the respective committees and, where applicable, the
independent Board committee, are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meetings. During the year
ended 31 March 2008, the Company held one shareholders’
meeting, which is the annual general meeting held on 22
August 2007. All the members of the Board were present at
this meeting to address to shareholders’ enquiries.

The Company continues to enhance communications
and relationships with its investors. Designated senior
management maintains regular dialogue with institutional
investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Company’s developments. Enquiries from investors are
dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the
Company maintains a website at www.equitynet.com.
hk/0646, where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are posted. Shareholders and investors
may write directly to the Company at its principal place of
business in Hong Kong or via facsimile to (852) 2511-1878
for any inquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for
demanding a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings
at which voting is taken on a poll are contained in the
Company’s Articles of Association. Details of such rights to
demand a poll were included in all circulars to shareholders
and will be explained during the proceedings of meetings.

Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited after the
shareholders’ meeting.
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(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Yardway Group Limited (the “company”) set out on
pages 51 to 153, which comprise the consolidated and
company balance sheets as at 31 March 2008 and
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

The directors of the company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of the report.

®

CCIF

CCIF CPA LIMITED
RE RS MSEHEARARAE

20/F Sunning Plaza
10 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay Hong Kong
& REE FIEE1055
EAE 204

(RESFEEZMK L HRLF])

AIZERED (LA TR [ M) B EiERNEBBR QR
(TERRDENES EE 153 ANEANBHRE - HhE
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PREEARENER  UWRTBSFTHRME MEMF
AR EE o

BERRIESAATERESEHMASRM 2 BB B R
SR RBBRRGROICKERTE  AERRIAERAD
T2 FM B REK o LR EBERE - BT REER
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REIE ASARERIM (TR E B REFERREIR) « BE
WREMAEE SRR  RETRBR MELGE 2 E5HE
o

BANECRREERZ CERILFUHRRFELER
AR ETHERBEBIIRRE - BRULIASN - AE A EEAD
R - RAITERARENABTFEMNALTEERAEER
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and
of the group as at 31 March 2008 and of the group’s profit
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 July 2008

Kwok Cheuk Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P02412
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Consolidated Income Statement =& W&k

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-ZZ/\F=ZA=+—-HLEFE

2008 2007
—EE\F —ETTEE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
5T FET THET
Turnover =E 3 6 208,865 214,424
Cost of sales/services $HE BRIER A (248,629) (175,599)
Gross profit ER 50,236 38,829
Other revenue Eqth A 7 4,886 4,380
Other net income Hfth a3 58 7 7,391 365
Distribution costs 73 SR A (20,598) (20,804)
Administrative expenses 1T (36,763) (24,753) 51
Net surplus on revaluation EHERFRE 1,160 1,030
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE B A R 33 295 = g
Gain on disposal of jointly controlled entities  Hi & H [R5 HI F 82 U s 34 4,658 = [
Negative goodwill s 35 113 -
=
PROFIT/(LOSS)FROM OPERATIONS g (BR) 11,378 (953) 3
Finance costs B &R AN 8(a) (2,347) (1,749) N
o
[e0)
PROFIT/(LOSS)BEFORE TAXATION BRBLATRF], (H548) 8 9,031 (2,702) il
Income tax FriS%t 11(a) (2,241) 99
PROFIT/(LOSS)FOR THE YEAR REEBR,(HE) 6,790 (2,603)
Attributable to: FELEBD -
Equity shareholders of the company RAEIIRERE A 32 7,104 (2,739)
Minority interests DER R (314) 132
PROFIT/(LOSS)FOR THE YEAR AEERR(FE) 6,790 (2,603)
EARNINGS/(LOSS)PER SHARE BRERN,(FE) 14
— Basic —HK 2.49 centsfll  (0.98) centl
— Diluted —#E 2.46 cents N/A & A

The notes on pages 58 to 153 form part of these financial

statements.

£ 58 HEF 153 AN EB AU BERERN &0 -
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Consolidated Balance Sheet &6 EEAEBEXR

as at 31 March 2008
RZBZENFZA=+—8H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Interest in leasehold land held for
own use under operating leases

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Deferred tax assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Trading securities — listed in Hong Kong
Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Current taxation recoverable

Pledged bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

Bank loans and overdrafts
Obligations under finance leases
Current taxation

Provisions for warranty

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank loans and overdrafts
Obligations under finance leases
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

FRBEE

REKLHEERIEERL
HE 3> hEx

W% - BB KRER

BREME

ERETHIAERE

REBEE

BEEER-—RBEBLD
&

TR LT % L At e WA R
ARE AR
EHEMRITER

A kASEED

RBAE

FEf R B b PR 5R0R
RITERES
MEMES AR
REATHRIA

REERE

REBEEFE
EERERABAE
FRBEE
RITERTEX

MEHERIE
EEBIARE

BEFE

Note
HfaE

16
17
18

29(b)

21
22
29(a)
23
24

25
26
27
29(a)
30

26
27
29(b)

2008 2007
—mE\E  ZTTLE
HK$’000 HK$'000
Tt THT
1,094 1,018
47,644 38,773
6,760 22,600
237 237
55,735 62,628
41 542
28,121 21,971
127,285 82,411
1,926 1,942
8,348 10,309
62,731 45,158
228,452 162,333
141,494 93,034
12,965 17,008
396 312
1,005 192

- 117
155,860 110,663
72,592 51,670
128,327 114,298
5,328 6,969
462 267
849 471
6,639 7,707
121,688 106,591




Consolidated Balance Sheet ZZ&EEEEXR

as at 31 March 2008
R-ZZZENF=ZHA=+—H

2008 2007
—EEN\F  ZTTLE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
5T FET THET
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B fEE
Share capital (&N 31 28,825 28,085
Reserves (Gl 32 92,278 77,607
TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE AATRERFEA
TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS bR 4 RE
OF THE COMPANY 121,103 105,692
MINORITY INTERESTS DEREERS 585 899
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 121,688 106,591

Ul
W

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of EFeRN T N\F LA T AZREW TR E
directors on 24 July 2008

@
=1
i
af
il
)]
al
-

N
S
S
®
e
o

Yuan Kun Lu Zhao Qun
TE I {2
Director Director
EFE EE

The notes on pages 58 to 153 form part of these financial F58HEFE 153 ERMIEB AT BHRERN—ZLH °
statements.



Balance Sheet EE& &%

as at 31 March 2008
R-ZZN\F=A=+—H

2008 2007
—2T)\F  —FTLEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
5T FET FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Plant and equipment R I 5% 4k 17 104 -
Interest in subsidiaries NG o 19 84,155 92,007
84,259 92,007
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade and other receivables JE U K L b JrE W R IE 22 235 137
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREeEEYD 24 23,788 45
24,023 182
54 CURRENT LIABILITIES o p=Ki
Trade and other payables FEAS I Eo At B A5 5R0R 25 1,209 436
&
D% NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) #BEE (&) FE 22,814 (254)
| NETASSETS AEFE 107,073 91,753
5 CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARR S
2 Share capital [ii&N 31 28,825 28,085
. Reserves (Eete=] 32 78,248 63,668
5 TOTAL EQUITY XA 107,073 91,753
2
% Approved and authorised for issue by the board of EEEN T N\F A=+ O AZEWFFAIEE

directors on 24 July 2008

Yuan Kun Lu Zhao Qun
TTE I {2
Director Director
EE EE

The notes on pages 58 to 153 form part of these financial F58HEFE 153 BEMMIEB AT BHRERN—ZLH °
statements.



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity fR&#Em S B &

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the company

RRAREREARE
Revaluation
reserve
-land and Minority
Share Share Capital Contributed  Exchange buildings Other  Retained interests Total
capital  premium  reserve  surplus  reseve ZEfff-  reseves  eamings Total  2ERR equity
Bk RORE EARE  BERR  EXRE LuREFT EtRE  REE by B AER
HK$000  HK§000  HK$000  HK§000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
Tt TEr  TEr  TEr TR TEr TR TEr  TEr  TEr  TEn
At 1 April 2006 R=FZ/ FNA-A 28,000 3,728 (4,665) (180) 1 4953 281 75452 107,630 767 108,397
Dividends approved in respect RLEREZRE
of previous year - - - - - - - (2.800) (2.800) - (2,800)
Shares Issued under share REBRETER 55
option scheme b)) 85 145 (1) - - - - - 179 - 179
Exchange differences on trensiaion  #EREHE LR Z
of the finencil statements HRERELEZ ;Tﬁ;
of PRC subsidiaries EiZE = = = = 678 - - - 678 - 678
i af
Revaluation surplus, net of EfhRE (Ml Ea
defored tax EEHE) - : s s - s - o - o .
Equity-settied share-based DR 2R L]
fransactions RARR - - 37 - - - - - 37 - 87 S
Transfer to other reserves EREMEHE - - - - - - 89 89) - - - ]
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - ) Y ) Q
At 31 March 2007 RTTHE
=A=1+-H 28,085 3873 (4,389 (180) 789 7,366 320 69,828 105,692 899 106,591
At 1 April 2007 R-EEtFRA-A 28,085 3873 (4,389 (180) 789 7,366 320 69,828 105,692 899 106,591
Shares issued under share REBRIETER
opton scheme 26 w128 (444) - - - - - s -1
Exchange differences on translation ~ REREIHEAR
of the financial statements HlREEEL
of PRC subsidiares 353 - - - - 1,244 - - - 1244 - 1,244
Revaluation surplus, net SRR (Il
of deferred tax BiLHE) = = = - - 4966 - - 4966 - 4966
Equity-setiled share-based IR
ransactions ey - - 543 - - - - - 543 - 543
Transfer to ofher reserves S - - - - - - 1624 (1,624) - - -
Share option forfeited BRMERE - - (375) - - - - 375 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - - 4,665 - - - - (4,665) - - -
Proft for the year ERER = - - - - - - 7,104 7,104 (314 6,790
At31 March 2008 RZZEN\E
=A=t-H 28,825 5131 - (180) 2,033 12,332 1,944 71,018 121,103 585 121,688

The notes on pages 58 to 153 form part of these financial

statements.

FE58HEF 153 ARMIEB AT EREAN—ZBH -



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 28R E&REXR

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-ZZ)\FZAZ+—-BLEFE

2008 2007
—EENE —TELF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BisE FTHET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RS
Profit/(loss)before taxation BRELADER (B518) 9,031 (2,702)
Adjustments for: ISR T BIE
Net surplus on revaluation EfHBMFE (1,160) (1,030)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR 2 WS (295) =
Gain on disposal of jointly controlled HE KRG B 2 W
entities (4,658) -
Negative goodwill EEEES (113) -
Depreciation e 4,289 3,628
Amortisation of land lease premium T EE A 24 20
Impairment losses on trade receivable FEWFIE 2 BB 1E 633 531
56 Impairment losses on due from jointly RN R | B 8 R IE
controlled entities ZBBEEE 1,099 -
& Write-down of inventories FERAC 3,726 1,937
s Finance costs BLEPKA 2,347 1,749
= Dividend income from listed securities EREHFAREMA (19) (22)
S Interest income FEMBA (1,120) (2,252)
= Net loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BFER&E
3 and equipment BEFE 219 317
o Gain on disposal of investment HERBME 2 Wax
= properties (884) -
z Net realised and unrealised gains on EEBFNEERK
5 trading securities R W F R (244) (168)
o Foreign exchange gain G (1,176) (1,438)
8 Equity-settled share-based RS 2 RAR 52 Fx
S payment expenses 543 327
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE EEESHH AL RF
CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL 12,248 897
Increase in inventories FEE (10,900) (9,374)
Increase in trade and other receivables LS I EL At PR MR TR S (45,649) (23,302)
Decrease in finance lease receivable fElm AR eSS - 98
Increase in trade and other payables JRE 1S R LAt A< IR SE 47,892 2,981
Increase in provision for warranty RS BB IE 6 18
CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) REXBHREB/ (FRHRE
OPERATIONS 3,597 (28,682)
Tax paid BNHIE
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREBMEH (112) (124)
The People’s Republic of Bz ARG ([HE])
China (“PRC”) income tax paid FT{S e (1,394) (124)
(1,506) (248)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)  &&%£#%fME (FifH) HEE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES et 2,091 (28,930)




INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries

Net cash inflow from disposal of
jointly controlled entities
Net cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary
Payment for the purchase of property, plant
and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Net proceeds from disposal of
investment properties
Payment for purchase of trading securities
Proceeds from sale of trading securities
Decrease/(increase)in pledged bank deposits
Interest received
Dividends received from listed securities

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from finance lease
Capital element of finance lease rentals paid
Proceeds from new bank loans
Repayment of bank loans
Proceeds from shares issued under share
option scheme
Interest paid
Interest element of finance lease rentals paid
Dividends paid to equity shareholders
of the company

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE)IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES, NET

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

The notes on pages 58 to 153 form part of these financial

statements.

Note
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BREXHK
HEKBARIEEZ
RERAFH &3
& RS B EBAS
BERNFE 34

WE—FMBARZRERAFEE 35
BAVE  BENRE

SUNE ]

HEDE - BE KRRE

Z TS RIA
BEREYE Y

RS SRR
BAEEESYNFE
HEBBEBAFAERE
BB T EIORD, /(32 h0)
BULFIE

BW ETRE SRS

REXBHME/ (A WRSE
FE

BWEEE
REMEMSHA
1‘J‘m§§fﬁfﬁﬁéﬁ’]§$§|§9
LR IT B TS RUE
BEIRTER
RIR BB R 21317 AR D
FTiS30A
BEAFE
ENREHERSOF S
ERNARARERE ARE

BMEEZHANESFE

RERRESEWEN (BD)
FE

FANRERATEEY

EXSHoME B

FRPWRAERBLSEEY
24

for the year ended 31
BE-ZER/\F=A=1+—-HLFE

F58BEF 153 AN B A HRERA—

March 2008

2007
—TELF
HK$’000
FHT

(10,135)
1,099
(542)
854
(1,277)

2,252
22

(7,727)

(872;)
33,476
(34,823)

179

(1,657)
(92)
(2,800)

(6,595)
(43,252)
85,329

1,692

43,769

s

77



Notes to the Financial Statements B # 3R i

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-_ZZ)\E=ZA=1+—HLEFE
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ORGANISATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 1. HBRETEXEK

Yardway Group Limited (the “company”) was RMNEBERAG(TARRARDRZZEZE—F/\ A
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 31 August =t HEHRSHSEMKY WE =TT =F=
2001 and became the holding company of the AT+-=HRkARMNEE((RNER ) 2ERA
Yardway Group (“Yardway Group”) since 13 March Al MNEER T _F=HA =1+ /\BEELH
2002. Yardway Group became a publicly listed REFEM - A —HARLEMAFR °

company on 28 March 2002 on the Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong.

The company is an investment holding company. The KRB BIEEER AR - MBRAR ZEEXKHN
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in WIS RMIFE19 o

note 19 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESIEE

a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary
of the significant accounting policies adopted
by the group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and
revised HKFRSs that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group and the
company. Note 3 provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the group
for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

a) BHIES
R BHRIIZREB GRS RN A
ERZBEAMBREEN(LREREMAE
RZERE AR BHRELER - BB ER
(R@#)  BELBERMZERURFTAR
ARGl B ERMRE - AU HREITET
EEBARSMARRRES ETHRRIZER
BERGEIGRE - ARERA2ENGHERRE
SR o

AR ABERME N MRETZE
AUBREER - ZFENRAEERART
ZAGE M ERAEMKA TIREERA - XA
SFTHEEBESTHE  ARVITERRZE
EAREEARZ ERMASI B EMNEHRRE
B EERRRMBHRERT - HERSRE
BHMERMEIA -



Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2008 comprise the
company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “group”) and the group’s interest in
jointly controlled entities.

The measurement basis used in the
preparation of the financial statements is the
historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value
as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

— investment in equity securities (see note
2(e));

- derivative financial instruments (see note
209);

— leasehold land and buildings (see note
2(i)); and

- investment property (see note 2(h)).

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

2. FE

b)

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZT/\FZA=Z+—HLEFE

2HBCR ()
BB RZ mEERE

BE_ZRTZN\F=A=+—BILFEZHEY
BHRREFARBREWMBE AR (G [ A&
) RARER K REG TR 2 s -

R SRR E R 2 st ERETE L RAE
£ ESHBRAMERARBIRINATE
ENAER

- REABEZFZEE (RHE2(E)
- (TEERIA(RME2()

- MEmREF(RME21)) &
- BREWERRHE2N) -

KRR A BBV RS LR 2 BB REE
ERERFLEFERARRIEE  AfE -
WA KBS 2R Z HIE - fhat IR -
B RERBRRIRBETERLRERREBN
THE/SGEZZHAMEARMIEL - HE&R
BRAGAEBEERR B2 REECREERE
BEMEMKRIREG) <& - BERGERNE
BZEEFT AR °

EFF RAERBRR IR EEEEN - S5
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BECZZ)/\F=A=1—-HLFE

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant
effect on the financial statements and estimates
with a significant risk of material adjustment in
the next year are discussed in note 5.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
group. Control exists when the group has the
power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that presently are exercisable are
taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Minority interests represent the portion of
the net assets of subsidiaries attributable
to interests that are not owned by the
company, whether directly or indirectly through
subsidiaries, and in respect of which the
group has not agreed any additional terms
with the holders of those interests which
would result in the group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. Minority interests are presented in
the consolidated balance sheet within equity,
separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the company. Minority interests
in the results of the group are presented on the
face of the consolidated income statement as
an allocation of the total profit or loss for the
year between minority interests and the equity
shareholders of the company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

c)

d)

Subsidiaries and minority interests
(continued)

Where losses applicable to the minority
exceed the minority’s interest in the equity of a
subsidiary, the excess, and any further losses
applicable to the minority, are charged against
the group’s interest except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation to, and is
able to, make additional investment to cover
the losses, If the subsidiary subsequently
reports profits, the group’s interest is allocated
all such profits until the minority’s share of
losses previously absorbed by the group has
been recovered.

In the company’s balance sheet, an interest in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(k)).

Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which
operates under a contractual agreement
between the group or company and other
parties. Where the contractual arrangement
establishes that the group or company and one
or more of the other parties share joint control
over the economic activity of the entity. The
consolidated financial statements include the
group’s proportionate share of the enterprise’s
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses with
items of a similar nature on a line by line basis,
from the date that joint control commences
until the date that joint control ceases.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the group and its jointly
controlled entities are eliminated to the extent
of the group interest in the jointly controlled
entity, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in the profit or loss.

2.

c)

d)

for the year ended 31 March 2008
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Notes to the Financial Statements B # 3R i

for the year ended 31 March 2008

EES

2.

—EEN\E=A=1+—-HItEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

e)

f)

9)

Investment in equity securities

Investments in equity securities held for trading
are classified as current assets and are initially
stated at cost, which is their transaction price
unless fair value can be more reliably estimated
using valuation techniques whose variables
include only data from observable markets.
Cost includes attributable transaction costs
which are recognised in the income statement
as incurred. At each balance sheet date the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on
the date the group commits to purchase/sell
the investments or they expire.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1
January 2001

Goodwill arising on acquisitions of net assets
and operations of another entity or a jointly
controlled entity prior to 1 January 2001
continues to be held in reserves, and will be
charged to the retained profits at the time when
the business to which the goodwill relates is
disposed of or when a cash-generating unit to
which the goodwill relates becomes impaired.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value. At each balance sheet
date the fair value is remeasured. The gain or
loss on remeasurement to fair value is charged
immediately to profit or loss.
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g)
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

h)

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 2(j)) to earn rental income
and/or capital appreciation. These include land
held for a currently undetermined future use.

Investment properties are stated in the balance
sheet at fair value. Any gain or loss arising from
a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income
from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 2(u)(ii).

When the group holds a property interest under
an operating lease to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation, the interest is classified
and accounted for as an investment property
on a property-by-property basis. Any such
property interest which has been classified as
an investment property is accounted for as if
it were held under a finance lease (see note
2(j)), and the same accounting policies are
applied to that interest as are applied to other
investment properties leased under finance
leases. Lease payments are accounted for as
described in note 2(j).

Property, plant and equipment

The following properties held for own use are
stated in the balance sheet at their revalued
amount, being their fair value at the date of the
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation:

— land held under operating leases and
buildings thereon, where the fair values
of the leasehold interest in the land and
buildings cannot be measured separately
at the inception of the lease and the
building is not clearly held under an
operating lease (see note 2())).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B # 3R i

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-_ZZ)\E=ZA=1+—HLEFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

i)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Revaluations are performed with sufficient
regularity to ensure the carrying amount of
these assets does not differ materially from that
which would be determined using fair values at
the balance sheet date.

Changes arising on the revaluation of
properties held for own use are generally dealt
with in reserves, the only exceptions are as
follows:

- when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will
be charged to profit or loss to the extent
that it exceeds the amount held in the
reserve in respect of that same asset
immediately prior to the revaluation; and

- when a surplus arises on revaluation, it
will be credited to profit or loss to the
extent that a deficit on revaluation in
respect of that same asset had previously
been charged to profit or loss.

Other items of property, plant and equipment
are stated in the balance sheet at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 2(k)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property,
plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on
which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement
or disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is
transferred from the revaluation reserve to
retained profits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

i)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual value,
if any, using the straight line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings situated on leasehold land
are depreciated over the shorter
of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no
more than 50 years from the date of

completion.
- Furniture, fixtures 5 years
and equipment
- Motor vehicles 3to 5 years

No depreciation is provided in respect of
construction in progress.

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or
a series of transactions, is or contains a lease
if the group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or
assets for an agreed period of time in return
for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BECZZ)/\F=A=1—-HLFE

ii)

Classification of assets leased to the
group

Assets that are held by the group under
leases which transfer to the group
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the group are
classified as operating leases, with the
following exception:

- land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value
of which cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of
a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted
for as being held under a finance
lease, unless the building is also
clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time
that the lease was first entered into
by the group, or taken over from
the previous lessee.

Assets acquired under finance leases
Where the group acquires the use
of assets under finance leases, the
amounts representing the fair value of
the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments,
of such assets are included in fixed
assets and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, are recorded
as obligations under finance leases.
Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost of the assets over the
term of the relevant lease or, where it
is likely the group will obtain ownership
of the asset, the life of the asset, as set
out in note 2(i). Impairment losses are
accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy as set out in note 2(k).
Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss
over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each
accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

i) Leased assets (continued)

i)

Operating lease charges

Where the group has the use of assets
under operating leases, payments made
under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased
asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
made.

The cost of acquiring land held under
an operating lease is amortised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is
classified as an investment property (see
note 2(i)).

k) Impairment of assets

i)

Impairment of investment in equity
securities and other receivables
Investments in equity securities (other
than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities:
see note 2(k|(ii)) and other current and
non-current receivables that are stated
at cost or amortised cost are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the group
about one or more of the following loss
events:

— significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

- it becomes probable that the debtor
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

for the year ended 31 March 2008
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BECZZ)/\F=A=1—-HLFE

Impairment of investment in equity

securities and other receivables

(continued)

= significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; and

- A significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment in an
equity instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any
impairment loss is determined and
recognised as follows:

For trade and other current receivables
and other financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition
of these assets), where the effect of
discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar
risk characteristics, such as similar past
due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the
asset’s carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

k) Impairment of assets (continued)

i)

ii)

Impairment of investment in equity
securities and other receivables
(continued)

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except
for impairment losses recognised in
respect of trade debtors included within
trade and other receivables, whose
recovery is considered doubtful but not
remote. In this case, the impairment
losses for doubtful debts are recorded
using an allowance account. When the
group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade debtors
directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written
off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at each balance
sheet date to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired.

- interest in leasehold land held for
own use under operating leases;

- property, plant and equipment; and

- interest in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
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Notes to the Financial Statements B # 3R i

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-_ZZ)\E=ZA=1+—HLEFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

k)

Impairment of assets (continued)

ii)

Impairment of other assets
(continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In
addition, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there
is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an
asset is the greater of its net selling
price and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss whenever the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair
value less costs to sell, or value in
use, if determinable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

k)

Impairment of assets (continued)

ii) Impairment of other assets
(continued)
- Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are
recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, the group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with
HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At
the end of the interim period, the group applies
the same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (see note 2(k)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill, available-for-
sale equity securities and unquoted equity
securities carried at cost are not reversed in
a subsequent period. This is the case even if
no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed
only at the end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B # 3R i

for the year ended 31 March 2008

EES

2.

—EEN\E=A=1+—-HItEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

m)

n)

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average
cost formula and comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised as
an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any
write-down of inventories to net realisable value
and all losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter stated
at amortised cost less impairment losses
for bad and doubtful debts (see note 2(k)(i)),
except where the receivables are interest-free
loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting
would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less impairment
losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note
2(K)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0)

p)

q)

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised
initially at fair value less attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value. Except for financial
guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(t)(i), trade and other payables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the group’s
cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement.
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BECZZ)/\F=A=1—-HLFE

Short term employee benefits end
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid
annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present
values.

Share based payments

The fair value of share options granted
to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity.
The fair value is measured at grant date
using the binomial lattice model, taking
into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options
is spread over the vesting period, taking
into account the probability that the
options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to
vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the capital reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the
capital reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

r

s)

Employee benefits (continued)

iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
when, and only when, the group
demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without
realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that
they relate to items recognised directly in
equity, in which case they are recognised in
equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on
the taxable income for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BECZZ)\F=A=1t—HLFE

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all
deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax
assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse either in the same period as the
expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities are those
temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.
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The amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset
is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax
balances, and movements therein, are
presented separately from each other and are
not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the company
or the group has the legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and
liabilities, the company or the group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which,
in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered, intend to
realise the current tax assets and
settle the current tax liabilities on
a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B # s &R i

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)\E=ZA=+—HLEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities

i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to
make specified payments to reimburse
the beneficiary to the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the group issues a financial
guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee
(being the transaction price, unless
the fair value can otherwise be reliably
estimated) is initially recognised as
deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the
group’s policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in
profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially
recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the term
of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note
2(t)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable
that the holder of the guarantee will call
upon the group under the guarantee,
and (i) the amount of that claim on the
group is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee
i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7%k R M 5T

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Y

u)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (continued)

iij  Other provisions and contingent

liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
other uncertain timing or amount when
the group or the company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a
result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value
of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required,
or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured
reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss
as follows:

i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are
delivered at the customers’ premises
which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the
goods and the related risks and rewards
of ownership. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-ZZT/\F=A=+—HLEFE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

u)

Revenue recognition (continued)

ii)

i)

iv)

v)

Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss
in equal instalments over the periods
covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.

Commission and service income
Commission and service income are
recognised when services are rendered.

Dividend income from listed
investments

Dividend income from listed investments
is recognised when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it
accrues using the effective interest rate
method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7%k R M 5T

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

v)

w)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year
are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in the profit or
loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was determined.

The results of PRC and foreign operations
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. Balance sheet items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
date. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised directly in a separate component of
equity.

On disposal of a PRC or a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences recognised in equity which relate to
that operation is included in the calculation of
the profit or loss on disposal.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-ZZ)\FZAZ+—-BHLEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

X)

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements,
a party is considered to be related to the group
if:

i) the party has the ability, directly
or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, to control the group or
exercise significant influence over the
group in making financial and operating
policy decisions, or has joint control over
the group;

ii) the group and the party are subject to
common control;

i) the party is an associate of the group or
a joint venture in which the group is a
venturer;

iv) the party is a member of key
management personnel of the group
or the group’s parent, or a close family
member of such an individual, or is an
entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;

V) the party is a close family member of a
party referred to in (i) or is an entity under
the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals; or

vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit
plan which is for the benefit of employees
of the group or of any entity that is a
related party of the group.

Close family members of an individual are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that individual in
their dealings with the entity.
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A segment is a distinguishable component of
the group that is engaged either in providing
products or services (business segment),
or in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards
that are different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the group’s internal financial
reporting system, the group has chosen
business segment information as the primary
reporting format and geographical segment
information as the secondary reporting format
for the purpose of these financial statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets
and liabilities include items directly attributable
to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. For example, segment assets may
include inventories, trade receivables and
property, plant and equipment. Segment
revenue, expenses, assets, and liabilities are
determined before intra-group balances and
intra-group transactions are eliminated as
part of the consolidation process, except to
the extent that such intra-group balances and
transactions are between group entities within
a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is
based on similar terms as those available to
other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost
incurred during the period to acquire segment
assets (both tangible and intangible) that are
expected to be used for more than one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial
and corporate assets, interest-bearing loans,
borrowings, tax balances, corporate and
financing expenses.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BECZRZ)/\F=A=1t—HLFE

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and
revised HKFRSs and interpretations that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group and the company.

There have been no significant changes to the
accounting policies applied in these financial
statements for the years presented as a result
of these developments. However, as a result of
the adoption of HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures and the amendment to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements: Capital
disclosures, there have been some additional
disclosures provided as follows:

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 7, the financial
statements include expanded disclosure about the
significance of the group’s financial instruments
and the nature and extent of risks arising from
those instruments, compared with the information
previously required to be disclosed by HKAS 32,
Financial instruments, Disclosure and presentation.
These disclosures are provided throughout these
financial statements, in particular in note 4.

The amendment to HKAS 1 introduces additional
disclosure requirements to provide information
about the level of capital and the group’s and the
company’s objectives, policies and processes for
managing capital. These new disclosures are set out
in note 32(g).

Both HKFRS 7 and the amendment to HKAS 1 do
not have any material impact on the classification,
recognition and measurement of the amounts
recognised in the financial instruments.

The group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period (see note 42).
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The group has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk,
currency risk and interest rate risk from its use of
financial instruments. This note presents information
about the group’s exposure to each of the above
risks, the group’s objectives, policies and processes
for measuring and managing risk.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the
group if a customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and the group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to the trade and other
receivables and deposits with financial
institutions. Management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

i) Trade and other receivables

The management has established
a credit policy under which credit
evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit. Trade
receivables are due within 2 months
from the date of billing. Debtors with
palances that are more than 3 months
are requested to settle all outstanding
balance before any further credit is
granted. Normally, the group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The group’s exposure to credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. At
the balance sheet date, the group has
a certain concentration of credit risk as
26% (2007: 6%) and 53% (2007: 49%)
of the total trade related receivables
was due from the group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)\E=ZA=+—HLEFE

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

a)

Credit risk (continued)

i)

Trade and other receivables
(continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk
without taking account of any collateral
held is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset, in
the consolidated balance sheet after
deducting any impairment allowance.
Except for a financial guarantee given
by the company as set out in note 37,
the group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the
group or the company to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk in
respect of this financial guarantee at the
company’s balance sheet is disclosed in
note 37.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect
of the group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade and other receivables
are set out in note 22.

Deposits with financial institutions
The group limits its exposure to credit
risk by placing deposits with financial
institutions that meet the established
credit rating or other criteria. Given these
high credit ratings, management does
not expect any counterparty to fail to
meet its obligations.

As at 31 March 2008, the group has
certain concentration of credit risk as
5% (2007: 5%) of total cash and cash
equivalents, bank deposits with original
maturities over three months and financial
assets designated at fair value were
deposited at one financial institution in
mainland China with high credit ratings.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

4. THREARER(E

(CONTINUED)
b) Liquidity risk b) #RBESEK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not mBERBEASEEERE LI HMBE
be able to meet its financial obligations as FEZER - REBRMERATEHEREB AR
they fall due. The group’s policy is to regularly EHNRDECTENHEETEERHNE
monitor its current and expected liquidity S EREER RANIR S FEET AT S mk
requirements and its compliance with lending BIRERN TR EREE AR E S kR
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient MHEETE - .
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines
of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
The following table details the remaining TRIWRAEBRERARNRIZIFTTESREER
contractual maturities at the balance sheet MESHBERGEEB R TAENFH(HEE -
date of the group’s and the company’s non- REAZEA)  RAEB 2RI TIEHR =
derivative financial liabilities and derivative TR\ (BFEBESOANERAE 2F B
financial liabilities, which are based on the FMRFENE - BIEREER ZHME) kAR
contractual maturity date. The amounts SEHEARRREFEER AR §
disclosed in the table are the contractual el
undiscounted cash flows (including interest ,\.3
payments computed using contractual rates 2
or, if floating, based on rates current at the f'ﬁ'}
balance sheet date) and the earliest date the £
group and the company can be required to
pay:
The group NEE
2008
ZEENF
More than ~ More than Total
Within 1yearbut  2years but contractual
1 year or less than less than undiscounted
on demand 2 years 5years After cash flow Carrying
-ERg BB-F BBME S5years ANKHE amount
REEE (EORWE EBIREE LE#E  ReREH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAL TAL TEL TEL TAL
Trade and other payables JER RE NI 141,494 - - - 141,494 141,494
Bank borrowings BIEE 11,532 2,205 2,595 3,267 19,599 18,293
Obligations under finance leases ~ BEETEAGE 449 449 75 - 973 858
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)/\F=ZA=1+—-HLFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The group (Continued)

Trade and other payables

Bank borrowings

Obligations under finance leases

The company

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables

4. TRIEREE (&)
b) REBESREE (&)
AEE (#)
2007
ZERLE
More than More than Total
Within 1yearbut 2 years but contractual
1 year or less than less than undiscounted
on demand 2 years 5 years After cash flow Carrying
—E R BR—fF BBRE Syears  AMAITE amount
REER BINWE  BIRDE nEk  Rene® A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL TAL TAL TAL
[ER KA NI 93,034 - - - 93,034 93,034
BITREE 18,808 1,204 3,775 4,452 28,239 23977
HERERE 346 278 - - 624 579
AT
2008
“ZEN\E
More than ~ More than Total
Within 1yearbut  2years but contractual
1 year or less than less than undiscounted
on demand 2 years 5years After cash flow Carrying
—FRg BBE-F BBME Syears ANKNE amount
REEE EORWE BIREE LE%  RERLE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TR TR TR
FEREERTE 1,209 - - - 1,209 1,209
2007
I 3
More than More than Total
Within 1yearbut 2 years but contractual
1 year or less than less than undiscounted
on demand 2 years 5 years After cash flow Carrying
—F R A AR Syears  AHKIR amount
REER EIRME  BEIRDE nfk  Rened AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAT TAT TAT TAT
JER REMFERFIE 436 - - - 436 436




Notes to the Financial Statements B 7%k R M 5T

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

c)

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

4. TREARERE(HE

Currency risk c) IMNER
The group is exposed to currency risk AEEEBHRIABRERE BRI EE AN
primarily through sales and purchases that M EHEEITIHE REFEEmAS INER R - BEL
are denominated in a currency other than the HIERRAEBEEERETT - BT RS -
functional currency of the operations to which
they relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily United States dollars, Euro
and GBP.
The group ensures that the exposure on AEBEEFENBL TRREEXRE A H
recognised assets and liabilities arising from EINE AR IR G H 2 IO ET 1B - LARR{R DA B2
sales and purchases that are denominated in XA B2 EE LN E¥TIE 2 B R
a currency other than the functional currency BEEA G RRETN A EXKE -
of the operations to which they relate is kept
to an acceptable level, by buying or selling
foreign currency at spot rate where necessary
to address short-term imbalances.
The following table details the group’s and the TRINEAEERAREREEE B E AR
company’s exposure at the balance sheet date BN EE N BES| B2 EREREE
to currency risk arising from recognised assets A EMEAENEEER o
or liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to
which they related.
The group NEE
2008 2007
“BEN\E ZEEE
usD’000  EURQ’000 GBP’000 USD'000 EURO'000 GBP000
Ee FE FRE TEL TR 5
Trade and other receivables  FEI R E fth e ZIA 2,713 1,311 1,048 5,509 619 =
Cashandcashequivalents ~ BERELZEN 1,237 135 59 3793 714 =
Trade and other payable FER R EL A B30I (6,904) (1,889) (1,865) (6,887) (557) -
Bank borrowings Prriee (540) (119) - (1,749 82 -
Overall net exposure BREERTE (3,434) (561) (758) 666 694 -
The company AT
2008 2007
“BEN\E ZETE
usD’000  EURO’000 GBP’000 USD'000 EURO'000 GBP000
Ee FE FRE TEL TR 5

Cashandcashequivalents ~ BERELZEN 1 - - 1 = =
Overall net exposure BREERTE 1 - - 1 - -
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)\E=ZA=+—HLEFE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. SREMRERE (H)

(CONTINUED)

c) Currency risk (Continued) c) SERR () " o

An analysis of the estimated change in the FEITREEH - ZK%@Z\E’%H&E*U (&
group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) in PREE A ) -%§|\M($%A§E£E*E$@@
response to reasonably possible changes in the ) BRI SIRBEMEE 2 B2
foreign exchange rates to which the group has % -
significant exposure at the balance sheet date

is presented in the following table.

The group rEE
2008 2007
—EENE ZTT+F

Increase/ Effect Increase/ Effect
920 (decrease) on profit (decrease) on loss
= in foreign after tax in foreign after tax
§ exchange and retained exchange  and retained
%; rates profits rates profits
S Ex  HBB% Ex  HRH%
= t#/ ‘“%U&ﬁ /. BERRE
2 (TF) BAzEE (TF) BNz E
8 HK$°000 HK$'000
> TBT FIBTT
% United States dollars, USD ESH 10% (2,672) 10% 520
;g (10%) 2,672 (10%) (520)
S Euro BT 10% (689) 10% 722
= (10%) 689 (10%) (722)
GBP s 10% (1,171) 10% -
(10%) 1,171 (10%) -

The sensitivity analysis has been determined BRED M IRBINEEXRSFNER ALE
assuming that the change in foreign exchange BE WEERARASEETSERRZART
rates had occurred at the balance sheet EZ@TE&?F@Tiéﬁﬂlﬂﬁﬁ}fﬁ&ﬁﬁgﬂA :
date and had been applied to each of the MmATE EMEE CLERFR) HHRFTE o

group entities’ exposure to currency risk for MEBIEERENEE T —EFES %Elﬂzﬂﬁ

both derivative and non-derivative financial FIRINEE R A] RE N IR 2 BB EE) 2 (h5T © %

instruments in existence at that date while all DMTTIAZE R F 2[Rl —EAEHETT o

other variables remains constant. The stated

changes also a represent management’s

assessment of a reasonably possible change

in foreign exchange rates until the next annual

balance sheet date. The analysis is performed

on the same basis for 2007.

At 31 March 2008, the group had forward RZZEZNF=A=+—8 ' XEBEAERBHH
exchange contracts hedging forecast BE & 40 %1 DRI 2 5 B9 2 7 )% 1B 33,0008 7T
transactions with a net fair value of HK$33,000 (ZEBZ+4F : 150,000/87T) BHERAITES
(2007: HK$150,000) recognised as derivative BTA

financial instruments.
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. SHEREREE(E)
(CONTINUED)
d) Interest rate risk d FIREK
The group’s interest rate risk arises primarily AEEmE A REREZETER ZRTE
from the group’s bank deposits and interest- KRETEEE - IZBAE K EFEMEI T 2
bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at BESAEEDAZBSREFNER R RA
variable rates and at fixed rates expose the REMNERER ANEBEWEFEAITESCRTA
group to cash flow interest rate risk and M xERE AEBZFNXESHERES
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The = WERA T o
group does not use financial derivatives to
hedge against the interest rate risk. The
group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out below.
Effective interest rates and repricing ERFEREEER DM
analysis
In respect of income-earning financial assets EERIUBANEREERMESRAGENS
and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the TRETENGEEBRREE LS X 2 HiHskF 5
following table indicates their effective interest H (HRF) B EERFIZE -
rates at the balance sheet date and the periods
in which they reprice or the maturity dates, if
earlier.
The group NEE
2008 2007
-3 )E3 IRRtE
Effective Effective
interest 1 year More than interest 1 year More than
rate Total  orless 1-2years 2-5years  S5years rate Total orless 1-2years  2-byears  Syears
Ehilz 4 1590 1E2f  2E5F  SENE  EEME & 1ERm 1E2F 2E5F  SENLE
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$O000
Tén TEn  TEr  FEr  TEn Tén TEr TEr TEr  TEr
Repricing dates for REBAHER
assets/(iabilities) which ~ 22 &E /(&)
reprice before maturity ~ ZEEEEAH
Cashatbankendinhand 75785 00001%-0.3% 20049 29,049 - - - 01%38% 18116 18116 - - -
Pleciged bank deposits BEERIEH 2,888%-3.33% 1,804 1,804 - - - 07% 3984 3% - - -
Bank overdrafts RiEL 525%555 (2851  (2851) - - - 80% (1389 (1,389 - - -
Bank loans HTER 325%-8311% (15420 (15429 - - - 53%80% (22588  (22589) - - -
12500 12580 - - - (18m (187 - - -
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. SRIERERE(E)
(CONTINUED)
d) Interest rate risk (Continued) d) FI=EER(E)
Effective interest rates and repricing BERFEREEESEZHH (H)
analysis (Continued)
The group (Continued) FEE (&)
2008 2007
“EE0E “T3LE
Effective Effective
interest 1 year More than interest 1year More than
rate Total orless 1-2years 2-5years  Syears rate Total orless  1-2years  2-5years 5 years
92 EEAE 8¢ (EMR 1225 0E5F  sENL  RBAE M (SRR 130F 2858 SENE
HK$000  HKS000 HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
Térn TEn  TEx  TEr  TEn Tér Tér Tér TEr  TiEn

Maturity dates for assets/  fERHBAAER
(iabiities) whichdonot ~ S22 &% /(&%)
reprice before maturity 2 Z/HA
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Deposits with banks Rt 0.0001%-3.15% 33,585 33,585 - - - 01%50% 27042 2082 - = =
Pledged bank deposits BERRIEN 0.0001%-345% 6,544 6,544 - - - 35% 635 635 - - -
Obligations under AERERE
finance leases 4.5% (858) (39) (396) (66) - 66%84% (679 (312 267) = =
39,271 39,733 (396) (66) - 32,788 33085 (267) - -
The company RATF
2008 2007
Z2RNE i
Effective Eflective
interest 1 year More than interest 1 year More than
rate Total  orless 1-2years 2-5years  5years rate Total orless 1-2years  2-byeas  Syears
LUk G 1Fg0h 1E2F 2E5F  SENL O EMME M &R 1E2F 2E5F  GENL
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK§000  HK00D  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TEn  TER  TER  TER  TER TEr  TEr  TEr AL TEn

Repricing dates for assets/ HEHAHHERS
(iabilities) which reprice 22 &% /(&ff)
before maturity ZERRERH
Cashatbankandinhand A RAE 0.0001%-3.15% 23788 23,788 - - - 0.1%-38% 45 45 - - -

23788 23788 - - - 4 4 - - =
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

d)

e)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

At 31 March 2008, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the group’s
profit before tax by approximately HK$519,000
(2007: approximately HK$309,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for the non-
derivative financial liabilities in existence at
that date. The 100 basis points increase
or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change
in interest rates over the period until the next
annual balance sheet date. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2007.

Fair values

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged bank deposits, trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables are not
materially different from the carrying amounts
because of the immediate or short term
maturity of these financial instruments. The
carrying amounts of other financial assets,
bank loans and overdrafts and finance lease
liabilities approximate their fair values.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZT\FZA=Z+—HLEFE

4. TREAREE(HE)

d)

e)

R mk ()
R-ZZBTZNF=ZA=1+—8 " fEEtH=xX
EFBE{EA00MEE 2 ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁ\f‘m“%@ﬁ
R & - AR BB B AR A AS 1L 0, 4
519,000 7T (=T E 4 : £)309,000%7TT) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements B sR&R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)/\E=ZA=+—-HALEFE

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

f) Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods
and assumptions used in estimating the fair
values of financial instruments set out in note
4(e) above.

i) Trading securities
Fair value is based on quoted market
prices at the balance sheet date without
any deduction for transaction costs.

i)  Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings and finance lease
liabilities
The fair value is estimated as the present
value of future cash flows, discounted at
current market interest rates for similar
financial instruments.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 17(a), 18(a) and 28 contain information about
the assumptions and their risk factors relating
to valuation of leasehold land and buildings and
investment properties, fair value of share options
granted and financial instruments. Other key sources
of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

a) Write-down for obsolescence of

inventories

The group determines the write-down for
obsolescence of inventories. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience on selling goods of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a
result of changes in market conditions.

4.

EREMEE (F)

f) DARENMEE
IOt st E E X T 4(e) REIM SR T A
WRRER - FAERNERINEMERR

) EEEER
MAEDRGEEBZTERENE - M
W ENER AR B

i) FEERREFEEURBEEEAE

DMARETDARESBRTENRKRESR
B EmBRITMNEFENREMFEL

flat o
SRt hET R A
fEEF THREMENEZRR

MizE17(a) ~ 18(a) X 28 E AR ABEE L RBFT LK
EMENGEE EXLBERERERTAAREDN
SEMBEFRRREZZER o AR AREEEME
fEZHIRAT

a) REFERR

AREBEREFSOHE - REMHTIRR
TIBIR . MR Y BT {E
- A AR ERTTREETAERE -



b)

c)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
loss of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
and amortised on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives, after taking into
account the estimated residual value. The
group reviews the estimated useful lives of
the assets regularly in order to determine
the amount of depreciation and amortisation
expense to be recovered during the year. The
useful lives are based on the group’s historical
experience with similar assets and taking into
account anticipated technological changes.
The depreciation and amortisation expense for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant
changes from previous estimates.

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indications that fixed assets may be impaired.
The group will review the estimated future cash
flows of the fixed assets regularly in order to
determine whether impairment loss is required.
An impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement whenever the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment loss on trade receivables

The group evaluates whether there is any
objective evidence that trade receivables
are impaired, and determine the amount of
impairment loss as a result of the inability of the
debtors to make required payments. The group
bases the estimates on the ageing of the trade
receivables balance, credit-worthiness, and
historical write-off experience. If the financial
condition of the debtors were to deteriorate,
actual write-offs would be higher than
estimated.

b)

c)

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZE/\F=A=1+—-HLFE
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Y% - BB RRER A RISEER  ©
fAET A ERFRARAEREETTINE R
AEBEMEHNEENRAAIERFY  UE
EFAATREIRTES BN EHMA - A ER
FHMLBREASEHRAREENBELRLE
ZRIEMLIRARMABEMERE W5 EBE
REETEEAEA - REKHE YT E N 365
XBTHE -

NESRIMBE R IIRN B AR BETERRH - A
ERETEERELRBENTR - XEEK
EMERMGEFIRKRSRE - UEERE AR
BRERE - NEENKRESEEEBEE A WE
T8 - AR ETRERRERE -

P& e B X YR (B S 1R
AEEFEELAEOEBRRNEEERD &
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HRRE - ERE MBEMERRIEAMEFTHE
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-ZZ)\FZAZ+—-BHLEFE

5. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

d)

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of
certain transactions. The group carefully
evaluates tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax
treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes
in tax legislations. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for tax losses not yet used and
temporary deductible differences. As those
deferred tax assets can only be recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the unused
tax credits can be utilised, management’s
judgement is required to assess the probability
of future taxable profits. Management’s
assessment is constantly reviewed and
additional deferred tax assets are recognised
if it becomes probable that future taxable
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

SRTHhE R A (&)

fhEt P REMNEZRIF ()

d)

Frig®t
BEERSHEEY IS TR ZNRERBE
BFTER A - AREREF BRI ZORBEE
ENARRIMBGERE - AFXZOHBFE
EMEEFER - Ut RBUANMBEE - &
FEFEIRE EE TY 3t 1m0 K 5 PR A A 755 A5 48 e T 00K
ERRMEER o BRI RJ BE LR AR M1 35
APANRERREELT @ERZFRLENR
HEE @ BEEAFDL A B AT ERREN S
FMEyATgElt - EEEEHIEMNG - HEBH
BERRRER S A RIEER A EEE T AWK
@l - AIZAEREINELEHIBREE



Notes to the Financial Statements B # sk R M zE

TURNOVER

The principal activities of the group are trading of
vehicles, machinery, equipment, yachts, spare parts
and provision of engineering services.

Turnover represents the sales value of goods
supplied to customers, service income and
commission income. The amount of each significant
category of revenue recognised in turnover during the
year is as follows.

Sales of goods BEmiHE
Service income BRIFUTA
Commission income HEIA

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

AEECEIRZXBEREEER HaEs RE &

i~ EHARIEH TIZRTS -

LXFERHEEFEMmZHEEEE  RBEVRAR
BEWA - EFABRRLEXBIZRER KSR
BZ8EmT -

2008 2007
—EBENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiBT
274,385 186,344
16,862 15,333
7,618 12,747
298,865 214,424
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)\E=ZA=+—HLEFE

7. OTHER REVENUE AND NET INCOME 7. Hi A R E b i 558
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Other revenue Hen A
Interest income from bank HRITAL WA 1,120 2,252
Total interest income on financial assets 3FZA 2 (BB BIERFI8E 2 1,120 2,252
not at fair value through profit or loss &Rt &ZE 2§ S W A 4858
Gross rental income from TEMERS WA B
investment properties 1,816 1,739
98 Management fee income ERERA 120 =
Dividend income from FESZRBIRA
g listed securities 13 22
z Compensation income (Note 7 (a)) BEEWA (FiFE7(a)) 1,710 =
> Others Hoth 107 367
o
C
% 4,886 4,380
o () The compensation income of approximately (a)  ESIHEFF#1,710,00087C 3 5L 48 11 B SE B (7 55 )%
;.> HK$1,710,000 was received from a customer for E#IRBUARIBEZMHERZ AN E —EFF -
g termination of a contract in relation to the distribution and
o after sales service and related spare parts provided by
g the group.
S
S Other net income Hith s 7F 58
[e0)
Net exchange gain P& 5 W e 558 6,482 514
Net loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BE R&iEEIEFE
plant and equipment (219) (817)
Gain on disposal of investment HERE Y 2 W
properties 884 -
Net gain on sale of trading HEEEES 2 W F58
securities 269 106
Net unrealised (loss)/gain on AWARBESRCEERESHZ
trading securities REH (E1B) W F58
carried at fair value (25) 62

7,391 365
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 8. MBIAEA(F5E)
Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after BRIADEF (B8 B (GTA) THI&E !
charging/(crediting):
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
a) Finance costs a) RBERA:
Interest on bank advances ARAFAEEN
and bank borrowings RITRFRKIRIT
repayable within five years BEHFE 1,882 1,172
Interest on bank advances ARAFERERN
and bank borrowings RITRFRKIRIT -
repayable after five years BEENFE 389 485 s
Finance charges on b E T EAIER
obligations under H5E R
finance leases 76 92 §
ol
Total interest expense on financial A EEBBRIIRZ -
liabilities not at fair value through TRIBBNE R AR N
profit or loss 2,347 1,749 2
_FH‘
b) Staff costs (including b) EBIRAK(BIEEZEHMH) -
director’s remuneration)
Contributions to defined TE R SR RET I 5K
contribution retirement plans 1,335 1,319
Equity-settled share-based AR S S HIBRA R SR X
payment expenses 543 327
Salaries, wages and other e IERHMER
benefits 27,768 21,305

29,646 22,951
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 8. KRBIADEF(E5E) (&)

(CONTINUED)

2008 2007
—EEN\E —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRT FAET
c) Otheritems c) HfEA:
Amortisation of land TR & B RS
lease premium 24 20
Depreciation e
— assets held for own use —REREHE
under finance leases HIEERZEE 207 377
- — other assets —HEE 4,082 3,251
g Impairment losses on R LS R LA KR IR
3 trade and other receivables ZR(EEE 633 531
@ Impairment losses on due FEUH R B B R IE
£ from jointly controlled ZR(EEE
5 entities 1,099 -
5 Increase in provision EREREEE N
. for warranty costs 6 24
> Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN &
5 — audit services — 2R 932 900
P — other services — H A AR 133 47
H Net loss/(gain) on forward REBIMNES 4T
3 foreign exchange contracts B8, (W) 58 183 (927)
= Operating lease charges in BRAMEREHEER -
respect of properties:
— minimum lease payments — KRS FE 2,287 2,678
Rentals from KEMEHER
investment properties H R 49,0008 7T
less direct outgoings —ZT L4 1 79,00077T)
of HK$49,000
(2007: HK$79,000) (1,767) (1,660)
Cost of inventories (note 21(b)) FERA (KiEE21() 233,202 169,132
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. E=EMeE
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to BRIEEB(AREANE 161 BT RENEZESME
section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance S &
is as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme Share- 2008
Directors’ inkind Discretionary contributions hased total
fees £ R bonuses UGE] Sub-total payments JEIE
EShe EhnE 248 fitzt it B it
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$1000
Th7 Th7 Th7 Té7 Té7 Té7 Té7
(Note)
(&)
Executve directors #Es §
Li Song ¥iao (appointed on IR (N-E5+E i
211901007 hAB=t+-BEER) - 168 - - 168 - 168
Yuan Kun (appointed on TE(R-EEtE ﬁ
21/9/2007) NA=T-REZR) - 125 - - 125 - 125 &
Lu Zrao Qun fappointed on EME(R-53tE .
21/0/2007) NA=T-REZR) - 49 - 3 500 4 5471 S
Song Xuen (appointed on FE(W-55tE R
21/9/2007) ARZt-REER) - - - - - - - &
Fong Kt Weh, Alan resigned HRERCTECE
on 11/10/2007 TAT-RER) - 1001 - 6 1007 121 1128
Rourke James Grerson Rourke James Grierson (1=
[esigned on 11/10/2007) SRLETAT-BRA) - 3% - 6 34 4 39
Cheung Mu Sin resigned on ROUR-T5cE
19/102007) +AT-BEf) - 24 - 6 240 4 287
Independentnon-executive  BUFHAES
directors
Gao Lig (appointed on BR(R-TRLE
21/9/2007) ARZt-REER) 0 - - - 0 - 0
Cui Yong (appointed on EB(N_3%tE
21/9/2007) ARZt-REER) 0 - - - 0 - 0
Zhang QgL (opoitedon~—~~ REM(A-F5+E
110/2007) TAt-REZE) 60 - - - 80 - i)
Wong Man Chung, Francis ENR(N-EDtE
[esigned on 11/10/2007) +AT-BEf) 5 - - - 5 4 101
ChanTing Knong [esinedon IR (R -B% 4
11/102007) +AT-BEf) 5 - - - 5 4 101
Fung Su Wan, St BIE(R-T5LE
[esigned on 11/10/2007) +AT-BEf) 5 - - - 5 4 101
Non-executive director HifEs
YinJe o - - - - - f a
342 2,381 - Al 2744 450 3,194
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)\E=ZA=+—HLEFE

9.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Executive directors
Fong Kit Wah, Alan
Rourke James Grierson
Cheung Miu Sin

Independent non-executive
directors

Wong Man Chung, Francis

Chan Ting Kwong

Fung Siu Wan, Stella

Non-executive director
Yin Jie

9. E=EMe(E
Selares,
alowances
and bengfits Retirement
nkind scheme Share- 207
Diectors 6 Discefionery contrbutons based fotdl
fogs 2R bonuses S Stb-ttal nayments ERtE
FEL i [ {3t It WR%H )
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn
(Note)
(k)
HiTES
hE - 2,065 220 12 2,297 73 2,370
Rourke James Grigrson - 832 50 12 894 28 922
Al - 488 65 12 565 28 593
BUkHTES
BXR 102 - - - 102 28 130
BREx 102 - - - 102 28 130
BOE 102 - - - 102 28 130
FHTES
BA - - - - - 28 28
306 3,385 335 36 4,062 241 4,303

Note: These represent the estimated value of share options
granted to the directors under the company’s share
option scheme. The value of these share options is
measured according to the group’ s accounting policies
for share-based payment transactions as set out in note

2.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the
principal terms and number of options granted, are
disclosed under the paragraph “Share option scheme”
in the directors” report and note 28.

Hret - WETIERRIBA R RIHBRAES SR TESBREA4ET
{B(E - 55 LB BB R B E IR IR 20 (i) FTE 5 A R

MBS MRS G BERE

ZEEYH S (BRERHBRENERGREEE) 2
FHENEREG WG [BEETS] — R RME28KE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements B # sk R M zE

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
three (2007: three) are directors whose emoluments
is disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the other two (2007: two)
individuals are as follows:

Salaries and other emoluments e KEMM S
Discretionary bonuses B TEIEAL
Share-based payments BARRAD 324

Retirement scheme contributions RONGTEIE TR

The emoluments of the two (2007: two) individuals
with the highest emoluments are within the following
band:

HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000

10.

T T E 1,000,000 87T

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

B = # A B A =

ERfismEHMENALH = (ZFTLF: =

) REE  AENMESFBENMEI - Hex—fU
(ZZZ5F : M) @R ALHMEEENT -

2008 2007
—EBENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiBT
1,071 1,218

345 65

47 28

12 12

1,475 1,323

Z M (ZFTLF : M) B ALOHBMESEIAT
HER :

Number of individuals

A
2008 2007
—BEN\F  FELE
2 2
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Notes to the Financial Statements B iR &R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)\E=ZA=+—HLEFE

11.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT

a) Taxation in the consolidated income
statement represents:

11.

RiFE W R ZFEHR

a) REEWERZBER:

2008 2007
—EENF —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FAT
Current tax - Hong Kong REATIE - FBFEH
profits tax
Provision for the year REG AR 22 107
Current tax - PRC income tax AHi%{18 — B 5%
Provision for the year NEF LR 2,187 271
2,209 378
Deferred tax B IE
Origination and reversal of TRMER 2 EL KERD
temporary differences 32 477)
2,241 (99)

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for
2008 is calculated at 17.5% (2007: 17.5%) of
the estimated assessable profits for the year.
PRC taxation is charged at the appropriate
current rate of taxation ruling in the PRC.

A foreign-invested enterprise of the company’s
subsidiary was subject to mainland China
enterprise income tax rate of 33% in 2007.
Another foreign-invested enterprise of the
company’s subsidiary was subject to mainland
China preferential income tax rate of 15%
and entitled to 50% reduction for three years
after first two profitable years. Therefore, the
subsidiary was subject to mainland China
enterprise income tax rate of 7.5%.

R N\FREZEAENERERDEZFE
ZEETERB G MIZ175% ( —FTF L5
17.6%) VLR E - EIBIRAZ P BEIRTTE
RAREGE -

KTTLF  ARARBLATZ —FIER
0 2 B 33% 2 o B A 10 S B M
B o AAFMBARZ S—RIERAR LA
215% 2 o B A LA BB + 3 B
BRI 2 6 = BT - Lt -
S 2 W27 5% 2 b LA B (b S TR B
B o
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 11. REEWRERZFEH (&)
INCOME STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
a) Taxation in the consolidated income a) REEWEXRZHIES @ (F)
statement represents: (continued)
On 16 March 2007, the People’s Republic of —EELF=H+ B AEARANBEE
China promulgated the Law of the People’s 635 R EE AR ﬁlirvﬁﬁﬁ¢$AE
Republic of China on Enterprise Income MBEEMEFE) ([FFE]) - RZEE L
Tax (the “New Law”) by Order No. 63 of the F+=AKA8 $!lﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁizﬁﬁ
President of the People’s Republic of China. 16150 o R K B e 6 51 16 76 2= B3 33% & &
On 6 December 2007, the State Council of the 25%  BZET ) N\F—H— AT - ¥EH
PRC issued Implementation Regulations of the H AR AR Bl 2 A 2 FE AR B vt KR 15% 2 Tt R B
New Law. The New Law and Implementation TEMBRIMNBRARIME @ ZREHFZE B
Regulations will change the tax rate from BEE25% ZEAKE - BZTTN\F—H—H
33% to 25% from 1 January 2008. For the REFETT ©
subsidiary which was subject to a corporate
income tax at a rate of 15% on its assessable
profits arising in the PRC, effective on 1
January 2008, such tax rate will gradually
transit to the applicable tax rate of 25%.
b) Reconciliation between tax expense/ b) HEXH (Ex) EBREAMETENER
(credit) and accounting profit/(loss) at R (E18) HER -
applicable tax rates:
2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREZATE R, (E5E) 9,031 2,702)
Notional tax on profit/(loss) BRE AT R, (B18) 2
before taxation, calculated BEBIE - REAR
at the rates applicable to Al (E518) K948
profits/(loss) in the BIRBRAE
jurisdictions concerned 2,076 (741)
Tax effect of non-deductible AR S H A TR IR R 2
expenses 1,018 729
Tax effect of non-taxable BARBIWARNTHIEZE
income (2,067) (1,450)
Tax effect of unused tax RIERKEATRIA
losses not recognised EENHIETE 1,729 1,292
Utilization of previously ARTERZHIBER
recognised tax losses (515) =
Others At - 71
Actual tax expense/(credit) BERFELH () 2,241 (99)
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12. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY

13.

SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the company includes a loss of
HK$4,777,000 (2007: HK$2,408,000) which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the
company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the company’s
profit for the year.

Amount of consolidated loss

12.

attributable to equity shareholders B AELGE
dealt with in the company’s il

financial statements

Final dividend from subsidiary
attributable to the profit of the
previous financial year, approved
and paid during the year

Company’s profit for the year (note 32) 7 &) HY A Z i F) (B 5E 32)

DIVIDENDS

a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the company attributable to the year:
The Board does not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the year ended 31 March
2008 (2007: Nil).

13.

AT RERFE ARG RF

AARIBREFEAEBGGEEBERREEIALR
AIBFS R R B4,777,0008 TEB( T+ F
2,408,000787T) °

A ESBRRARRANE RN SRR -

SIARR B F ¥R AR

@R B R s AP (R
MBARREES  ERN
F A R ST A

2008 2007
—EBENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx AT
(4,777) (2,408)
18,000 6,500
13,223 4,092
BRE

a) AFERNFAFARESEEAZRE:

EreTEamMBE_—_TE\F=A=1+—H
HEERNEARE(ZFFLF: F) -
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13. DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED) 13. BRE (&)
b) Dividend payable to equity shareholders of b) HE—REMBRFEFEESEATRESEEARE
the company attributable to the previous (EREABHAERZT) :
financial year, approved and paid during
the year:
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Final dividend in respect of the ¥} = —1{E 8 B & E A9 R Hf
previous financial year, 1% B AT mAR
approved and paid during (BEREFERERERZ M)
the year, of nil cent per (ZZZTLF : SREBIR1BW) 07
ordinary share (2007:
1 HK cent per ordinary share) - 2,800 g
i
14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 14. SREF(&HH)
i
a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share a) BREXEF(FHR) Z,
The calculation of the basic earnings per BREARBFNTDRARB LT BRRERE A .
share is based on the profit attributable to FE1R % 7,104,000 T ( Z 2T+ F : B N
ordinary equity shareholders of the company of 2,735,000/ 7T ) & F A B 17 284,845,000 ?H%
HK$7,104,000 (2007: loss of HK$2,735,000) BTEBARZINETHSH(ZZEZ L F: e
and the weighted average number of 280,154,000 ix &%) 5t E -
HK$284,845,000 ordinary shares (2007:
280,154,000 ordinary shares) in issue during
the year.
2008 2007
—EEN\F T LF
Number of Number of
shares shares
R EE & EE
’000 ‘000
Fh% TFh&
Issued ordinary shares RUA—BHEZEITERRK
at 1 April 280,850 280,000
Effect of share options 1TiERERRIE 2 522 (FsE 31(0))
exercised (note 31(b)) 3,995 154
Weighted average number R=A=+—HB%1T
of ordinary shares at LR NAE 2R

31 March 284,845 280,154
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14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
(CONTINUED)

b)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share
is based on the profit attributable to ordinary
equity shareholders of the company of
HK$7,104,000 and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 288,890,000

ZREF(FHR) (&)

b)

SRBERF(BE)
BEREEANDEARAEBREERE A
J& 15 )4 7,104,000/ 7T I & 3@ AX mn 4 ¥ 15
£7288,890,000 x5t & - HNEBEEEBKRAR
BEYWE SATREEEZE_TTLF=A
=+ RUEFEZSERHEEER -

shares. Diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 March 2007 has not been disclosed
as the impact of the potential ordinary shares is
anti-dilutive.

Weighted average number of &R INEFHH
ordinary shares

2008 2007
s —ETN\FE  —ETLE
s Number of Number of
- shares shares
g BRHEE & EE
- ’000 ‘000
% TR TFH
z Weighted average number of R=A=+—HB2
5 ordinary shares at 31 March AR NN S 2R 284,845 280,154
Y Effect of deemed issue of RIEUNZRERELRRF
§ shares under the company’s RS RERT BB T
N share option scheme for Binz &8
& nil consideration 4,045 N/A 3
Weighted average number of R=A=+—H2
ordinary shares (diluted) L imARNAE
at 31 March FHE(BEEE) 288,890 N/A N AR




Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

SEGMENT REPORTING 15. D EPFHRE

Segment information is presented in respect of DEER TR EAEENER MRS EBE R - 2
the group’s business and geographical segments. BOMERDHREAFIEZINLR - REAHEKE
Business segment information is chosen as the B H R 2B B 7% BB SR A 4R T o

primary reporting format because this is more
relevant to the group’s internal financial reporting.

a) Business segments a) HEBH
The group comprises the following main AEBBESUTEBERS I
business segments:
Sales and distribution:  the trading of airport SUE T SSRGS . MOISHI SN RS
group support Bl RNFE C BERIE
equipment, railway MBS o

maintenance

equipment, coaches, (0]2)
trucks and yachts.
=
Provision of engineering the provision of IR TR R R TR RIEE ;ﬁ
services and sales of engineering services HETH FEo
spare parts: and sales of spare %
parts S
el
Provision of -
engineering services and =
sales of spare parts &
Sales and distribution ERTERR Unallocated Consolidated il
HERA RgESH FARER & B
2008 2007 208 2007 208 2007 2008 207
cEEE CER4E CEERNE CERYE DR CRRtE DEIRE CRRME

HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$§'000 HK$ 000 HK§'000 HKS 000
7 TEL 7 TEL Ti7 AL TR AL

Revenus fiom exterml customers RESRER A 26,85 164464 62,580 4990 - - 298,865 214,424
Other revenue fiom extemal customers RanfERF LA - - - - 3,766 218 3,766 21%
Totdl g 236,285 164,464 62,580 49,960 3,766 2128 302,631 216,552
Seqment resuls Az 9,960 2176 1,680 2318 11,640 4404
Inerestincome HESA 1,120 205
Unalocated operatng Inoome and expenses FORZBENERER (1,389 7699
Proft/Joss) flom opertions e/ (58 11378 (b
Finance costs BERA (2347) (1,749
Tasafion B (2241) 9%
Proft/Joss afertax kR () 6,790 (2609
Depreciaion and amortisation for the year KEFNERES 234 197 25 128 1714 1,683

Wrte-cown of inventories s ‘ 3126 180 - 1,167 - -

Impaimentlosses on frade recavables ElGERRER 633 214 - 37 - -

Segment assels AEE 187,884 161672 31,284 21,568 29,118 183,240
Unalocated assets FORZEE 65,069 472
Total assels BEfE 284,187 24,91
Segment iabites DE: 1 124,881 91,427 2,27 1,703 146,168 103,130
Unallocated fbities FARZBE 16,331 15,240
Total labilties AEOE 162,499 118370

Captal expendiure incured curing the year KERELVERRR 6,53 11,545 198 191 1,48 20%
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Notes to the Financial Statements B8Rzt

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)/\F=ZA=1+—HLFE

b)

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 15. DEHE (M)
Geographical segments b) H#HEZSE
The group’s business is managed on a REFRNEIREE 2 BEEEET - HEP
worldwide basis, but participates in four EEEZLERRLE -
principal economic environments.
In presenting information on the basis of LAHBIE S P AR E L TEREE - 5 ZBULA TiR
geographical segments, segment revenue BEPFEZHEZT] - HEEERERFHZ A
is based on the geographical location of WIEEEZTEMREES -
customers. Segment assets and capital
expenditure are based on the geographical
location of the assets.
The United States
Hong Kong Other parts of the PRC of America Europe Others Consolidated
L5 HEERAE S| Bl i 5a
2008 207 208 07 208 001 2008 007 208 007 2008 207
I230\E RRME C3BNE IRRE CEIE RRME IR\ IIRE C33\F IRRCR D3I\ RRME
HKSO00 ~ HKSOD0  HKSO00 ~ HKSOOD  HKSOO0 — HKSOOD  HKS000 ~ HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSO0O

TRr | A TR TR TR TR TRT T TR TR TR | TEn
Revene rom extemal customers RENRERZHA 3406 0609 4092 159548 2512 AN 25669 174 6 208665 214424
Segment assefs AEE 1625% 166019 121,651 56942 - - - N8 24%1
Cptalexpenchure ncured durng e AEREAEAER 0 36 BT 108 - - - 138




16.

Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

INTEREST IN LEASEHOLD LAND HELD FOR 16.
OWN USE UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The group

Cost
At 1 April 2006
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2007

At 1 April 2007
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2008

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2006

Exchange adjustments
Charge for the year

At 31 March 2007

At 1 April 2007
Exchange adjustments
Charge for the year

At 31 March 2008

Net book value
At 31 March 2008

At 31 March 2007

for the year ended 31 March 2008

BE-_ZE\E=B=1+—-HLEE

FEE ANRERQN L bER

REH
R
RZEZTFNA—H
[ R
R-ETZ+FE=H=+—H
R=_EZ+FMWA—H
VB SRR
R-ZBEENF=A=+—H
E-5E:
RZZTZFNA—A
[E SRR
REFEFHR
R_EZE+F=A=+—H
R-ZZE+FMA—H
[ R
AFEEFHE
R-ZEENF=F=+—H

The interests in leasehold land for own use under
operating leases represent prepaid operating lease
payments in the PRC under medium-term lease
which were amortised over the lease term of 50

years on a straight-line basis.

RIS AR B A RE RS E B R EY
RRETHKIETAR K

HK$’000
THET

1,025
58
1,083

1,083
106

1,189

41
20
65
65
24

95

1,094

1,018

REMRH LR R
IABOSF VIR K BAA B AR EHE BH -
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-ZZ)\FZAZ+—-BLEFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y¥ - RERZE

The group REE
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and
buildings equlpment Motor  Construction
HAELTH FE BE vehicles in progress Total
REgF RERRE RE REIR @5t
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
FET TET T THT THET
Cost or valuation BAREE
At 1 April 2006 RZET FNA—A 18,975 13,143 2,779 112 35,009
Additions e = 2,193 1,094 9,944 13,831
Transfer from construction in progress BRATETR 6,245 2,393 - (8,638) -
Disposals s - (1,543) (883) - (2,426)
Surplus on revaluation 13 2,877 - - - 2,877
Less: Elimination of accumulated depreciation i : Wﬁﬁf‘%uﬂﬁ% (380) = = = (380)
1 2 Exchange difference B 5t %= 153 229 23 38 443
> At 31 March 2007 R=TZ+F=A=1—H 27,870 17,015 3,013 1,456 49,354
[9)
£ Representing K&
2 Cost A - 17,015 3,013 1,456 21,484
@ Valuation - 2007 HE-ZTTLF 27,870 - - - 27,870
o
C
-:i 27,870 17,015 3,013 1,456 49,354
=
= At 1 April 2007 R=FZ+FNA—H 27,870 17,015 3,013 1,456 49,354
& Additions NE - 2,610 1,747 3,624 7,981
= Disposals diE - (2,927) (1,621) = (4,548)
= Surplus on revaluation BHAH% 5,465 - - - 5,465
= Less: Elimination of accumulated depreciation it : M RHTE (573) - - - (573)
2 Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35) Yok —H MT% An] (HizE35) - 31 - = 31
& Disposal of subsidiaries (note 33) ﬁ’ﬂﬁ% ] (3£ 33) - 232) - - 232)
B Disposal of jointly controlled entities (note 34)  HHEHR %‘l*’%@ (FfizE34) - (266) = = (266)
= Exchange difference EHEE 788 599 55 143 1,585
o
8 At 31 March 2008 R=ZTZ/\E=R=1—H 33,550 16,830 3,194 5,223 58,797
Representing K&
Cost 5% = 16,830 3,194 5,223 25,247
Valuation - 2008 HE-—FSNF 33,550 = = = 33,550
33,550 16,830 3,194 5,223 58,797
Accumulated depreciation i n‘l'?ﬁﬁ
At 1 April 2006 —ZTT,FMA—-A = 7,023 1,247 - 8,270
Charge for the year ir TR 380 2,520 728 - 3,628
Written back on disposal T E R = (732) 278) - (1,010)
Less: Elimination of accumulated depreciation ~ Ji : s 25HTE (380) - - - (380)
Exchange difference ERER - 63 10 - 73
At 31 March 2007 R-EZtF=fA=+—H = 8,874 1,707 - 10,581
At 1 April 2007 RZZEZ+FNA—H - 8,874 1,707 - 10,581
Charge for the year ZK¢F e 573 2,941 775 - 4,289
Written back on disposal HERRD = (2,155) (925) = (3,080)
Less: Elimination of accumulated depreciation ), M%ﬁ%ﬁr}ﬁ% (573) - - - (573)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 33) dER B AR (i 33) - (217) = = (217)
Disposal of jointly controlled entities (note 34) & Rz %‘Lﬁ‘%ﬁ (HizE34) - (34) - - (34)
Exchange difference R - 156 31 - 187
At 31 March 2008 RZTZ\F=A=1—H = 9,565 1,588 - 11,153
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2008 RZZZN\F=A=+—H 33550 7,265 1,606 5,223 47,644
At 31 March 2007 R=FZ+F=A=1+—H 27,870 8,141 1,306 1,456 38,773




for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZER/\F=A=1+—-HLFE

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
HE - B
HERZE
HK$'000
THT
Cost oS
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007 RZZEZERFMA—H —TZT+F=H
and 1 April 2007 = +t—BE=ZZEZTLFHHA—H -
Additions V=S 116
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=A=+—H 116
Accumulated depreciation 2L E
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007 RZZBEZRFHA—H —ZF+F=H
and 1 April 2007 =T —HRERZZEZELFMA—H -
Charge for the year REEFHR 12
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=HA=+—H 12
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2008 RZZEENF=A=+—H 104
At 31 March 2007 RZZEZELF=A=+—H -
a) The group’s leasehold land and buildings a AEENHEELHWIMEFER=ZZZTNF=A

were revalued as at 31 March 2008 either
on an open market value basis calculated
by reference to market price of recent sale
transactions in the relevant markets or
on a depreciated replacement cost basis
calculated by reference to the current cost of
replacement of a property less deductions for
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of
obsolescence and optimisation. The valuations
were carried out by an independent firm of
surveyors, Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns
Limited, who has among their staff members
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued. The
revaluation surplus of HK$200,000 (2007:
deficit HK$160,000) for the group’s leasehold
land and buildings has been credited or
charged to the consolidated income statement
during the year. The revaluation surplus of
HK$5,265,000 (2007: HK$3,037,000) for the
group’s leasehold land and buildings has been
transferred to the revaluation reserve (note 32),
net of deferred tax (note 29(b)).

The carrying amount of the leasehold land
and buildings of the group at 31 March 2008
would have been HK$19,677,000 (2007:
HK20,129,000) had they been carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation.

_+ HAZBREEMSNRIOIEERSN™
EmstEN AR EEESARBRYE B Al
BERARERBERER —HRBEAZREN
BlEMTENITEEENANEELEITERN ° Z
IEWEEE BB B ERMT R EETRMAAR
RE(ERETARSIEMEee 8 RYH
HEMERNI 2L IR A TG EAER) #TT
B AEENAETHEETASHRA
200,000 T ( Z =T £ F : & 41160,000/%8
J0)  ERFRFTARIBREGERER - &
SEM L RIEFHE (G &4 5,265,000 7% 7T
—ZTT L4 : 3,037,000/ 7T ) PR HIRR IR T IE
(MI7E29(0)) 12 BB FE = S & (FisE32) °

RUNZA & B A& £ 3y R A8 F Z IR A AR =
2 ERAKR  AEEHEL M REFR
—EENFZA=+t—HNEEEEEA
19,677,0007%8 7t (= ZF =+ F : 20,129,000/
JC) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7 sR&R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-ZZ)\FZAZ+—-BLEFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

b)

The analysis of net book value of leasehold
land and building

In Hong Kong BB
— medium-term leases —H S
In the PRC =8
— long-term leases —RAHEE
— medium-term leases —HHHEE

Property, plant and equipment

In addition to the leasehold land and buildings
classified as being held under a finance lease
in note (b) above, the group leases certain
fixed assets under finance leases expiring from
one to three years. At the end of the lease
term the group has an option to purchase the
fixed assets at a price deemed to be a bargain
purchase option. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

During the year, additions to property, plant
and equipment of the group financed by new
finance leases were HK$1,180,000 (2007:
HK$938,000). At the balance sheet date,
the net book value of property, plant and
equipment held under finance leases of the
group was HK$973,500 (2007: HK$813,500).

The obligations under finance leases is
disclosed in note 27.

17. 9% - BERHRE (H)

b)

HEL W RET ZREFHEDNTT

2008 2007
—BEN\F  —FELE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T Tt
17,000 13,800
7,950 6,070
8,600 8,000
33,550 27,870

e I G

BT EXHIEE (o) S AARERERANEE
THREFI AEEBEBR —FE=FRZ|
HrmEEeERETREEEE - £ HEHR
rERE - AEBERNEEERBEABBETEE
E - BEERMEHENITESAME -

FRAEBUTBREREREESEARS
1,180,000 7T (== Z -4 : 938,000 7T) °
REEH  AEENRERERENYE K
B KR EHNEREFE A 973,500/8 T (— T+
£ 813,50087T) °

B E S AR M 27 IR o
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REWE
The group
REE
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETHEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 April A — 22,600 21,410
Disposals HE (16,800) -
Fair value adjustment N EFE 960 1,190
At 31 March R=A=+—H 6,760 22,600
a) The group’s investment properties were a) NEBMHIEEYERR —EE ) \E=F=+— 15
revalued as at 31 March 2008 either on HUZRBREETENSIMEER BHTEmat
an open market value basis calculated by AT SR ARBYE Y BRTEER %
reference to market price of recent sale NREEEER —EEER 2 EE kBT 511??
transactions in the relevant markets or HEMITEEE R ALERETEG o g%;ﬂﬁﬁ
on a depreciated replacement cost basis h— BT ERTAMAEREA =
calculated by reference to the current cost of (EETAEANEMMEee s LY pﬁ{fﬂ@% ?”
replacement of a property less deductions for 04 4 BE T 4F B A T RS (B AR BR ) AT EE (Y o .
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of N2 E S A ) 2 K E 14 B84 960,000 5 78 (— N
obsolescence and optimisation. The valuations TT 4 :1,190,00087T) BEFAAEE LS ®
were carried out by an independent firm of Wz o Q
surveyors, Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns
Limited, who has among their staff members
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with
recent experience in the location and category
of property being valued. The revaluation
surplus of HK$960,000 (2007: HK$1,190,000)
for the group’s investment properties has been
credited to the consolidated income statement
during the year.
b)  The analysis of net book value of properties is b) PEEmMTESTMOT
as follows
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETHEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
In Hong Kong BB
— medium-term leases —H S - 16,800
In the PRC ==
— long-term leases —KHHE 2,770 2,300
— medium-term leases —HHHE 3,990 3,500
6,760 22,600
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 18. REW¥E (&
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Investment properties leased out under
operating leases

The group leases out investment properties
under operating leases. The leases typically run
for an initial period of one to three years, with
an option to renew the lease after that date at
which time all terms are renegotiated. None of
the leases includes contingent rentals.

The gross carrying amounts of investment
properties of the group held for use in
operating leases were HK$6,760,000 (2007:
HK$22,600,000).

All properties held under operating leases
that would otherwise meet the definition
of investment property are classified as
investment property.

The group’s total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating
leases are receivable as follows:

c)

MR EHEHNNREYE

AEBNGEEHERDREY R - GLHE—
MULFRA—FE=F WEAEEERET
HIRRERN  ERAAGRTEAENEZ - &
AREHES T EEAESE -

AEBHEREKLEHERENREDERN
iR M 42 18 456,760,0008 T( —Z T & + F:
22,600,000 7T) ©

AEMEAMTERENEERNNEEHE
RANMBYEEGESIEYE -

AEERBETAIRELEHEN A RERN R
EEEFEENT

2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#BT T
Within 1 year —FRQ 230 1,586
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA 221 =
451 1,586
19. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. MfiBAEER
The company
RN F]

2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEBT T
Unlisted shares, at cost Ik ERR D (A AR) 59,263 59,263
Amounts due from subsidiaries R VNGIE ¢ 24,892 32,744
84,155 92,007




Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-ZZ/\F=ZA=+—-HLEFE

19. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 19. KB AR (E

FEUPM B R RIS AR - B REREEE -

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

TREFINEZHAKENER EEXREAY
ENMBARIFE - BRREEAEIN  AHAENK

The following list only contains the particulars of the
subsidiaries which principally affected the results,

assets or liabilities of the group. The class of shares D18 AT @A -
held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.
Particulars of
issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/
establishment capital
Name of company and operation contribution
Ry BERTR Proportion of Principal
BIR BRRA/ ownership interest activity 17
RAER EXibE HERER RARERLY TEER
Direct Indirect %
B M @
Yardway Development Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI)/ US$10,000 100% - Investment holding ot
Hong Kong 10,000%7T RERR B
AERLES/ b
&t -
-
Yardway Limited Hong Kong HK$10,110 = 100%  Trading of vehicles, S
RNERAR Bk (divided into 10 machinery and parts and o
ordinary shares and provision of il
10,100 non-voting engineering services =
deferred shares of BEAE -
HK$1 each BERSH
(Note (a) IR AR
10,1107 TiEft
(PB10EER
[ ERRE g
LRRR
10,100 REREE
1B ERRE
BER) (Wi @)
Yardway Motors Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Trading of motor vehicles
RMEEERAR Bk 10,0007 7T and spare parts and
provision of services
EEfE
REH
AR AR
Yardway Logistics Equipment PRC HK$10,000,000 - 100%  Trading of transportation and
(Zhuhai) Company Limited (Note (b)) 10,000,000/7C logistics related equipment
(*Yardway Zhuhal') H HEEER
RRmREE CRE) (Wit ) el
ERAE(RR%E]) R
Yardway Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 - 75%  Design and installation of product
RNERER AR 0 2,000,0007C (Note (d) line and the provision of related
(Hrit(d) after sale service
Rt REEEERR

RERBERRS
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19. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 19. B A RIRELE (&)
Particulars of
issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/
establishment capital
Name of company and operation contribution
RiAYe BRTR Proportion of Principal
BRI BRRA/ ownership interest activity
NRER i HERER BARRERLA TRER
Direct Indirect
HE 553
Yardway Advance Power Equipment (Beiing) ~ PRC RMB3,000,000 - 100%  Trading of spare parts and
Co Ltd (“Yardway Beijing’) (Note (c)) AR%3,000,0007C provision of services
RNARE R (R BRAA il BEZTMHI R MRS
(TRRMtR]) (Wit ()
Joy Win Ltd BVI Us$100 = 100%  Investment holding
18 KBRLES 1007 AR
'f Sinotruck Limited Hong Kong HK$2 = 100%  Trading of vehicles and
e HRERER AR i 28T spare parts
< EEEWREN
@
g Yardway Dredging Equipment Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Trading and manufacturing of
— (formerly known as “Vosta LMG Yardway B 10,000/87C dredging equipment,
3. (HK) Limited”) (Note 20(c)) components and provision
o) (B8 [Vosta LMG Yardway for services in Hong Kong
. (HK) Limited ) (4122 201¢)) EEREE REEIARBRADN
> WRIRERT
=)
o] Golden Leo Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Inactive
Y Eib 13T 100% - Ex%
he)
o
- Winsum Investment Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI")/ HK$1 100% - Inactive
S Hong Kong 15T BER
[es]

HERARE/
Bk
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19. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

a)

In accordance with the Articles of Association of
Yardway Limited, holders of non-voting deferred shares
are entitled to share profit of the company when the
profit exceeds HK$1,000,000 million in any financial
year. In accordance with the Articles of Association of
Yardway Limited, holders of non-voting deferred shares
are entitled to share profit of the company when the
profit exceeds HK$1,000,000 million in any financial year.
On a return of assets on winding up or otherwise the
assets of the company to be returned shall be distributed
as regards the first HK$5,000,000,000 thereof among
the holders of ordinary shares and one half of the
balance of such assets shall belong to and be distributed
among the holders of the non-voting deferred shares
and the other half thereof to and among the holders of
the ordinary shares.

Yardway Zhuhai is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
established in mainland China to operate for 20 years up
to 2022.

Yardway Beijing is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
established in mainland China to operate for 20 years up
to 2026.

On 22 April 2008 the Group acquired the remaining
25% interest from Lin Yu Chung, the shareholder and
director of the subsidiary, for a consideration of HK$1.8
per share amounting to HK$900,000 (Note 39). The
consideration paid was approximate to the fair value of
net assets acquired. In the opinion of the directors, there
was no material profit and loss effect on the acquisition.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-ZZ/\F=ZA=+—-HLEFE

19. MiBAal#E= (E)

Hit -

RRENERAG 2 ERMA - & ANAF R E IR
F [Z /)% 1 &8 H 1,000,000,000,000 7% 7o b - &% 224
BIERFEAGEED R - BRERMNERARCER
#H A - & AT B B S E s A 8 #8 1,000,000,000,000 7
T BEREEETERMZIEEAGRESRRRZ5HE
Fl e RARBBEEMEEEERANARAEEMEREME
EEER  B5,000,000,0008 TARETEBRIFTE
A BB —FTBRARENE FTERZEETERMZ
BEA S~ HAUBRAREIRTLERZEBA -

BURERE AR R B KRR 2 INEBE R - K& FH
BT F)F - BEHI20F o

BURAL R AR R B KRR 2 INEBE M - K& FH
BT RFIE - BHI204F -

AEBR-_ZZNFNE —_+-_RAMNBARRERE
ELin Yu Chung W& T 25% 4% - RIEBAERR1.887T
5T900,00078 7T (M7£39) - ERREEFFUIEFEE 2
AFERE - EFRE - KERECAEXET REE
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 20. HEEZEFIEEER
ENTITIES
Details of the group’s interests in the jointly controlled REBRAANFEELE 2 LRI TEES 2R
entities that were disposed of during the year are as N
follows:
Particulars
of issued
and fully
paid share
Place of capital/
incorporation/ capital Proportion
establishment contribution of ownership
Formof  and operation ERTREE interest
Name of joint venture business structure RiiTAYe BRRA/ GICE:S Principal activity
RELEER ERFERS  RUREELE TEFHE LA TEEH
Direct Indirect
= B EE
é AST Asia Limited Incorporated Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 50% Design and manufacturing
o (‘AST Asia’) (TAST Asial) REMAL £ 10,0007 of heavy duty bus and
£ (Note (a)) (Fif3E (@) coach products
C Rt REEER
| AEAERASER
; VLY Holding Co. Incorporated Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 50% Investment holding
5 (HK) Limited (“VLY") (VLY ) B3l B 10,0007 REER
] (Note (o)) (B (o))
&
S Vosta LMG Incorporated Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 50% Trading and manufacturing
S Yardway (HK) B3l 0 10,000787C of dredging equipment,
3 Limited (“Vosta components and provision
Hong Kong’) ([ Vosta Hong Kong ) for services in Hong Kong
(Note (c)) (Fit3Z(c)) EBBEEREEMA
RERBHARIR RS
Vosta LMG Yardway Incorporated PRC HK$750,000 = 50% Trading and manufacturing
(Zhuhal) Ltd Bl Ava # (Note (c)) of dredging equipment,
(‘Vosta Znuhai') ([ 87558 ) 750,000 7 components and provision
(Note (d) (&= (d) (M () for services in PRC
EREIEE REERA
RERBHARIR RS
Notes: Bt
(@  AST was incorprated in Hong Kong on 25 January 2006 @ ASTRZZEZXRF-—A-THHRBEESLRKIES

under the Hong Kong Compaines Ordinance. AST was BHEMKY c ASTRZZEZNF—A=T—HKEHE -

disposed on 31 January 2008.

(o) VLY was incorporated in Hong Kong on 7 June 2006 ©)  VLYRZ=ZZZEREANALARBEEARIGHIES LT

under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. VLY was
disposed on 31 October 2007.

Vosta Hong Kong was incorporated in Hong Kong on
21 September 2006 under the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. Vosta Hong Kong was disposed on 31
October 2007, on the same day, the Group acquired
entire equity interest of Vosta Hong Kong.

AL c VLYR =T ZLF+A=+—BHLE -

Vosta Hong KongR=ZZEZRFNAZ+—BHREEE
A ANEBIFEREFEMAKSL © Vosta Hong KongR=ZFZ
tETA=+—BHREE - KRB © AEBEWFE Vosta
Hong Kong 2 & ZBA%#E °
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INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

(©)

The amount represents paid up capital of Vosta Zhuhai,
which is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established
in Zhuhai, the PRC on 30 December 2006 under the
Law of the PRC applicable to Wholly Foreign Owned
Enterprises. The registered capital of Vosta Zhuhai is
$5,000,000. Vosta Zhuhai was disposed on 31 October
2007. At 31 October 2007, the remaining capital
contribution of HK$4,250,000 is required to be paid
within eight months.

Included in the consolidated financial statements are
the following items that represent the group’s 50%
interests in the assets and liabilities, revenues and
expenses of the jointly controlled entities:

Non-current assets EMENEE
Current assets mENEE
Current liabilities mEEE
Net liabilities BEFHE
Income W e
Expenses X

Loss for the year REEEE

20.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

HEEZEFEEED (R

ZREEENERE R _ZEENE+-A=1TBERE
BEARIINEBE D E 2P BEF £+ B %82 5
HABELE) ZBARAEN - EHHFKEZEMER A
5,000,000 7 ° EHRHHKEBR =TT LF+A=F—
HEHE RZZZLF+A=1+—H H&#HFE
4,250,000 o BN\ EA AT AT -

FAERBRREETIRRAERERARESER
MEENMAE  WARFXIELZ50% i ©

2008 2007
—ET\E  —BRLE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT THT

- 177

- 1,819
- (3,235)
- (1,239)

4,964 1
(5,635) (762)
(671) (761)
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7 sR&R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-_ZZ)\E=ZA=1+—HLEFE

21. INVENTORIES 21. FE&
a) Inventories in the balance sheets comprise: a) ABEABRANGEEERE:
The group
REH
2008 2007
—EEN\E —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Work-in-progress & m 32 30
Finished goods BURK i 24,869 21,592
Goods-in-transit FEREH 3,220 349
28,121 21,971
b) The analysis of the amount of inventories b) WRERINGFEELBEINET
) recognised as an expense is as follows:
S
%; The group
3 TEH
5 2008 2007
3 —EENE —ETHF
o) HK$’000 HK$’000
. FET FBT
>
n% Carrying amount of BEEFENRESRE
EY inventories sold 229,476 167,195
E Write-down of inventories HRFEE 3,726 1,937
S 233,202 169,132
22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22, FEWREMEWRE
The group The company
rEE KAF
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF —EENF —ETLHF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHER FHT THT FHT
Trade receivables M FRIE 90,928 37,547 - =
Retentions receivable {RER FEULRIE 16,103 13,793 - =
Other receivables H i felzoa 1,144 4,281 - =
Due from related company FEURRE R RIFIE - 274 - =
Due from jointly JE U2 R
controlled entities ERNE - 2,094 - -
Deferred consideration EERE
(Note 34) (PzE34) 786 = - _
Loan and receivables B3 R e GRE 108,961 57,989 - =
Derivative financial instruments: T4 &® T A :
—forward exchange contracts ~ —RHISNEA A 54 150 - -
Prepayments and deposits BRFERETE 18,270 24,272 235 137

127,285 82,411 235 137
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

All of the trade and other receivables (including
amounts due from related company, jointly controlled
entitles and deferred consideration), apart from
certain retentions receivable are expected to be
recovered within one year.

Retentions receivable are amounts which are not
paid until the satisfaction of conditions specified
in the contract for the payment of such amounts.
The amount of retentions expected to be recovered
after more than one year is HK$3,931,000 (2007:
HK$5,350,000).

The amount due from related company is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due from jointly controlled entities
are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand, except for an amount of HK$Nil (2007:
HK$1,000,000) which is bearing interest at 5% per
annum and repayable on 31 December 2007.

a) Ageing analysis
Including in trade and other receivables are
trade receivables (net of allowance for bad
and doubtful debts) with the following ageing
analysis as of the balance sheet date:

Current PNE
1 to 3 months past due wHI1 = 3{E A
More than 3 months but

less than 12 months past due
More than 12 months past due

The group’s credit policy is set out in note 4(a).

BEI12EA A £

22,

BEASMEA A EEBELR12

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZT/\FZA=Z+—HLEFE

FE W R EL A R WK IR (4]

B%%:F{%EHKEHSZMIEM\ © P e UK R L At B W kIR
(R IEEK A = R AR R R R
B) FBER — R4 H&IEI .

REBRUGRIEIR S B BERIEZ G KRB Z1E
HEBITEFSER/IFZ25KE - BHR —FRIK
[B] R 83 FE W TR IA 2 £%8.53,931,0008 T ( — T+
£ : 5,350,000/ 7T) °

N\

IR A )R
fif o

REREEAR 2R RARBAEE

R HFZEHERFARBER 2R RAREAN

BHER - tE— %Z%%(gm(iggti 1,000,0007%
JL) MR IBEEF 5% T BV AR _TEZT+F+ A
=+—BEERIN
a) BRERDAMT

JrE U Rz L b U R TE B 4 PR MR IR (F0BR REE

REFHREE)  NEERNRESITAT

The group
REE
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETHEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
70,893 25,660
9,755 8,563
& A
9,521 2,836
759 488
90,928 37,547

AEESEEBERETINHIFE 4() ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7 sR&R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-_ZZ)\E=ZA=1+—HLEFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

b)

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors
are recorded using an allowance account
unless the group is satisfied that the recovery
of the amount is remote, in which case the
debts are directly impaired as an impairment
loss (see note 2(k)).

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts

At 1 April
Impairment loss
recognised (note i)

REA—H

At 31 March

Note:

i) These individually impaired receivables were
outstanding for more than 1 year as at the
balance sheet date or were due from companies
with financial difficulties.

Trade receivables are due within 2 months from
the date of billing. Further details on the group’s
credit policy is set out in note 4(a).

R=RA=+—H

22, W R H bR (F

b)

BB EEE (ML)

PEWRIE 2 R E
BRI 2 RERIE R AEHRC S
MEZN £ B = 49 U [B] 9 AT B I RR A BR S - TEULIS
AT - BEAMERBEEEEERE (BT
2(k)) °

RERER B8
The group
rEE
2008 2007
—ZEENF —EELF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
506 25
633 481
1,139 506
Hist -

i ZEERIRE 2 BEKARNEE R BE—F2
EEFIR - SRR AM BRI A RMFIR

FEBGRIRN B HEEMEA A28 - BRAAEE
EEBERZ B FHEHR M T 46) ©



Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R R &E

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

c)

Trade receivables that are not impaired
The ageing analysis of trade debtors that are
neither individually nor collectively considered
to be impaired are as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired 3 £ i B sl B (E
1 to 3 months past due #wE1 =3{EA
3 to 12 months past due BEASE 1218 A
More than 1 year past due BHEI F A

Receivables that were past due but not
impaired relate to a number of independent
customers that have a good track record
with the group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The
group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

22,

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

FE U R ELf FE WK IR (AR

3 8 R 1B 2 FE AR TR
I SRR A (B 51 S AR R E 2 8 WA 2 BR Bk
DA

The group
rEE

2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
70,893 25,660
9,755 8,563
9,521 2,836
759 488
90,928 37,547

BB R (E 2 RAGRIR T ER AR EEA
REFHELHcETELIREFPER - RIZBHE
K EEERE BN EEEEYESAE
8 BREHRBORELSATZEWRE - FAttHE
AR F A RIELIRERE - AREALELL
EEBRAEAERR -
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7R &R M &E

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-_ZZ)\E=ZA=1+—HLEFE

23. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 23. BIRHRITEX
The amounts are pledged to secure certain bank ZERBEERAEBRGSNE TRITERM TAK
loans of the group. o
24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24, BHERBELSEEY
The group The company
rEE AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —ETF —EENF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Fix FHT FEx FAT
Deposits with banks RITIER 33,585 27,042 - =
Cash at bank and in hand RTERNES 29,146 18,116 23,788 45

Cash and cash equivalents ~ REEA BRI

>
& in the balance sheet & MREFEY 62,731 45,158 23,788 45
g Bank overdrafts (note 26) R17E X (FI5E26) (2,301) (1,389)
=
3 Cash and cash equivalents ARG AELRE
] in the consolidated ik
. cash flow statement HEEEY 60,430 43,769
5 25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. BN RHAMEMNKE
2
S The group The company
S rEE KAF
= 2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —ETLHF —EENF —ETLHF
HK$°000 HK$’'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THT FHT THT FHT
Trade and bills payables e RIERE R 105,809 60,859 - =
Other payables and accruals HipfeNFUR 8,980 7,595 1,209 436
RIEFHER
Amounts due to PR RGEENEFIA
related companies - 1,328 - -
Financial liabilities measured REEEN AT E
at amortised cost Zeman 114,789 69,782 1,209 436
Derivative financial instruments:  #T4A &R T A :
— foreign exchange contracts ~ —9NEA ] 87 = - =
Sales deposits received BsEE RS 26,618 23,252 - =
141,494 93,034 1,209 436
All trade and other payables are expected to be TREARRA e R E M RN RIBE @R —FAER -

settled within one year.
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZT \F=A=+—HLEE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. FENREMEMNTIE (&
(CONTINUED)
The amounts due to related companies are EREEARREBEAERA REREBRTEEN
unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of B E—Z2AHTHET(ZFEZLF : 1,000,000
repayment, except for an amount of HK$Nil (2007: TL)RIBIR B E 5%t BN AR _EZLF A
HK$1,000,000) which is interest bearing interest =+—BERBRN -
at 5% per annum and repayable on 31 December
2007.
Including in trade and other payables are trade and REER  BREEENREMEMNFRIEAZ BN R
bills payables with the following ageing analysis as of FETZEE 2 BRE DT o
the balance sheet date.
The group
AEE 27
2008 2007 .
—EEN\F ZETF =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT t
a
Due within 1 month or on demand A1 E B R B R B AR (E T 51,171 33,689 E)u
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 7\ 1 18 B 1218 318 A 3 &f 5,828 10,876 .
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 7 318 A 1218 6 & A 3 &f 10,205 5,332 '§
Due after 6 months but within 1 year Re1EA%E1FRNEIH 19,179 8,280 X
S
86,383 58,177
Bills payable BRI 19,426 2,682
105,809 60,859
26. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS 26. RITERKREX
At 31 March 2008, the bank loans and overdrafts REZZEENF=A=1+—08 FOEXEEINE
were repayable as follows: AT -
The group
REE
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET THT
Within 1 year or on demand 1 6 A Sk B2 1 R AN 12,965 17,008
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&E2FR 1,423 836
After 2 years but within 5 years 2B E5FNR 1,002 2,767
After 5 years 5% 1% 2,903 3,366
5,328 6,969
18,293 23,977
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ)\E=ZA=+—HLEFE

26. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS 26. RITERKREX (&)

(CONTINUED)

At 31 March 2008, the bank loans and overdrafts
were secured as follows:

secured by mortgages over the group’s leasehold
land and buildings with an aggregate carrying value
of HK$17,000,000 (2007: HK$30,600,000) and
pledge over bank deposits of HK$8,348,000 (2007:
HK$10,309,000). Such banking facilities amounted
to HK$141,396,000 (2007: HK$130,300,000). The
facilities were utilised to the extent of HK$13,223,000
at 31 March 2008 (2007: HK$19,520,000).

Further details of the group’s management of liquidity
risk are set out in note 4(b).

R-ZZEZENF=A=1+—H " fFTERREXNIE
MERMAT

The group
rEH
2008 2007
—EENF —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Bank loans RITERK
— secured — G 8,523 19,520
o
g — unsecured — AR 6,919 3,068
=
> 15,442 22,588
o
C
E Bank overdrafts RITEY
%— - secured — B 550 -
- — unsecured (note 24) — R (FisE24) 2,301 1,389
>
= 2,851 1,389
g 18,203 23,077
[}
S At 31 March 2008, certain banking facilites were RZZBENF=ZA=1+—H ' BEFRITEETUE
[e0)

T 42 {8 17,000,000 7t ( — &2 =+ 4 : 30,600,000
BIT) A ERE i RIEF 2 I1R18 RIRT1TIF 5K
18,348,000 87 (ZEZ 4 : 10,309,000/87L) °
ZIERITIEE A141,396,0008 T( T T+ F -
130,300,000 7T) c RZZEENE=A=+—8 -
EEREE R 5132230008 T ( — T L 4F :
19,520,000/ 7T) ©

AEBRBECRERERE 2 E —TFBEHINNHE
4(p) °
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BE_ZZN\F=R=+—HLEE

27. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 27. WMERERE
At 31 March 2008, the group had obligations under RZZEZNF=ZA=+—H ASEMNREHE =
finance leases repayable as follows: FEREFRENT -
The group
TEE
2008
—EEN\E
Present Interest
value of the expense Total
minimum relating to minimum
lease future lease
payments periods payments
REKHEE HE&HE BEHEE
HRERE  HRSXH e 29
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 an
FHx FHx FHx =
Within 1 year 16R 396 53 449 gj
After 1 year but within 2 years 1 E18/B 2 396 53 449 E
After 2 years but within 5 years 2 fE14/B 54X 66 9 75 .
(=)
()]
[e¢]
462 62 524 g
858 115 973
At 31 March 2007, the group had obligations under R-EZLF=ZA=1+—H AEEN@MEREX
finance leases repayable as follows: FERESRERNT ¢
The group
rEE
2007
ZETAF
Present Interest
value of the expense Total
minimum relating to minimum
lease future lease
payments periods payments
HEEE H 12 HAfA HEEE
RREERE B AL S NE/EE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FABT FET
Within 1 year 16/ 312 34 346
After 1 year but within 2 years 181182 F X 267 11 278

579 45 624




for the year ended 31 March 2008
BECZZ)/\F=A=1—-HLFE

The company has a share option scheme which was
adopted on 28 March 2002, whereby the directors
of the company are authorised, at their discretion, to
invite employees of the group, including directors of
any company in the group, to take up options at a
nominal consideration to subscribe for shares of the
company. The exercise price of options is the highest
of the nominal value of the shares, the closing price
of the shares on the SEHK on the date of grant and
the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK
for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant, 13 November 2006. The options vest
in four equal instalments with the first installment
vesting from the date of grant. The second, third
and fourth instalments vest from one, two and three
years after the date of grant respectively. The options
are exercisable after the vesting date but within a
period of five years from the date of grant. Each
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the company. On 20 September
2007, share offer was made to all the holders of the
shares, 10,424,000 shares under the share offer
were accepted by the offeror parties. Taking into
account the 10,424,000 shares accepted under the
share offer and the 133,732,000 shares already held
by the offeror parties, the offer parties in aggregate
held 144,156,000 shares, represent 51.1% of the
issued share capital of the company. Accordingly,
the condition of the offers has been fulfilled and the
offers have become unconditional. The share offer
was closed on 25 October 2007.

According to the share option scheme adopted
on 28 March 2002, as the share offer made on 20
September 2007 to all the holders of the shares
became unconditional, the option holders were,
notwithstanding any other terms on which his options
were granted, be entitled to exercise the option (to
the extent not already exercised) to its full extent at
any time thereafter and up to the close of the offer,
on 25 October 2007.

KRR ZZEE_F= A=+ /\BRHN—IEERE
TE D Bt AR EEERERNBESAEE
EE(BEASBEEMAARZES) EREANERE
TR AREANRRIRG - BREZITEE AN
Tz&xmE  RMHEE - AR H B ARG R8T
ZUWHERZREREAH(ZZEERNE+—A+=
B AAEEXEROEBITZFHRTE- B
RED B FHEE ME—HE R HPRER
BeF= —RMOHSRRIBEBHRE—F  =F
M=FREE - BRETKEEBHRETE WA
R B ERAFHBARTE - 55O BRER T3
EAENRBEARR —RLEBER - RN=EZTLFh
AZ+RH MAEROHEBEARLERERZ - &
% 52 5% 2 10,424,000 & B& 0 & Z 49 5 B2 49 o & 5T
R IR E AR &= 48 2 10,424,000 % B% 15 & B 49
FE A 2 133,732,000 ) - BELHALES
144,156,000 &% 0 - (AR R R 2 EITIRAE1.1% °
Bt BHOZIEHEEEER @ BHEKAEEE -
EREFN _ZZLtF+A-+THBZEK °

BER-ZTZ_F=A=-+N\BEKZERET
g mRR-_EELFAA T RAMERNESR
AR EBGEREK ARG REBEHERZE
PeiEis A i - BRERAADAIRERES
EZHER(ZEELFTAZTRR)BERTRTR
HEEhE (ARARTTEERR)
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HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

28. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 28. RO ZBRAERS (&)

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

a) The terms and conditions of the grants a) FR REERBREZGIRREGDT
that existed during the years are as
follows:
Options existed during the year 31 March R-BEZENEF=ZA=+—HEFEEBRTFZ2ER
2008: FE

Contractual
life of options
from date of grant

Number of Shares
issuable under
options granted

REERBRER Vesting conditions ERERFH B H
BT RABE BEEG  EHNSOEE
Options granted to directors: 31
ERTEEHBAGE -
—on 13 November 2006 At the date of grant 5 years g
—RZEZERF+—A+=H 1,650,000 issdeef =Rt hF i
One year from the date of grant 5 years o
2,150,000 BEEHBESR—F R §
Two years from the date of grant 5 years o)
2,150,000 B H B ERRE R .
Three years from the date of grant 5 years §
2,150,000 BREAHRE=F hE bt
P
8,100,000*
Options granted to employees:
ERTREENERE:
—on 13 November 2006 At the date of grant 5 years
—RZZETERF+—H+=H 400,000 R B ER hE
One year from the date of grant 5 years
750,000 BERE AR —F e
Two years from the date of grant 5 years
750,000 B B IR E e
Three years from the date of grant 5 years
750,000 BELHAER=F e
2,650,000**
10,750,000

* Included 4,500,000 options granted to ex- * BIEAR=EELF A1+ —HEIHFEFR

*%

directors who resigned on 11 October 2007 and
2,600,000 options granted to an ex-director who
retired and currently employed as an employee
from 11 October 2007. The options granted were
still exercisable after change of capacity.

Included 1,000,000 options granted to employee
who was appointed as a director on 21
September 2007. The options granted were still
exercisable after change of capacity.

ok

H]494,500,000 7 R ER A —FFLF 1A
T—HEERFARGIESERS ZFIEFRMLA
2,600,000 (7 fEAR1E - R ZFERBRE W EEZ
ROTAITTLE

BEAR - EELFNA | —HEEFREF
HYIE S 111169 1,000,000(7 S8R 1E © JEIR 2 FEIRIE
REHBEZRDATTLE -
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28. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 28. LUBHBZHF2Z2RARS ()
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
a) The terms and conditions of the grants a) FR REERBREZGIRREGDT
that existed during the years are as (%)
follows: (Continued)
Options existed during the year 31 March R-BEZ+tF=ZA=1+—HFEBRTFZER
2007: 1
Number of Shares Contractual
issuable under life of options
options granted from date of grant
BRI BB AR A 7] Vesting conditions ~ BR%iE AR AR
BITZRINDE B BRI R TR & AV AR

Option Shares granted to directors:

ERTEFNBRERD -

g —on 13 November 2006 At the date of grant 5 years
§ ——ZTTXF+—A+=H 2,150,000 g squnt =Pz hFE
g> One year from the date of grant 5 years
5 2,150,000 Rt BEE—F HE
g— Two years from the date of grant 5 years
5 2,150,000 it B e F HE
. Three years from the date of grant 5 years
z 2,150,000 R BER=F HE
> 8,600,000

. e

é Option Shares granted to employees:

3 EE TR EREIRERD -

—on 13 November 2006 At the date of grant 5 years
——ETRF+—H+=H 750,000 s anf SRt e
One year from the date of grant 5 years
750,000 R BB —F e
Two years from the date of grant 5 years
750,000 Xt B e e
Three years from the date of grant 5 years
750,000 R AEE=F e
3,000,000

11,600,000
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28. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

b)

The number and weighted average
exercise prices of share options are as
follows:

Outstanding at 1 April R A—BHEATTE

Granted during the year FRERL
Exercised during the year FRBEITE
Forfeited during the year FRE LR

Outstanding at 31 March

Exercisable at the end of year ~ AELRA] T8

The weighted average share price at the date
of exercise for share options exercised during
the year was HK$1.37 (2007: HK$0.53).

The options outstanding at 31 March 2007 had
an exercise price of HK$ 0.21 and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 4.6 years.
7,398,000 options were exercised during
the year, of which 4,000,000 options were
early exercised before vesting date under the
condition of share option scheme in respect
of the unconditional share offer. The remaining
3,352,000 options were forfeited upon the
close of the unconditional share offer.

R=A=1T—HRAKTE

28.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

BB zBRARS (&)

b) BRENEMMELITEENT :
2008 2007
—EENF e S
Weighted Number of Weighted Number of
average Shares average Shares
exercise issuable exercise issuable
price under options price  under options
mERY  REBRET EFY  RIBRERER
TRE #IT2ZRHHA T8 BT RIHEA
HK$ HK$
BT BT
0.21 10,750,000 - -
- - 0.21 11,600,000
0.21 (7,398,000) 0.21 (850,000)
0.21 (3,352,000) - -
- 0.21 10,750,000
- 2,050,000

RERBEITERIERERTTE B B Z k¥
fBA1.37 BT (ZZLF : 0.5387L) °

R-TZLF=A=+—HRRTENERE
BTTEEER0.21787T - MEFHIRBREKNF
HR4.6F - FAETTE 7,398,000 17 FEAAE -
H #14,000,00017 B8 B HE TH 3L 2 AR 1 B s AR
BREIRIE B 2 (R E 5B B BRTREATE -
F£43,352,00017 i B I B A 1 6 AU 3 e K
BRR
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28. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

c)

Fair value of share options and
assumption

The fair value of services received in return
for share options granted is measured by
reference to the fair value of share options
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the
share options granted is measured based on

28.

PR Y 2 RAR 5 ()

c)

BRENDAERRR

RHOBREmBERNREAAE  H2REE
REBRENAAENE - EREBRERE
AAREDRE-_BAAKHERASERENE - B
BHER B BRI AR AT EER - 52
BITENAHC MAZIRAREES -

a binomial lattice model. The contractual life
of the share option is used as an input into
this model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the binomial lattice model.

used in the modelling T tEmm25)
under binomial lattice model) - 60%

Option life (expressed as weighted FEASEERIR (2 —1HA

2008 2007
. —2E\F  —TRLF
3
3 Fair value of share options
o) and assumptions EREN A EREER
C
5 Fair value at measurement date (HK$) REtE BEI AR E (GBIT) - 0.06-0.09
g Share price (HK$) & (B 7T) - 0.21
. Exercise price (HK$) IEE BT - 0.21
z Expected volatility (expressed TERPR IR (I =T
5 as weighted average volatility EhiE AR = AT A hnAE
@
8
=
&

average life used in the modelling Bhrs R FT A 2 hntE - 5 years

under binomial lattice model) EHERMEZ5) hE
Expected dividends TEHARR B - 3.6%
Risk-free interest rate o B e 81 2

(based on Exchange Fund Notes) (BFRINEE S FR) - 3.75%

The expected volatility is based on the historic
volatility (calculated based on the weighed
average remaining life of the share options),
adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.

T8 HR R 08 R AR 1 FEE SR 0 (422 8 B #O AN
R AERE) MEH - AHARAERRKL
BRI L E LN ERITREIZ S T AR E -
FEHIR B TIABER S RELE - AT BN

HESHMERE  TREAVEAA BN
5o
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28. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

c)

Fair value of share options and
assumption (Continued)

Share options were granted under a service
condition. This condition has not been taken
into account in the grant date fair value
measurement of the services received. There
were no market conditions associated with the
share option grants.

29. INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET

a)

Current taxation in the balance sheet
represents:

Provision for Hong Kong REEHE

profits tax for the year MG
Provisional Hong Kong BREH
profits tax paid HBNEH

Balance of tax recoverable  LAfE£EE AR @]
relating to prior years TIaAEER

PRC enterprise income tax FE{> S5

Representing: (e
Tax recoverable AR EFIE
Tax payable FESTE

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE_ZZN\F=R=+—HLEE

28. URHBIXNz2BRAERS (&)

c) BRENIAERRERE)
BREERERB IR MR L - 5t EATREUR

BAAERRE BB - 8T AL IR -
R BEREEm L ER -

20. BEESERANMES

a) EERBERANFPBIATIE :

The group The company
REE AAH
2008 2007 2008 2007

—E2E\F& —TTHEFE —BT/N\F —TTLH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000
TR FAT TR TAT

22 107 - _
- (126) - -

22 (19) - _
(1,926) (1,878) - -
(1,904) (1,897) = —
983 147 = —
(921) (1,750) - -
(1,926) (1,942) - —
1,005 192 - —
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29. INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET 20, EEBEBERAWFEH (E)
(CONTINUED)
b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities b) ERERELHEEERERE:
recognised:
The group NEE
The components of deferred tax (assets)/ FAN - ERGEAEERBERABRNIELETIE
liabilities recognised in the consolidated (BE)/BEAKID RESHWT

balance sheet and the movements during the
year are as follows:

Depreciation
allowances
Revaluation in excess
of ofrelated Revaluation
investment depreciation  of other  Provision Write-down
properties  EEEE  properties for of Tax
RE FENRE Ef  warranty inventory losses Other Total
NXER  AHE  NXER  RERE  FEER  REER Hft it
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$'000
Tén TEr TArn  TEn  TExr  TERr  TEn TR

()

&
-
o
2
)
<
()
-
o
c
©
[
3
=4
®
o
[
>
S
=]
c
©
Y
©
-
o
-
=
)
=)
<)
@

Deferred tax arising from: RT3I%EELE
MEERE :
At 1 Apil 2006 R-ZTAEMA-A 70 699 21 0 6 (1470 . &
Charged/[credited) to proft ofloss BB /(5 A) 28 (172 - 6 67 (550) (56) @)
Charged to reserve BRENR - - 624 - - - - 624
At 31 March 2007 RZEZ+E=A=1-H 928 521 805 - - 2,020) (56) 234
Depreciation
allowances
Revaluation in excess
of ofrelated Revaluation
investment depreciation  of other  Provision Write-down
properties  REEE  properties for of Tax
RE FENRE Ef  warranty  inventory losses Other Total
NEEfR  AHE UEEM  RERE  FEER WEEE Hh ft
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$'000
Tén T Thn Tén Tén T Thn Tén
Deferred tax arising from: RT3I%EELE
MEERE :
At 1 April 2007 R-ZBHEMA-A 98 527 85 - BT )
Exchange difference Eizg - - 47 - - - - 47
Charged/[credited) to proft ofloss BRI /(5 A) (696) 342 - - - 586 - 3
Charged to reserve BRENR - - 299 - - - - 299

At 31 March 2008 R-ERNE=A=1-B 2 869 1,201 = = (1434 (56) 612
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HE-ZZ/\F=ZA=+—-HLEFE

INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET 20. EEEERAWFEH (E)
(CONTINUED)
b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities b) ERIEZLEHEEERERE: (B)
recognised: (Continued)
The group
rEH
2008 2007
—ZEENF ZETLF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FBx FBTT
Net deferred tax assets recognised EREEBERAER
on the balance sheet REER IR & ) FE (237) (237)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised ~ EREE & (&R NHER
on the balance sheet RYEIER IR A (EFE 849 471
612 234
c) Deferred tax assets not recognised: c) FRERWELEHEEE:
In accordance with the accounting policy RRRMIFE2(s) B M SRR - AN E I
set out in the note 2(s), the group has not REMEENEEIE16,303,1058 T (- E=
recognised deferred tax assets in respect of +4F : 22,724,000/ 7T ) MIEERIBEE - R
cumulative tax losses of HK$16,303,105 (2007: BARAEEERETE AR RERED
HK$22,724,000) as it is not probable that ARREFR N MSZBEESAER - BIE
future taxable profits against which the losses WRITBE - SV BEELEDAA -
can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not
expire under the current tax legislation.
PROVISION FOR WARRANTY 30. RIREE
The group
AEE
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHBT
At 1 April REA—H 117 99
Additional provision made IREERRINE S 6 24
Provision utilised EERRE - ©®)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) HEMEB AR (HFE33) (123) -
At 31 March R=A=+—H - 117

Under the terms of the group’s sales agreements,
the group will rectify any product defects arising
within one year of the delivery of yachts to
customers. Provision is therefore made for the best
estimate of the expected settlement under these
agreements in respect of sales made within the one
year prior to the balance sheet date. The amount of
provision takes into account the group’s recent claim
experience and is only made where a warranty claim
is probable.

REASEHEEBRNGH  NMEXBRERT P&
—ER AEESRERMERERE - Fit - &
SECREZSHEGE B —FRMETHE
M IEHIER R (A AT T A4S - BURRE LA K ET
HIRRERIFRZERELE - W RN AIEBIRERA
BRI EL A -
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B’AK
a) Authorised and issued capital a) ZEREBITERA
2008 2007
—EENE —TELF
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
BRHEE -] RHEE Gkt
000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’'000
FRr FET A% T
Authorised: EERA
Ordinary shares of BREECA BT
HK$0.1 each 2 A 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
Ordinary shares, issued BEETRMELER
and fully paid:
At 1 April RIA—H 280,850 28,085 280,000 28,000
Shares issued under share RIEERE 2
option scheme (Note 28(0))  Z7TR&{n (K3 28(0)) 7,398 740 850 85
At 31 March R=A=+—H 288,248 28,825 280,850 28,085

b)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to
time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the company. All ordinary shares
rank equally with regard to the company’s
residual assets.

Shares issued under share option scheme
On 13 April 2007, 12 October 2007, 15
October 2007 and 22 October 2006, options
were exercised by holders to subscribe
for 1,136,000, 3,760,000, 1,502,000 and
1,000,000 ordinary shares in the company
respectively for a total consideration of
HK$1,554,000 of which HK$740,000 was
credited to share capital and the balance
of HK$814,000 was credited to the share
premium account. HK$444,000 has been
transferred from the capital reserve to the share
premium account in accordance with policy set
out in note 2(r).

b)

BREFEABRUBRIREIRNKE - X8
BREARASH LT —BREOHR—F - IE
TRRHARRANBEEDZTERSHA -

RIBERETBIRITROD
R-_ZEZ+FOMA+=B  —ZTZ+F+ A
+=—H  Z2EELF+ATHRBR_ZTERF
+AZ+=R  #HHAEDRITEERELR
81,136,000 f% - 3,760,000 f% ~ 1,502,000 i%
11,000,000 % & /@ % - 421X (& & 1,554,000
PEIC + HAR740,0008 TE AR - mEREE
814,000/ 8 L E 5T ARG R ERR ° RIFEHE2(r)
Frai i sR © 444,000/ TE HEAREERS
f& 15 S EER o
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for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

31. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 31. KA (E
c) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share c) MREEH  RERRRTEBERENER

options at balance sheet date

2008 2007
—EENE e 2
Exercise period Exercise price Number Number
T e gE B
HKS
BT
13 November 2006 to “TERF+—-A+=ZRE 0.21 - 2,050,000
12 November 2011 —Z—&+—-fA+=H
13 November 2007 to —ETHFE+—A+=HE 0.21 - 2,900,000
12 November 2011 “E——Ft—HA+ZH 39
13 November 2008 to “TE\F+—A+=ZRZE 0.21 - 2,900,000
12 November 2011 —2——#+-A+-A &
13 November 2009 to “EENFET—AT=HEE 0.21 - 2,900,000 i
12 Noverber 2011 —F——&+-F+-H
a
- 10,750,000 .
s
Each option entitles the holder to subscribe BHERER TRHAEARE - RITBROER - 5F 5
for one ordinary share in the options are set BB TSR MI5E 28 » anffiE 28(b) Frit » Fra F g
out in note 28 to the financial statements. #43,352,000 17 B AR 1 5 A R AR IR AR B RR ST Ak 1R 2R
As mentioned in note 28(b), all the remaining e

3,352,000 options were forfeited upon the
close of the unconditional share offer.
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32. RESERVES 32. f#%fE
The group REE
Revaluation
reserve -
land and
buildings
Share  Capital Contributed Exchange  Efif#f& Other  Retained
premium  reserve  surplus  reserve -1#  reserves  earnings Total
RiteE ERRE ESES EXRE 0 RER  HpBE  REEA st
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000
Taxr TEn TR  TEr  TEn TR 0 TER TEn
At1 April 2006 RZEENEFIA-A 3,728 (4,665) (180) 11 4,953 231 75,462 79,630
Dividends approved i respect of previous year % FEEE $EZRE - - - - - - (2800 (2800)
- Shares issued under share option scheme  IREERIETEETR(A 145 (1) - - - - - %
g Exchange differences on BEHENEAR
3 translation of the financial ABSREE
@ statements of PRC subsidiaries LERES - - - 678 - - - 678
: Revaluation surplus, net of deferred tax SRR MRELHE - - - - 2413 - - 2413
5 Equity-settled share-based transactions RSz BARS - 37 - - - - - 327
g Transfer to other reserves ERTENRE - - - - - 89 89 -
. Loss for the year IEERE - - - - - - @73 (27%)
>
2 At 31 March 2007 R-ERrESAS{-B 3§73 (439 (8) 789 7365 W 688 TIEN
2
5 A1 April 2007 R-EB+EMA-B 3873 (49 (8) 78 766 00 6988 TIEN
:B' Shares issued under share option scheme  RIEEETRIE (TR 1258 444 - - - - - 814
= Exchange differences on ransiation of the ~ AEFEHERA
financial statements of PRC subsidiaries SRR B AT = = = 1244 = = = 1,244
Revaluation surplus, net of deferred tax RS - IREERE - - - - 4966 - - 4966
Equity-Settled share-based transactions WRDZ 2 BARS - 543 - - - - - 543
Transfer to other reserves SRR - - - - - 164 (1624 -
Share option forfsited ERERN - (379) - - - - 375 -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - 4,665 - - - - (4669) -
Profit for the year TEE T - - - - - - 7,104 7104
At 31 March 2008 R-2Z/\E=f=1-H 5,131 - (180) 2,038 12,332 1,944 71,018 92,278
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32. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 32. f@#iE(E)
The company KA T
Retained
profits/
(accumulated
Share Capital Contributed losses)
premium reserve surplus  REBF/ Total
RaE  ExfE  BERR (ZEER) k]

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tign Tign Ti#n TR TR

At 1 April 2006 RZTE FNA—H 3,728 - 59,063 (836) 61,955
Dividends approved in respect HEFEREZRE
of previous year - - - (2,800) (2,800) 41
Shares issued under share REERE R TR
option scheme 145 (61) - - 94 g
Equity-settled share-based WBRD S 2 RAR 5 i
transactions - 327 - - 327 %ﬂ
Profit for the year REE R - - - 4,02 4,02 E
o|
At 31 March 2007 RZEZ+E=RA=1—H 3,873 276 59,063 456 63,668 :I
N
At 1 April 2007 RZZEZ+EMA—-A 3,873 276 59,063 456 63,668 S
Shares issued under share RiEERE 2 g
option scheme BIRG 1,258 (444) = - 814
Equity-settled share-based RO T2 RER 5
transactions - 543 - - 543
Share option lapsed BIRERA = (375) - 375 -
Profit for the year KEERH - - - 13,223 13,223

At 31 March 2008 R-EZN\F=A=1+—H 5,131 = 59,063 14,054 78,248
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32. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Nature and purpose of reserves

a)

b)

Share premium and contributed surplus
Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the
Cayman Islands, the share premium account
and contributed surplus account of the
company are distributable to the shareholders
of the company provided that immediately
following the date on which a dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

The contributed surplus of the company arose
from the difference between the consolidated
net assets of the group’s subsidiaries acquired
and the nominal value of the company’s
ordinary shares issued pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 2002.

Capital reserve
The capital reserve comprises the following:

— the positive goodwill which arose from
the acquisition of business on 18 March
2000 and had previously been taken
directly to reserve; and

- the fair value of the actual or estimated

number of unexercised share options
granted to directors and employees of
the company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for
share based payments in note 2(r).

32. f#fE (&)

RENEEME D

a)

b)

IR R ER B MR
RIEFASBHESRRERER) - AR
EBRMEFESERAEDIKRTARBRER - I
REBZEZD KRS RE - ARBAEBRENE
BENABEBRIETEIHNET -

ARBNEBEHBHREEARERER _TF—
FEAMBANBARNGSEEFEEAR
ARESANEHTEBEREECFNESE -

EN
ERNFREREATSE

— FAR-TETESA\BKELEH
B A B B A B B IERS
B R

—  RIBEMEE2(n) BUAB IS IR A & 5T
BER FERERTARRESREEDN
RTEBRENERSGABBENAR
B-



d)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 2(v).

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserves have been set up
and are dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted for leasehold
land and buildings in note 2(). The revaluation
reserve is not distributable to shareholders.

Other reserves

Subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities
of the group in the PRC, which are wholly
foreign-owned enterprises, follow the
accounting principles and relevant financial
regulations of the PRC applicable to wholly
foreign-owned enterprises (“PRC GAAP-
WFOE”), in the preparation of their accounting
records and financial statements. Pursuant
to the accounting regulations for business
enterprises, the subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities are required to appropriate
10% of the profit arrived at in accordance
with PRC GAAP-WFOE for each year to a
statutory reserve. The profits must first be used
to set off against any accumulated losses.
The appropriations to statutory reserve, after
offsetting against any accumulated losses,
must be made before the distribution of
dividends to shareholders. The appropriation
is required until the statutory reserve reaches
50% of the registered capital. This statutory
reserve is not distributable in the form of cash
dividends, but may be used to set off losses or
be converted into paid-in capital.

c)

d)

e)

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZER/\F=A=1+—-HLFE

B 5 %1

BE i ok 18 2 1R B A B SN SR A B A5 SRR 9 P
BELEZR - ZfEHRBHE2(V) FESINE
AR BRI ©

Efhffe

ENFREBEERY - WM 2() AESIEE
THRETRANEFTHRREE - B TRRZ
BB OE -

Hituf# &
AEENTENBARSKARZEHER(BHR
$7|\Féﬁ§%’éff£¥){Z‘E?fékﬁﬁﬁéﬁ\\ﬁﬁﬁé{m%m/*
FHRAI KBRS SR ([FEARER
A -SEBELR ) REE St RE MR
i‘% ﬁﬁé%ﬁ%m%ﬁﬁ% WV ET DI - S

ARZHEREF AN REZTEARS
quJ%'lE'\'J SN E R EREM10% D R EE
TR Z%T'iﬂEﬁ‘ﬁ)&v/\ﬁﬁfﬁfﬁfﬁ&ﬂ%ﬁ%
18 - IMRHEMREERR - DEEATERHE
FY B A 78 R AR HABR 20 R T B R O BUSRT >
BZED BN ESGEMEARL0% A TELE -
IEERFE T RREBET AN - HEAT A
TR B R SRR K
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32. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

f)

9)
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Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2008, the aggregate amount
of reserves available for distribution to
equity shareholders of the company was
HK$78,248,000 (2007: HK$63,668,000). The
directors did not propose a final dividend for
the year (2007: no dividend was declared).

Capital risk management

The group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to
continue as a going concern so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

The group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain
a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher level
of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in
light of changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of a net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio.
For this purpose the group defines net debt
as total debt (which includes bank borrowings
and other financial liabilities) less bank
deposits and cash. Adjusted capital comprises
all components of equity less unaccrued
proposed dividends.

32. f#fE (&)

EBHOEENE 8 (&)

f)

9)

R IKTER

R-ZFZENF=ZA=1+—H  AHDIRTER
AR A AR S 57 78,248,000 87T
—ZZT 4 : 63,668,00087T) - ESTHE=
RN FARAZRHRE(ZTTLF - BERK

B) e

EXEBER
AEEEREATREEREARENHEL
BEEN - IEMBESMEE AR TE R EHm N AE
R TR M ES - A RAERFIRIE M B ANIRE A
DB AR o

AEERG L ERRT R EREEARRERE - U
HERF B 18 B KT AT B 7 BB i R [ ¥R LR
BRBESARRAE R R RE 2 BT
& UHRERENEBEHERREETH

B o
=

AEBZRER FRSEHEE AR L RO LR
RHENGE - Rt AKRERTEHFER
BERE (RRRTERREMSRAE) BR
TERERE - KABERBEMBRAKD
BIE RETHURAE,
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32. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

g) Capital risk management (continued)
During 2008, the group’s strategy, which
was unchanged from 2007, was to maintain
the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio as low
as feasible. In order to maintain or adjust the
ratio, the group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt. As at 31 March 2008 and
2007, the group did not have net debt.

Neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
are subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In order to simplify the group structure, the group
took the following transactions to dispose of three
subsidiaries and a jointly controlled entity owned by a
subsidiary disposed of.

On 16 November 2007, the group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party to dispose of its 51% interest in Yardway
Marine Limited for a consideration of HK$5,100.
A gain on disposal of HK$580,000 arose from this
transaction.

On 31 January 2008, the group disposed of
the entire interest in Yardway Enterprise Limited
(“Yardway Enterprise”) together with its 67% direct
interest in a subsidiary, INTEQ Asia Limited, and
its 50% direct interest in a jointly controlled entity,
AST Asia Limited, to an independent third party for
a consideration of HK$10,000. The disposal was
completed on 31 January 2008. A loss on disposal of
HK$286,000 arose from this transaction.

32.

33.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
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fte ()
EBHOEENE 8 (&)

g9 EFXRKRER(E)

RZZEZENF  AEEFEA_ZZTLFNR
B - S ESF RS AR AR RGN R
BEIRAIKTE - BRIFIFAERXLL R - KEEA
ARMBRRIMZRECE  MBRREEEL
N BITFRIBEEENRE - RZZTZTN
FER—TET+F=A=+—H AEEITEA
BEF%E o

ZAYNCIPSE A= VNI A S A il DR =N
TEFARRR e

HEMRBEAR

RECEERE  AEEETTIRS  RHE=
ZMBARIEE—RELEHNBARRE 2 KXRE
I E e

R-BTLF+—A+AA AEERBYE=)
RIVEEWE AEARNUNKES 1008 THER
RRNERER ARSI %NER - RYEENKE
580,000/ T HEE B HESIE -

RZEBEENF—A=+—H ' XEBEIAK(E 10,000
BB E =5 B ERBUREE AR A A ([EA
Bk ) 2B - ERNEMBARINTEQ Asia
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 33. HEMBLR (A
Details of the net liabilities disposed of in respect of ERALENBRAREANEE 8B FEMNFBHA
the disposal of subsidiaries are summarised below: N
2008 2007
—ZEENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
NET LIABILITIES DISPOSED OF HESFEFHE
Plant and equipment R K 5% 15 =
Inventories ey 2,345 -
Trade receivables FEW R IE 910 =
Due from related companies FEUS AR A B FIE 276 -
Tax recoverable AR EFIE 128 =
- Bank balances and cash IRITEBRIIRE 188 -
g Trade and other payables JRE A % LA 8 A RO (1,858) -
3 Bank overdraft RITBEL (1,833) -
o) Due to a related company i el il NS e (328) -
£ Provision for warranty (Note 30) IRFE B (FRE30) (123) -
C
% (280) -
. Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AR K 295 =
>
g 15 —
>
3 Satisfied by cash consideration LR RES 15 =
% Net cash inflow arising on disposal: A EEENESRA
JREE
Cash received BYERE 15 =
Bank balances and cash disposed of BEHENRTESR KIS (188) =
Bank overdraft disposed of BEHERITES 1,833 =
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HERBAREANRE R
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries R EEYINLFE 1,660 =
The subsidiaries disposed of during the year did not RAFEEHENBARSAEREF R EFEESE

contribute significantly to the group’s results and FREREVEERTE ©
cash flows for current and prior year.
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The jointly controlled entities disposed of during the
year did not contribute significantly to the Group’s
results and cash flows for current and prior year.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZT\FZA=+—HLEFE

34. DISPOSAL OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED 34. HEHEEZEFIERE
ENTITIES
In order to simplify the group structure, the group AECEBERE  AEBETUTRS  UEE=
took the following transaction to dispose of three REREFIELRE ZSHARGERBZEZEBR
jointly controlled entities. The principal activities of MI5E 20 A EE o
these jointly controlled entities is disclosed in note
20.
On 12 August 2007, the group entered into a RZZEZE+LFEN\A+ZH AEEESGEHFIVE
sale and purchase agreement with a joint venture Efhez - NAEBEHEENRVLY Holding Co. (HK)
partner for the dispose of its 50% equity interest in Limited ([VLY]) 50% B9 # 2= 22 7] 70 £ R 7 Fff B8 A
VLY Holding Co. (HK) Limited (“VLY”) together with AlVosta LMG Yardway (HK) Limited ([Vosta Hong
its 100% direct interest in two subsidiaries, Vosta Kong ) BIR G A S RN EDZ R B AR A al ([ 25T
LMG Yardway (HK) Limited (“Vosta Hong Kong”) IR 1) 100% K 1 &+ 8 K(E & 493,876,000 %
and Vosta LMG Yardway (Zhuhai) Limited (“Vosta Lo MEFER_ZTLFT+A=T—HEZK X
Zhuhai”), for a total consideration of approximately SEEMRES 4,658,0008 T VEABITAR S °
HK$3,876,000. The disposal was completed on 31
October 2007. A gain on disposal of HK$ 4,658,000
arose from this transaction.
Details of the net liabilities disposed of in respect R ELRIESEREELANEER B FHENEER
of the disposal of jointly controlled entities are BERAT -
summarised below:
2008 2007
—ET\F = —BEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
NET LIABILITIES DISPOSED OF HEEBFH
Plant and equipment B & & 232 =
Inventories FE 39 =
Trade and other receivables JE U B ELAth FE IR IR 976 =
Bank balances and cash IRITEMRNIRS 1,806 -
Trade and other payables FEAS I B Ath FE ST 5RIE (3,835) =
(782) -
Gain on disposal of jointly controlled entities & FE[F)12 4 T 82 2= A By Uk 5 4,658 =
3,876 -
Satisfied by: R IE=S AN
Cash consideration R RE 3,090 =
Deferred consideration (Note22) EIERAE (fizE22) 786 =
3,876 -
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELEMRSMASEE
Cash received BUIR e 3,090 =
Bank balances and cash disposed of BEHERITESRKIAS (1,806) =
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HERREHEREENE &
respect of the disposal of jointly MR EEMRNFRE
controlled entities 1,284 -

RAFEREHERAAZFHEREAKEEFR LFE

FENREREYBEATE -
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35.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 12 August 2007, the group entered into sale
and purchase agreement with a joint venture partner
as mentioned in note 34. The group acquired the
entire equity interest in Vosta Hong Kong from VLY
for a consideration of HK$10,000. The acquisition
was completed on 31 October 2007. A negative
goodwill of HK$113,000 arose from this acquisition.
The negative goodwill represented the excess of the
fair value of assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
acquired at the 31 October 2007, completion date
of the transaction, and the total consideration
HK$10,000 agreed between the company and
vendor on 12 August 2007.

The fair value of net assets acquired of was
approximated to the carrying amount immediately
before the combination. Details of the net assets
acquired in respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary
are summarised below:

35.

W B Bt B A

WP FES4 Fritt - AREBNR T LF)/\A+_HE
BEFFIMEBE W - AEB B VLY AR {E 10,000
78 7T U BB Vosta Hong Kong H) 2 ZRA%#E - :Z BB R
—TTHFEFA=+—H%/K - BEE 113,000/
DELEZFWEEE -  ARBEMEEHRERR
ZEENBER _ZTLF+A=ZT—H(RSTK
BE) 2 AR ERBEARAREE SN -_ZEZ+LFE )\ B
+ = B 2 (B 10,0008 T2 £58 -

HE - BRARE-RNBAREENKBEEFR
BRFIESAN T -

2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
NET ASSETS ACQUIRED OF WiBEE R
Plant and equipment B K& 31 =
Inventories FE 21 =
Trade and other receivables JE U K2 EL Ath i W SR IE 1,560 =
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRNIRS 1,667 -
Due from related companies FE UL BAESE N B) B 1,774 =
Trade and other payables FEAS R E A FE AT 5RIR (4,930) =
123 -
Negative Goodwill =ESES (113) -
10 -
Satisfied by: B TYIFEA
Cash consideration RERE 10 =
Net cash outflow arising Y EERIR R
on acquisition: R
Cash paid BEfNES (10) =
Bank balances and cash acquired BB IRITEBR KIS 1,667 -
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in BB AR EERIRE
respect of the acquisition of subsidiary KR eEEMRNFE 1,657 -

Vosta Hong Kong contributed approximately
HK$55,000 to the Group’s profit for the period
between the date of acquisition and the balance
sheet date.

Vosta Hong Kong A B i B A= 45 B Hi A&

E 5 Bl m A 49 55,0008 7T ©
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ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April
2007, total group revenue for the year would have
been HK$303,448,000, and profit for the year would
have been HK$6,694,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily
an indication of revenue and results of the group
that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 April 2007, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

COMMITMENTS

a) Capital commitments outstanding at
31 March 2008 not provided for in the
financial statements were as follows:

Contracted for BaT4

In addition to the above, the group’s
proportionate share of the jointly controlled
entity’s capital contribution amounted
to HK$Nil at 31 March 2008 (2007:
HK$2,125,000).

b) At 31 March 2008, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 1R
After 1 year but within 5 years 1E&ESFR

35.

36.

for the year ended 31 March 2008
HE-_ZZ \F=A=+—HLEE

WABH R A R (&

HEBER —_FTLFOA—BEX  ~AEEFR
Yo A 48 58 1 4% 303,448,000 7T * & W A BIl i &
6,694,00087 - HEEFHEMHFAME - WIE—E
RPBUBER —_TZTLFNA - A ZRAEEER
HERZWARES - TR RREREZTER -

a) R-ZEENF=A=+-—H0 MKREHKHRE
EEBNERFRENT ¢

The group The company
A5H NG
2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENF —EELF “EENE —EELE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT AT THET AT
- 7,214 - -
BRIAEEIN RZZBZENF=ZA=+—0  x&KH

TS KREH EENHEEATE T (=T
+ 4 2,125,000787T) °

b) R=EZBEZENE=ZA=+—8  xEERBEFRA
HENEEHEE I EAENNREREENREA

R N
The group The company
X598 NG

2008 2007 2008 2007
—2ENE —TTAF “BENF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR THET
1,535 1,780 - =
237 837 - =

1,772 2,617 - =
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36. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

37.

38.

b) At 31 March 2008, the total future minimum

lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are payable as follows:
(Continued)
The group is a lessee in respect of a number
of properties held under operating leases. The
leases typically run for an initial period of one to
three years, with an option to renew the lease
when all terms are renegotiated. None of the
leases includes contingent rentals.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Financial guarantees issued

At 31 March 2008, the company has undertaken to
guarantee certain banking facilities granted to certain
subsidiaries to the extent of HK$211,315,200 (2007:
HK$238,000,000).

As at the balance sheet date, the directors do not
consider it probable that a claim will be made against
the company under any of the guarantees. The
maximum liability of the company at the balance
sheet date under the guarantees issued is the
facilities drawn down by the subsidiaries totalling
HK$53,865,000 (2007: HK$46,372,000).

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38.
In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere in the financial statements, there were the
following significant related party transactions carried
out with related parties during the year:
a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel
of the group, including amounts paid to the
company’s directors as disclosed in note 9
and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 10, is as follows:
Short-term employee benefits REEE R

36.

37.

Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEI AR
Equity compensation benefits A fE R A

i ()

b) R=ESENF=A=+—10 ' ZEERBETHT
BENKEHEE I ABESNRERENFHE
FEMF : (&)

AEESZERBELLMERAMENABRA -
BLHE-RNSFRLA—FE=F LEHEE
BEIHMARES  ENMBGROAIERDEZ -
FRHEEHTESHAMEE -

FREE

O3 H BT ISR R

RZZEENF=A=+—H ARGEERAERE
FTHBARER A TRITIBEFEHER B
211,315,200/ 70( = ZFZ £ : 238,000,000/87T) °

REER  EETRAAEBETAEREARAR
EEHRR - AR AREEERBEER L ERZR
AREBEAMBARERMZAME & $£53,865,000
BT (ZTT L4 ¢ 46,372,000/87T) °

EXBEALRS

BB ERR E A0 B P BB OB A T ARIS ©
AEER - AREEMEATETATEABEA
%5

a) IREHEAEME
TEEEABME (BREMEIMBEN TR
NEEENEE LT 10MBREXNTE TR
SHEENBE)IT

2008 2007
—EEN\E  ZTTLE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T i
6,684 5,562

66 65

543 327

7,293 5,954
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38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 38. EXBEALRS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

b) The group entered into the following b) AEEHE-ZEEBHITVUTEEALRS
related party transactions with a joint
venture partner

2008 2007
—EENF ZETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Sales of goods HEEM 15,254 21,142
Service income i 0N 1,119 1,295
Commission income R ON - 520
Purchase of goods BEEM 760 690
51
Except for the related party transactions BRALEBEZBEATRZIN  REBEESEKHF &
disclosed above, the group entered into a sale I B E W 0 WA BRI EERVLYHES 2 50% % =
and purchase agreement with the joint venture T DA K E 8 5 R 2% T /B8 /A & Vosta Hong Kong K Z£ 85
partner for the dispose of its 50% equity interest FFERE 2 100% Bz - (R{EATEL 43,876,000 at
in VLY together with its 100% direct interest in BT ZBEER_ZELFTA=FT—HTK ° f‘j
two subsidiaries, Vosta Hong Kong and Vosta AR B EAFZIAR 5 B A & e 4,658,000 8 7T © o
Zhuhai for a total consideration of approximately 78 & B LA B 10,0004 7T M VLY Y8 Vosta Hong .
HK$3,876,000. The disposal was completed KongZ &3 A% - sZIBMAEE & B 752 113,000/ 7T S
on 31 October 2007. A gain on disposal of (fizE34 & 35) ° &
HK$4,658,000 arose from this transaction. On Q
the same day, the group acquired the entire
equity interest in Vosta Hong Kong from VLY
for a consideration of HK$10,000. A negative
goodwill of HK$113,000 arose from this
acquisition. (Notes 34 and 35)
c) Other related party transactions c) HMBEALRS
2008 2007
—EBEN\F —ETLF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B =E FBT FAT
Rental paid BEfNHEE (i) - 226
Purchases from related party mEEALTEEER (ii) - 840
Sales to related party FREALHE (i 176 -
Staff costs BIRA (il 777 414
Notes: Hiat -

i) Fong Kit Wah, Alan, an ex-director of the (i) PN
company from 11 October 2007, leased H) s f i
properties in the PRC to the group as the office BERRAMER T —HEREGEEERET
premises of a representative office of the group = e
and to a jointly controlled entity as a staff quarter.

i) The group sold or purchased vehicle spare (i) ANEE R, BAR B EE IR A F
parts and equipment to/from Langfang Yardway THNEELEERAFTRMNEEERAFE
Machinery and Equipment Limited which was BB KRB o
controlled by Fong Kit Wah, Alan, an ex-director
of the company.

i)~ The amount represents staff costs paid to an (i) ZEERRA—FEFZEHRBA RN —ZEED
individual minority shareholder of a non-wholly R ATHIE TR ©

owned subsidiary.
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EES

39.

40.

41.

42.

—EEN\E=A=t+—-HItEE

NON-ADJUSTING POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Subsequent to the balance sheet date on 22 April
2008, the Group acquired the remaining 25%
interest, representing 500,000 ordinary shares
at nominal value of HK$1 each, of a subsidiary,
Yardway Enterprise Limited, from minority interest
for a consideration of HK$1.8 per share amounting
to HK$900,000. Upon completion of the transaction,
Yardway Enterprise Limited becomes a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the group. In the opinion of the
directors, there was no material profit and loss effect
on the acquisition.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As a result of adopting HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures, and the amendments to
HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements; Capital
disclosures, certain comparative figures have been
adjusted to conform with changes in disclosures in
the current year and to show separately comparative
amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first
time in 2007. Further details of these developments
are disclosed in note 3.

ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 March 2008, the directors consider the
ultimate controlling party of the group to be Happy
City Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands. This entity does not produce
financial statements available for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments,
new standards and interpretations which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2008 and
which have not been adopted in these financial
statements.

The group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments, new
standards and new interpretations is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the company’s results of
operations and financial position.

39.

40.

41.

42.

FRABREEHREE

REEARE_ST/N\FHA-_+=-H XKER
9%&?% KRB AR BEER LA
BT 25% #Ezs - HE T 500,000 B EE 1 BT Z
EEk - RERER1.8IT  £5900,000/8TT °
ZRHTEME  BNBRBERARKANEE 22
EMfBAR - EERA  WESEEMNEXSHN R
BRYE -

LEBEF

HREATEMBRELENFE7TREMTE : REMA
REBGHENFIRZETHBHRER 22 B
AT AFEEETURBRFEELARE - UFE
BENEY YA —_TTLFEARBENEAE
VBN BEHE - R FRRE—FFBERMEIR
F& o

R ARIER TS

ﬂj

R_ZEENFZA=+—H EERALEENR
ARG T B R B R L R B RE AL A Happy City
Holdings Limited ° ZZ & B8 ARVEH AT A RE A
SRR o

REBEE-ZTN\F=A=1+-HILEFECEME
B AREMZIERT » MEARRBZAIERE

BETRZSUBHRR A BESTMAEEMR
MEERBE_TTN\F=A=1— Etifﬁ*
ERAZEVBHRRTERA T - HEA R
o

AEBIEFEZFER RN RAREEHER

BRAERYBRMELEZYE - ES&mARMA LT
E5] ~ FTERI M AR ARG HARR ZRER
BRFBIRRELBATE -
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42. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 42, RBE-ZEE/\F=ZA=+—BHLFECHEME
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS o RAEMZIER] ~ MERRBEZAJRTE (R)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 (CONTINUED)

In addition, the following developments may result BN+ LA BB A] RE 2 B EUHE N B TS R FTIg s (8
in new or amended disclosures in the financial HE
statements:
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
BUTHHRZ%E
sz EtIBEXN
53
HKAS 1 (Revised), Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2009
BB ERIFE A 5 (KIEE]) - HEHEXZH —ETNF-HA—H §
i
HKAS 23 (Revised), Borrowing Costs 1 January 2009
BB LFEERIE 235 (K&UEET) - (FEALA —ZETNEF-HA—H RE
ol
HKAS 27 (Revised), Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 July 2009 .
EEGTHERIE 27 5% (KIBRT) » e REZAIEHEK —ETNF+A—H S
[e¢]
_FH
HKAS 32 and 1 (Amendments), Puttable financial instruments 1 January 2009 B
and obligations arising on liquidation —ZETNEF-HA—H
BEGTERIE 2K RE 15% (BRIA) - ADEEM BT AR GHRELZET
HKFRS 2 (Amendment), Share-based Payment — Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 1 January 2009
BRI MEERE 25 (BRIAR) - URG T — BBIRIF R 15 —ZETNEF-HA—H
HKFRS 3 (Revised), Business Combinations 1 July 2009
BB mERERE 35 (BIBR]) - FHE0f —ETNF+A—H
HKFRS 8, Operating Segments 1 January 2009
BB ImEERE 8 - ZESES —ZETNEF-HA—H
HK(IFRIC)-Int 12, Service Concession Arrangements 1 January 2008
B8 (BRI BRERELZE®) —ZBE 125 - REFFELH —ZEZENF-HA—H
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008
B8 (ERMBHRERBEES) REF183% - BERA < FHi1dl —ZEENF+HA—H
HK(FRIC)-Int 14, HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 1 January 2008
6 (BRMBHRERERES) 2B 145 - BB 2EA/ —ZEENF-HA—H

F 190 —EEENEERRE - RIBETHTEREIAGFHF
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The following is a list of the group’s properties at 31 March NTAAREER_ZEZN\F=A=1T—"HZWHFRE -
2008.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES IN THE PRC RABE 2 REWZH

Location Lease term Purpose Gross area
otk HEFH Jizke EEME
(sg.m.)

(FI7K)

(1)  Rooms 1227 and 1228 on Level 12 of Medium Commercial 194.32
Block 1, Junefield Plaza FRHR [EES
Xuanwumenwaidajie
East Xuanwu District
Beijing
The PRC
FERIRTREREERPIINEHEBES
B2 1227 £ 1228 F

(2)  Room 6B on level 6 Long Residential 150.57
and Car Parking Spacing £ H F=E
No. 138 on Basement Level
Beijing Regent Court No. Yi 8
Jiangguomenwaidajie
Chaoyang District
Beijing
The PRC
B R ARG REBPIINRE L 8BRS 6 [E 6B =
Kb Es 138 SRA=E AL
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LEASEHOLD PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG REBZHEEWZR

Location Lease term Purpose Gross area
#hik HEFH A% EEEB
(sg.m.)

(FFFK)

1. House F25 of Stage IV Medium Residential 2,064
Marina Cove 380 Hiram’ s Highway AR F=
Hebe Haven
Sai Kung
New Territories
Hong Kong
BEFAAEALERE AR IB0KENE4HIF25E
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R Bz BB *

Lease term Purpose Gross area
HEFH Jizke EEME
(sg.m.)

(F7HK)

Room 5E on level 5

and Car Parking Spacing

No. 137 on Basement Level

Beijing Regent Court No. Yi 8
Jiangguomenwaidajie

Chaoyang District

Beijing

The PRC

B R EGRERPIIMNRE L 8RR
5 [& BE = Rt J&E 137 SRR B L

Flat A on Level 2 of Block D

President Mansion

No. 868 Hua Shan Road

Shanghai

The PRC

FR B g EE LK 868 SR B AT AT D R 2A

i

Room 606 on Level 6,
Loyalight Real Building
No. 65 Haitian Road
Huli District

Xiamen City

Fujian Province

The PRC

Long Residential 150.57
= =

Long Residential 151.27
£H T

Long Residential 100.09
= =

REfRRE BRI RRERE 65 RIEEAE 606 E

Two parcels of land

(Nos. 1-40 and 1-41)

located at Phase 2 of

Science and Technology

Innovation Coast Zhuhai City

Guangdong Province

The PRC
HEEREHRE T RREIFTE =S 2 BfiE
T (58 1-405% J 1-415%)

A building and a building under construction
located at Phase 2 of

Science and Technology

Innovation Coast Zhuhai City

Guangdong Province

The PRC

Medium Industrial 10,824.45
A T

Medium Industrial 4,348.98
AR A T

HEEREREM AR FEE 2 BT R —E

FREF
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Five Year Financial Summary Z 5 8% #E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(BUBTHIR)

RESULTS

Turnover

Profit/(loss) from operations
Finance costs

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation

Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:

— Equity shareholders of the
company

— Minority interests

Profit/(loss) for the year

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Fixed assets

Other non-current assets
Net current assets
Non-current liabilities

Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of the
company

Minority interests

Total equity

Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic

Diluted

ES

EES

g/ (B1R)

BBiAnE T, (BR)
BR

REERF(FE)
eI RBD -

—ADRIBAERAA

—LHBCRES
RELHEM/ (FR)
EEREHE

EEEE
HipJERBEE
RBEEFE
FRBAE

A
1

AREIREREA
ik Favit

LR
B

BREA,(BE)

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
—EEN\F ZEEtLF ZITTRF —TThRE —TTINF
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TERT FAT FAET THT T
298,865 214,424 189,646 156,383 228,507
11,378 (953) 11,775 9,655 (4,185)
(2,347) (1,749) (1,693) (880) (1,229)
9,031 (2,702) 10,082 8,775 (5,414)
(2,241) 99 (1,501) (127) 1,148
6,790 (2,6093) 8,581 8,648 (4,266)
7,104 (2,735) 8,496 8,556 (4,355)
(314) 132 85 92 89
6,790 (2,6093) 8,581 8,648 (4,266)
55,498 62,391 49,133 49,283 36,254
237 237 - 1,410 3,496
72,592 51,670 67,405 61,694 59,751
(6,639) (7,707) (8,141) (9,785) (9,875)
121,688 106,591 108,397 102,602 89,626
28,825 28,085 28,000 28,000 28,000
92,278 77,607 79,630 73,920 61,037
121,103 105,692 107,630 101,920 89,037
585 899 767 682 589
121,688 106,591 108,397 102,602 89,626
25centsfll  (1.0)centfll 3.0 centsfll 3.1 centsflll (1.6) centsflli

2.5 cents

N/ATEH

N/ATEF

NATER  NATER
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